





# EVERYONE'S ECONOMY

25 Federal Policies to Lift Up Working People

MARCH 2018 EDITION





#### ABOUT DĒMOS

Dēmos is a public policy organization working for an America where we all have an equal say in our democracy and an equal chance in our economy. Our name means "the people." It is the root word of democracy, and it reminds us that in America, the true source of our greatness is the diversity of our people. Our nation's highest challenge is to create a democracy that truly empowers people of all backgrounds, so that we all have a say in setting the policies that shape opportunity and provide for our common future. To help America meet that challenge, Dēmos is working to reduce both political and economic inequality. This briefing book focuses on policy that promotes economic equity—but political equity is vital and interrelated. Stay connected with Dēmos for our support on policies that ensure Americans have an equal say in our democracy.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

CONTRIBUTING EDITORS Amy Traub and Connie Razza

#### CONTRIBUTORS

Algernon Austin, Naila Awan, Katherine Culliton-González, Lew Daly, Vijay Das, Tamara Draut, Shena Elrington, Mark Huelsman, and Causten Rodriguez-Wollerman

#### SPECIAL THANKS TO

Shanaé Bass, Viviana Bernal, Arlene Corbin Lewis, Gwyn Ellsworth, Lynn Kanter, Carol Lautier, Adam Lioz, Rodney McKenzie, and our designers at Sidedoor Studio.

Thanks also to the many leaders of movement organizations who took the time to talk with us and share their expertise and the perspectives of their members.

#### demos.org

80 Broad St., 4th Fl. New York, NY 10004

#### Media Contact

media@demos.org

#### © 2018 Dēmos

This publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial 4.0 International license. "OUR FUTURE DEPENDS ON CREATING A MULTIRACIAL PROGRESSIVE MOVEMENT THAT WILL FIGHT FOR RACIAL AND ECONOMIC JUSTICE TOGETHER-AND WE ARE READY."

-HEATHER MCGHEE, PRESIDENT OF DĒMOS

#### INTRODUCTION

An economic agenda that places both race and class at the forefront motivates working people of all races to engage in the civic life of their communities and our nation. Such an agenda embodies race-forward progressive values, advances the policies that will move those values into practice, and activates a broad base, including the "New American Dēmos" of people of color, single women, young people, and working-class Americans of all races. With it, policymakers, grassroots organizations, and other thought leaders will starkly contrast an authentic, multi-racial populism against the phony populism that divides and distracts working people today.

*Everyone's Economy* includes 25 policies—from providing universal childcare to protecting consumers from high-interest debt, from promoting climate equity to ending the criminalization of poverty—that contribute to a race-forward, populist agenda.

This briefing book has been developed in an ongoing collaboration with grassroots organizations across the country. Each policy section briefly details the problem, summarizes national polling on the issue, and outlines a policy solution, including references to bills currently before Congress. Each section also includes messaging guidance for talking about the policy with the public, examples of how a similar policy has worked at the state or local level or would work according to studies, and links to further resources.

We have designed *Everyone's Economy* as a resource for policymakers, grassroots organizations, and other thought leaders. We aim to meet 2 essential needs:

- Collecting policies that substantially address the economic challenges faced by people who work and the families they support. Policymakers, grassroots organizations, and other thought leaders must oppose xenophobic, false populism with concrete policies that are rooted in the realities of people's lives, and that genuinely elevate the dignity and economic well-being of all working Americans. Most Americans recognize that policies that overwhelmingly serve the interests of wealthy individuals and corporations have distorted the economic rules to benefit the most advantaged.
- Directly challenging the deeply rooted racism that pervades American politics and policy. First and foremost, policymakers, grassroots organizations, and other thought leaders need to confront racism because it menaces the safety, security and economic opportunity of people of color. Additionally, the relentless racial scapegoating aimed at white Americans alienates them about the role of government and fosters resentment about the policies that advance economic opportunity and security for *all* working Americans. Leaders across the board must confront this strategic use of racism. Failing to do so demobilizes black, Latino/a, Asian-American and Native American individuals, who seldom hear their representatives address the ways that racism constrains their lives. Leaders will work to engage and mobilize everyone in the civic life of our nation, to strengthen our political process and our democracy.

Americans recognize that corporate lobbyists, the very wealthy, and those who are beholden to them have manipulated the rules of our economy to consolidate their own power and wealth—at the expense of working people and communities. In an April 2017 survey, 73 percent of American adults agreed that "the economic system in the U.S. is rigged in favor of certain groups."<sup>1</sup> When an earlier iteration of the same survey asked which groups the economy was rigged to benefit, 86 percent agreed it was rigged for corporations and 91 percent asserted it was rigged to favor the rich.<sup>2</sup> Yet it's also clear that when cynical individuals strategically deploy racial scapegoating, they powerfully shift the focus away from combatting the concentration of wealth and corporate power; in the same survey, 49 percent of white Americans who saw the economy as rigged insisted that the U.S. economic system favors people who receive government assistance, and 35 percent said the economy is rigged in favor of minority groups.<sup>3</sup> Remaining silent on racial inequities and the way that coded racial appeals underlie the major policy issues of our day fosters an environment that continues dividing Americans and undercutting our resolve to fight together for progressive solutions that work for all of us.

Of course, those beholden to the very wealthy deploy more weapons than race to divide and distract Americans. They stoke fear and anxiety about Muslims, LGBTQ people, and women's efforts to assert equality, fueling a larger culture war that goads Americans to resent other working people rather than direct their rage at corporate greed. While this briefing book focuses on race, Dēmos does not shy away from confronting inequities of gender, sexual orientation, and other social cleavages that are used to oppress and divide us.

Economic justice and racial justice are not at odds—in fact, they are inextricable. To elevate the policy conversation and advance the interests of working people in 2018 and beyond, policymakers, grassroots organizations, and other thought leaders must commit to a race-forward populist economic agenda that will enable all of us to thrive.

*This briefing book is a living document and will be updated. We welcome your feedback, thoughts, and suggestions via email at briefingbook@demos.org.* 

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

- I INTRODUCTION
- V POLICY SUMMARIES

# 2 INVESTING IN OUR FUTURE

- 3 Promote Climate Equity
- 9 Advance Opportunity Through Transit
- 13 Invest in Infrastructure

# 20 CREATING BETTER JOBS

- 21 Raise Job Standards
- 27 Guarantee Fair Employment
- 33 Restore Freedom to Negotiate at Work
- 39 Guarantee Public Jobs
- 43 Ensure Time to Care

### 50 REBUILDING OPPORTUNITY

- 51 Establish Debt-Free College
- 57 Forgive Student Debt

# 64 ACHIEVING JUSTICE FOR COMMUNITIES

- 65 Secure Access to Justice
- 69 Reinvest in Justice
- 75 Decriminalize Poverty
- 81 Clear the Path to Citizenship

#### 88 SUSTAINING OUR FAMILIES

- 89 Ensure Health Care for All
- 95 Make Homes Affordable for All
- 101 Achieve Reproductive Justice
- 107 Provide Child Care for All
- 113 Protect and Improve the Safety Net
- 119 Expand the Earned Income Tax Credit

#### 126 BUILDING WEALTH WITH EQUITY

- 127 Protect Consumers from High-Interest Debt
- 133 Secure Retirement for All
- 139 Make Taxes Fair

#### 148 CURBING CORPORATE POWER

- 149 Rein in Private Equity
- 155 Protect Competition and Consumers

#### 161 ENDNOTES

# POLICY SUMMARIES

#### PROMOTE CLIMATE EQUITY

Human beings are a part of the natural world: We all have a right to clean air, water, and land in the communities where we live and raise our children. Yet corporate interests have put our health and environment at risk by continuing to extract, peddle, and burn fossil fuels. Inequitable policies and investments have long put communities of color directly in the line of impact, even as just 100 companies are responsible for 71 percent of the global fossil fuel emissions that are destroying our planet and our climate. *Policymakers should invest in the nation's transition to clean energy, end the extraction of fossil fuels, stop greenhouse gas pollution, and direct responsible recovery and building in the wake of climate events.* 

#### ADVANCE OPPORTUNITY THROUGH TRANSIT

Mobility is critical to our communities' ability to thrive. Growing numbers of Americans rely on public transit as a way to get to work, school, health care, and recreation. But much of our public transit infrastructure is old and decrepit. And many of our transit systems were not designed to handle such heavy use. *Policymakers should invest in public transit to rehabilitate, modernize and expand systems so that more Americans have access to quality transportation options.* 

#### INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE

Americans rely on roads, bridges, airports and transit to get us where we need to go; sewer and water systems to keep our families healthy; safe and well-maintained schools, libraries, and other public buildings; and energy to power it all. Our economy depends on strong infrastructure. Yet America's infrastructure is crumbling; our roads are congested, our bridges are deteriorating, our school buildings are dilapidated, and the pipes that carry our drinking water are in a state of disrepair. *Policymakers should increase infrastructure spending to create jobs and boost the economy, with funds targeted to engage and benefit communities of color that have been historically shut out of economic growth due to discrimination and underinvestment.* 

#### RAISE JOB STANDARDS

Americans work hard, and that should provide enough to sustain our families. Yet a large share of employers structure jobs in ways that prevent working people from getting by. Today, as women and people of color make up a growing share of America's working class, employers are weakening job standards for all working people. *Policymakers should raise the standards for American jobs so that all working people get paid fairly for their efforts and have work schedules that take their basic needs into account. These policies include a higher minimum wage, stable scheduling, paid sick time, prevention of wage theft, protections from being improperly classified as an independent contractor, and increasing the number of working people who are guaranteed overtime pay when they work long hours.* 

#### GUARANTEE FAIR EMPLOYMENT

We all deserve an equal opportunity to be hired based on our abilities, and to carry out our work free from discrimination and harassment. But discriminatory hiring, firing, harassment, promotions, and pay continue to shape the U.S. labor market in ways that systematically disadvantage people of color, women, LGBTQ workers, people with disabilities, and other targeted groups. *Policymakers should provide additional resources to strengthen the enforcement of existing fair employment laws and expand civil rights laws to clarify that discrimination and harassment based on sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, personal credit history, pregnancy status or caregiving responsibilities are illegal. Policymakers should also ensure that people with arrest or conviction records have a fair chance to work.* 

#### RESTORE FREEDOM TO NEGOTIATE AT WORK

Our American tradition guarantees working people the freedom to join together with co-workers to negotiate for a fair return on work. When workers have the freedom to band together in unions and negotiate with their employers, they and their families gain from improved wages and benefits, safer working conditions, and fairer treatment on the job. Yet because unions successfully enable working people to build power, the freedom to come together in unions is under attack by corporate interests aiming to maximize their own wealth and power. *Policymakers should restore workers' freedom to join together in unions and negotiate for a fair return on work.* 

# GUARANTEE PUBLIC JOBS

Every American who wants to work should have the opportunity to work. And our communities and nation have work to do: building, caring, educating, healing, protecting, and much more. But today, too many private employers are failing to provide enough good jobs. At the same time, those touting "austerity" have slashed public jobs, which have long been a path to financial stability for working people, especially people of color. *Policymakers should guarantee a public job with the federal government as an employer of last resort for working Americans who are without college education, involuntarily unemployed, poorly paid or under-employed, or out of the workforce. Policymakers should prioritize racial equity in the program design to repair systemic limitations to opportunity for people of color.* 

#### ENSURE PAID TIME TO CARE

At some point in our lives, we all need time to care for loved ones or ourselves, whether we are bonding with a new child, caring for an ailing parent, or recovering from a serious personal illness. Yet in 2017, only 13 percent of private sector workers had access to paid family leave through their employer. *Policymakers should provide paid benefits to working people who need time away from their jobs to care for a new child, a loved one with a serious health condition, or their own serious health condition.* 

# ESTABLISH DEBT-FREE COLLEGE

Higher education has the potential to be a great equalizer and a pathway to a better life. As wages and wealth have continued to decline for those with a high-school diploma or less, a college degree has become an insurance policy for many families, a way to achieve some financial security. But just as more Americans pursue this aspiration, the dramatically rising cost of college—particularly at public institutions, which have traditionally been the most affordable and accessible—is eroding this pathway to security. *Policymakers should guarantee debt-free college by creating a new federal-state partnership to increase state funding for public 2- and 4-year colleges, guaranteeing that the total price of attending college is no more than what working and middle-class students can reasonably pay with a part-time job, and increasing the availability of need-based aid for low-income students.* 

#### FORGIVE STUDENT DEBT

Americans have long valued education as a pathway to greater opportunity and economic security. No one in America should face insurmountable financial hardship to get an education. Yet the increase in student debt over the past 15 years is one of the most staggering phenomena in the U.S. economy. Total student loan debt is \$1.4 trillion and rising with no end in sight, weighing down millions of Americans. *Policymakers should promote fairness for student borrowers by prohibiting garnishment to repay student loans, providing an easy path to loan forgiveness for borrowers who have been defrauded or deceived by predatory colleges, expanding loan forgiveness programs for public service workers, and ensuring the opportunity to discharge student loan debt in bankruptcy.* 

### SECURE ACCESS TO JUSTICE

The courthouse doors should be open to everyone. When we are caught in legal proceedings that could cause us to lose our homes, families, or ability to live in the country, we should have access to an attorney who can stand up for our most basic rights. However, legal representation is only guaranteed in criminal cases, despite the devastating ramifications of many civil cases. In other circumstances, corporations force employees and customers into binding arbitration, denying individuals who are cheated or discriminated against their day in court. *Policymakers should increase access to justice in the civil legal system by increasing funding for the Legal Services Corporation and increasing eligibility for aid, implementing regulations to ensure that everyone is provided an attorney in deportation proceedings, and banning forced arbitration agreements.* 

#### REINVEST IN JUSTICE

All Americans should feel safe and protected in their communities. But our criminal justice policies promote mass incarceration and over-policing, rather than real investments in public safety. As a result of harsh sentences, over-criminalization, and discriminatory policing, our criminal justice system is tearing apart families—disproportionately immigrant families and families of color. *Policymakers should allocate federal funds to assist states in investing in programs that address the root causes of crime and incarceration, including amending sentencing laws, modifying prison and jail release practices, and improving access to community services that can help reduce recidivism. Policymakers should also end the mass detention of immigrants.* 

### DECRIMINALIZE POVERTY

Every one of us should be treated equally under the law. The idea is so fundamental to our justice system that it is carved above the doors of the Supreme Court. Yet every day, criminal justice policies penalize people for being poor. When people who are unable to pay bail, fines, and fees are forced to remain in jail or take on debt for their involvement in the justice system, it tears families apart and contributes to a cycle of poverty while doing little to increase public safety. *Policymakers should provide incentives for state and local governments to end the use of money bail and to reduce and eliminate fines, fees, and other mechanisms through which our justice system criminalizes poverty.* 

# CLEAR THE PATH TO CITIZENSHIP

The true source of America's greatness is the diversity of our people. Throughout our history, the nation has grown and thrived when we have welcomed the skills, talents, and perspectives of immigrants and embraced their potential to contribute to our shared prosperity. But our immigration system is badly broken. For 11 million people who are undocumented—the great majority of whom are people of color—it is currently impossible to become citizens. Millions of others qualify for legal status in the United States but face complex barriers that hold them back from joining our country and making even greater contributions to our society. *Policymakers should fix America's broken immigration system so that people have an opportunity to get legal status, enabling them to contribute and participate more fully in our economy and society.* 

#### ENSURE HEALTH CARE FOR ALL

When a child is injured or a loved one is suffering from a serious illness, no one wants to think about co-pays and deductibles. We want compassionate, effective medical care, delivered quickly and accessibly. Yet ideologically-driven politicians continue to threaten recent gains to health care access in the United States. Many Americans continue to struggle to obtain the health care they need and the assurance that they won't go bankrupt if they get sick. People of color, undocumented people and low-income Americans all suffer disproportionately under our current health coverage scheme. *Policymakers should establish universal health coverage in America, so that everyone can access health care.* 

# MAKE HOMES AFFORDABLE FOR ALL

A home is more than a roof over our heads. It's the opportunity to raise our families in a safe neighborhood with clean air and water, and to live in a place where we can access good jobs, efficient transportation, and high-quality schools. Each year, the federal government spends nearly \$200 billion to support housing in this country—yet as millions of Americans struggle to find and hold onto homes they can afford, the vast majority of our public funds for housing are directed to subsidize the nation's wealthiest households. *Policymakers should rebalance the nation's housing investments so that resources go to people who need them most.* 

#### ACHIEVE REPRODUCTIVE JUSTICE

There is perhaps no greater decision impacting families' economic security than whether and when to have children. Given the gravity of these decisions and their impact on the lives of countless women and their families, equal access to affordable, accessible reproductive health services, including abortion, is critical. *Policymakers should safeguard the economic security of women and their families by ensuring that health plans include reproductive health coverage and working to expand coverage of abortion services by Medicaid and other federal health insurance programs.* 

# PROVIDE CHILD CARE FOR ALL

Family comes first. That means all families should have access to affordable and high-quality choices for their children's early care and education. Millions of American parents need child care to be able to work or go to school, while children need quality care and education to get a strong beginning in life. Yet child care costs have soared in the past decade, leaving a growing number of working and middle-class families unable to afford the early learning and care that will enable their children to thrive. *Policymakers should guarantee universal access to affordable, high-quality child care and preschool programs for all American families, and improve compensation and training for child care workers.* 

### PROTECT AND IMPROVE THE SAFETY NET

In a country as wealthy as the United States, families should not go to bed hungry, shiver in an unheated home, or be out on the streets as they search for a new job. Throughout our history, we have valued public programs that protect basic living standards for our fellow Americans and enable us to get back on our feet when we fall on hard times. Programs including Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, Temporary Assistance for Needy Families, Unemployment Insurance, Supplemental Security Income, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children, and the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program provide critical support for households facing economic hardship, stabilize families' access to necessities, and keep millions of Americans out of poverty. *Policymakers should expand funding for safety net programs, increase benefit levels, and eliminate limits on the ability of families to save money or own assets in order to receive public benefits.* 

#### EXPAND THE EARNED INCOME TAX CREDIT

People who work for a living should be able to earn a decent income. But millions of working people across the country are struggling to make ends meet, as corporations have held down wages and the gap between the haves and have-nots continues to widen. *Policymakers should expand the eligibility criteria and value of the EITC to help more working Americans and their families earn a decent living*.

# PROTECT CONSUMERS FROM HIGH-INTEREST DEBT TRAPS

Fair and affordable access to credit is crucial for American consumers and our economy. Yet today, predatory lenders target low-income communities and communities of color with high-interest loans that trap many of the most disadvantaged consumers in debt. Today 12 million Americans take out payday loans each year, spending more than \$9 billion on loan fees. Payday and car-title lenders disproportionately target low-income neighborhoods with high populations of people of color, promoting quick-fix loans with annual interest rates of nearly 400 percent on average. *Policymakers should cap fees and interest rates for all lending, enacting a set of national usury limits that would be floating and tiered based on the type of loan. Policymakers should also act to defend the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.* 

### SECURE RETIREMENT FOR ALL

After a lifetime of hard work, we should all be able to retire with dignity. But millions of working Americans will face significant income shortfalls in retirement, creating a crisis of unprecedented levels. All three pillars of Americans' retirement security—Social Security, a pension or employer-sponsored retirement plan, and personal savings—face serious threats in a country where wealth and economic power are increasingly concentrated in a few hands. *Policymakers should enable working Americans to retire in dignity by both strengthening workplace retirement accounts and expanding Social Security.* 

#### MAKE TAXES FAIR

All of us together can do what any of us alone cannot. Currently, our tax policy is upside down, with the wealthiest Americans getting the most government assistance in building wealth, and the poorest getting the least. At a time when our infrastructure is crumbling, when aid for public colleges and universities is being cut, and when too many Americans are being priced out of health insurance, politicians beholden to wealthy donors seek to reduce the taxes of the wealthy and of corporations. *Policymakers should make our tax structure fair by reducing the estate tax exemption and raising the estate tax rate, taxing investment income at the same rate as income from work, and closing corporate tax loopholes.* 

#### REIN IN PRIVATE EQUITY

All of us should have the resources we need to care for our families. Our financial system can facilitate this by pooling and distributing risk and resources so that we can all share in the prosperity that we help generate. Yet a wave of deregulation threatens a return to the risky behavior by big banks that cost millions of Americans their jobs, homes, and retirement savings during the financial crisis. Private equity is especially problematic, because it focuses exclusively on investors' interests, holding onto rewards for investors and offloading risk to the workers and communities of the companies they buy. *Policymakers should ensure that private equity pools and distributes financial risk and resources to achieve shared prosperity and sustainable growth, by specifying and strengthening the rules for private equity, closing tax loopholes that incentivize extreme risk taking, and updating employment and bankruptcy laws to ensure that private equity firms are less able to offload risk onto working people.* 

# PROTECT COMPETITION AND CONSUMERS

When American businesses compete on a level playing field, consumers benefit from higher quality products, more innovation, greater access to services, and better prices. Small business owners have a chance to innovate and serve their communities, and working people have a better opportunity to get a fair deal on the job. Yet over the past 3 decades, corporate giants have been granted permission to take over an ever-increasing share of our economy, enabling corporations to enrich themselves and their executives at the expense of millions of consumers, workers, and innovative would-be competitors. *Policymakers should block corporate consolidation that benefits companies at the expense of the public.* 

NOTES




# INVESTING IN OUR FUTURE

- 3 Promote Climate Equity
- 9 Advance Opportunity Through Transit
- 13 Invest in Infrastructure

# PROMOTE CLIMATE EQUITY

"The San Juan that we knew yesterday is no longer there."

-SAN JUAN MAYOR CARMEN YULÍN CRUZ<sup>4</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Human beings are a part of the natural world: We all need clean air, water, and land in the communities where we live and raise our children. Yet corporate interests have put our health and environment at risk by continuing to extract, peddle, and burn fossil fuels. Inequitable policies and investments in yesterday's technologies have long put communities of color directly in the line of impact, from roads with heavy truck traffic that increase the rates of asthma and other illnesses caused by fossil fuel pollution, to climate events that uproot and displace communities, to pipelines that are routed through Native lands and near other communities of color. While communities of color bear a disproportionate burden of environmental ruin, just 100 companies are responsible for 71 percent of the global fossil fuel emissions that are destroying our planet and our climate<sup>5</sup>—and they profit despite both the chronic environmental destruction of our communities and natural disasters caused by a reliance on fossil fuels.

In 2017, climate-change disasters directly hit the United States: One of the worst Atlantic hurricane seasons on record devastated Puerto Rico and other islands, and parts of Texas and Florida; a record number of wildfires raged in California; and coastal communities from Massachusetts to the Pacific Northwest faced ongoing threats to their fisheries due to ocean acidification, another effect of climate change. In Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands, U.S. citizens remain without power months after the storm. This past year was also the second hottest year on record globally. Scientists have reached consensus: Human-caused global warming due to greenhouse gas emissions is a major driver of these destructive forces.

Environmental crises create economic emergencies. The 2017 hurricane season caused an estimated \$200 billion in damages in Southeast Texas and South Florida, to say nothing of the U.S. island territories. In the long run, higher temperatures alone (not including severe weather events) will cause U.S. economic growth to fall by more than 30 percent by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, and without aggressive action on climate change, the median wealth of the children of today's millennials will shrink dramatically.<sup>6</sup>

Communities of color have been the hardest hit by fossil fuels, whether in the form of warming-driven severe weather or discriminatory exposure to fossil fuel pollution. While concentrating this pollution in communities of color and low-income communities, politicians and corporations have largely left these communities out of the gains of the fossil fuel economy. And they have trapped other communities into an economy wholly dependent on extracting fossil fuels, despite the health dangers of that work.

<u> </u>	NG DATA ——————————————————————————————————
80%	NEARLY 80% OF AMERICANS support investing in clean energy with carbon tax revenue, more than spending the money on tax cuts (including income tax cuts) and household rebates (the household rebate focus has some traction federally and in some states). <sup>7</sup>
74%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS want corporations and industry to do more about climate change, and 63% want Congress to do more. <sup>8</sup>
50%	HALF OF LATINOS say they would participate in a campaign to press elected official to act on climate change. <sup>9</sup>
83%	OF AFRICAN AMERICANS supported President Obama's Clean Power Plan, which requires greenhouse gas emissions reductions in the power sector. Fifty-seven percent believe their energy bills will go down in the transition to clean energy. <sup>10</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

Limit fossil fuel pollution to slow down climate change, and ramp up climate solutions that create millions of good jobs of the future, stabilize our nation's long-term economic outlook, and stimulate equitable investments in the places that need it most. Federal action to drive the rapid transition to renewable energy, clean transportation, and much higher levels of energy efficiency both industrially and residentially should include:

#### Ending the extraction of fossil fuels.

- The Keeping It in the Ground Act of 2015 models permanent prohibition on new extraction of fossil fuels currently sitting below federal lands and waters, keeping over 90 percent of potential carbon emissions in those places underground, and protecting the integrity of public lands and parks from further oil and gas exploration and extraction.
- The Repeal Big Oil Tax Subsidies Act (S. 2204) eliminates \$2.4 billion in annual tax breaks for the 5 biggest fossil fuel companies.
- The End Polluter Welfare Act (S. 1041) eliminates fossil fuel tax breaks and other subsidies amounting to \$11.4 billion annually.
- Restrict pipeline development, ban fracking, and assess other fossil-fuel infrastructure based on climate dangers.

#### Stopping greenhouse gas pollution and investing in the transition to a clean economy.

- The 100 By 50 Act (S. 987) creates a federal mandate for 100 percent renewable energy and clean transportation by 2050, including a national zero emissions vehicle standard.
- **Restore and strengthen the Clean Power Plan** for EPA regulation of greenhouse gas emissions and help states forge equitable versions of the plan, with an emphasis on communities highly impacted by climate pollution.
- Pass a revenue-positive federal polluter fee starting with at least \$35 per ton of carbon and rising annually. The policy should also target co-pollutants from industry and other sources. Proceeds of the polluter fee should be used for investments in clean energy, clean transportation, and energy efficiency. High-road workforce standards should be attached to any public investment in the transition, with a substantial share targeted for low-income, environmentally vulnerable communities; and another share targeted for helping displaced fossil fuel workers transition to new jobs.
- **Promote community ownership of renewable energy generation**, with laws creating price mechanisms that favor community-owned energy, revisions of securities law to account for various kinds of cooperative ownership, and repurposing of existing clean energy tax breaks into grants for non-taxable entities such as non-profits.

#### Building resiliently and recovering responsibly from disaster.

• Increase and target funding for disaster recovery and resiliency strategies. Prioritize communities that will be most significantly impacted by climate events for disaster recovery and redevelopment funds. Integrate equity analyses and requirements in planning resiliency strategies, with a focus on major economic centers and our most environmentally vulnerable communities. This approach should be integrated into funding for flood protection, disaster preparedness, climate risk screening for new development, urban forestry, and other climate adaptation projects.

#### HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- We can support clean, renewable energy that protects the health of our families and creates new jobs, while holding corporations accountable for the pollution they dump into our air. Their pollution is making us sick and destabilizing our climate. We need to put the health of our families and communities ahead of polluters' profits.
- We have the opportunity to harness renewable resources to fuel an equitable, innovative lower-carbon economy for all of us. As greenhouse gas pollution hits low-income communi-

ties and communities of color the hardest, it is important that we have an inclusive transition to clean energy. Climate action must center on the communities that have been hardest hit, prioritizing them for investments in infrastructure and good jobs, while also ensuring that displaced fossil-fuel workers are able to transition to good jobs.

- Moms and dads worried for their children's futures, workers and folks out of work who want good jobs, families who have lost their homes and loved ones due to climate change—we all need to demand leadership on climate change. It's time to invest in affordable, renewable energy and create jobs in our communities, state, and nation by making corporate polluters pay their fair share for the damage they're doing to our health and our climate. We cannot wait any longer to harness this huge opportunity for winning on climate change and making life better in our communities.
- The most expensive thing we can do in the face of climate change is *nothing*.<sup>11</sup> One pivotal way to speed the transition is to limit the extraction of fossil fuels on public lands and waters. Our common natural heritage should not be put up for auction for the benefit of corporate polluters.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Transitioning to a low-carbon economy means creating millions of good new jobs and sustainable economic growth, instead of continuing with dirty and destructive growth. In New York State, for example, investing \$30 billion annually toward 100 percent renewable energy will create roughly 150,000 new jobs annually over a decade. Since 2009, the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative or RGGI (a Northeast cap-and-trade program) has generated 30,000 job-years (a job-year is equivalent to one year's work).
- » Action on climate improves public health. RGGI has driven health improvements worth approximately \$5.7 billion. Phasing out coal plants in Ohio and Pennsylvania will save 4,400 lives and \$38 billion annually.<sup>12</sup>
- » By keeping fossil fuels in the ground, the laws of supply and demand will give more favor to renewable energy, accelerating the transition.
- » By dramatically raising energy efficiency, reduced energy consumption will drive down emissions, and costs for consumers. In HUD's Green Retrofit Program, lifetime savings exceed costs by 20 percent.

*Continued next page* 

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Community ownership of energy in low-income communities could help close racial wealth gaps.
- » Preparing for future disasters and other climate impacts will reduce their monetary and human costs.

Continued

» Action on climate also gives us the opportunity to repair the historical wrongs of the fossil fuel economy by putting working-class communities of color at the center of climate policy. By committing to a just transition, we will repair instead of reproduce the glaring inequalities of the old economy.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Climate Justice Alliance Our Power Campaign page
- » 350.org climate science basics
- » The Center for Social Inclusion Energy Democracy page

#### NOTES



# ADVANCE OPPORTUNITY THROUGH TRANSIT

*"If people can't move...then economic opportunity and quality of life deteriorate." To move is to thrive. To be stuck is to lack opportunity."* 

> -ROSABETH MOSS KANTER, MOVE: HOW TO REBUILD AND REINVENT AMERICA'S INFRASTRUCTURE

#### THE PROBLEM

Quality transportation connects Americans to opportunity, enabling people to get to work and take their children to school, while providing access to places of worship, doctors' offices, public libraries, swimming pools, grocery stores and the other places that make our lives rich. Growing numbers of Americans rely on public transit in their daily lives, as ridership has grown faster than the population. Since traveling by public transit produces less air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions than riding in a private car, rising transit use can contribute to healthier and more sustainable communities. But much of our public transit infrastructure is old and deteriorating. Many communities lack access to reliable and affordable transportation options. And many of our transit systems were not designed to handle such heavy use.

In too many instances, race, ethnicity, and class play a role in who gets access to what public transit infrastructure. Researchers find that transit that serves predominantly wealthier white communities, such as light rail and trolleys, is often more generously funded than buses that primarily serve lower-income communities and communities of color.<sup>13</sup> Meanwhile, policymakers prioritize transit that serves wealthier populations, even if it negatively impacts the health and environment in struggling neighborhoods. Because people of color are less likely than white people to own a car, they are especially reliant on public transportation. Asian-American and African-American workers commute by public transit at nearly 4 times the rate of white workers.<sup>14</sup> Latino workers commute by public transit commuters with "long commutes"—one-way commutes of 60 minutes or longer. Transit disparities are particularly important because of the close connection between commuting time and upward mobility. In counties where working people spend less time commuting to their jobs, struggling families have a better chance of attaining economic stability.<sup>15</sup>

The American Society of Civil Engineers states that our public transit suffers from overdue maintenance and underinvestment that will cost us \$90 billion to remedy if we address it now—or significantly more if we wait for things to get worse. Without adequate investment to make sure that public transit is efficient and affordable, many Americans will be blocked from economic opportunities.

Across the U.S., travel delays due to traffic congestion cause drivers to waste billions of gallons of fuel and keep travelers stuck in their cars for over 40 hours per rush-hour commuter per year. The total nationwide price tag of this waste in 2014 was \$160 billion, or \$960 per commuter. In the largest metropolitan areas, the traffic-congestion cost averaged over \$1,400 per commuter.<sup>16</sup> With smart and sufficient public transit investments, we can reduce travel times *for all commuters*—those using public transit and, by reducing traffic congestion, those using private vehicles.

— POLLIN	NG DATA —
69%	OF VOTERS AGREE that public transportation infrastructure is facing a crisis and needs action from Congress. <sup>17</sup>
76%	OF VOTERS FAVOR INCREASING FUNDING for the repair and improvement of public transportation infrastructure in communities around the country.

# POLICY SOLUTION

Fund a new federal initiative to repair, upgrade, expand, and finance public transportation. First, the rehabilitation backlog identified by the U.S. Department of Transportation needs to be addressed.<sup>18</sup> Then modernize and expand public transit systems.

- Public transportation is most effective and efficient when passengers can easily transfer between different modes of transportation. Upgrades and expansions should not only expand coverage, they should make transfers between different public transportation systems easier and more efficient.
- Public transportation should also be accessible to disadvantaged populations. Because of racial and economic residential segregation, it is important to design public transit systems with racial and economic equity in mind. Public transportation systems should be upgraded and expanded for the full inclusion of communities of color, low- and moderate-income communities, and persons with disabilities.

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

• Public transit benefits all Americans, even those who never step onto a bus or train. Improved transit leads to lower fuel costs, cleaner air, and less time lost due to traffic congestion. Transit helps communities thrive and spurs economic growth. Transit investments directly create jobs in construction, maintenance and operation.

- **Investing in transit promotes opportunity.** All of us need a reliable and affordable way to get to work, school, health care, and recreation. Public transit is especially critical to people with low incomes and people of color, who are less likely to own cars and tend to live further away from high-quality jobs. By connecting people to jobs, education and opportunities in the larger community, transit plays an especially important role in promoting economic opportunity and mobility.
- **Public transit investments create healthier, more environmentally sustainable communities.** Americans' use of public transportation reduces the nation's carbon emissions by 37 million metric tons a year, reducing air pollution and helping to fight climate change.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Every \$1 invested in public transportation generates an estimated \$4 in economic returns.<sup>19</sup>
- » The productivity gains of \$1 billion in federal transit investment support 50,000 jobs.
- » Every \$10 million in capital investment in public transportation yields \$30 million in increased business sales.
- » Residential property values are 42 percent higher on average when homes are located near public transportation.
- » Public transportation is a \$57 billion industry that puts people to work—directly employing nearly 400,000 people and creating hundreds of thousands of privatesector jobs.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » PolicyLink Transportation Equity resource page
- » American Public Transportation Association advocacy toolkit
- » Transportation for America advocacy site

NOTES		

# INVEST IN INFRASTRUCTURE

"The water didn't all of a sudden go bad, it kept getting worse...I noticed symptoms that weren't ordinary. I'd take a shower, dry off, and five or six minutes later I'd itch, itch, itch. I'd come up the stairs and be tired."

> -ELNORA CARTHAN, 72-YEAR-OLD PLAINTIFF IN CLASS ACTION SUIT OVER FLINT WATER CRISIS<sup>20</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Americans rely on roads, bridges, airports and transit to get us where we need to go; sewer and water systems to keep our families healthy; safe and well-maintained schools, libraries, and other public buildings; and energy to power it all. Our economy depends on strong infrastructure. Yet America's infrastructure is crumbling; our roads are congested, our bridges are deteriorating, our school buildings are dilapidated, and the pipes that carry our drinking water are in a state of disrepair. According to the American Society of Civil Engineers, the nation's infrastructure overall earns a grade of D+.<sup>21</sup> Our government enables us to come together to tackle these large projects that we would not be able to do on our own. Historically, the federal government has played a crucial role in building infrastructure—like the interstate highway system, which not only helped connect people across the country, but also created hundreds of thousands of jobs and galvanized business.<sup>22</sup>

However, over the last 2 decades federal spending as a percentage of GDP has been in a steady decline.<sup>2</sup> Low-income communities and communities of color have long borne the negative consequences of infrastructure underinvestment: They are more likely than wealthier, white communities to be exposed to hazardous waste, noxious materials, and toxic emissions from congested roads.<sup>23</sup> Communities of color are less likely to benefit from infrastructure improvements, which often come at their expense. For example, many government-approved expressway expansion projects carved thriving black communities in half, contributing to their decline.<sup>24</sup> The water crisis in Flint, Michigan puts the devastating impacts of crumbling infrastructure into sharp relief. Investing in infrastructure is now more important than ever, as the current administration pursues tax cuts for the wealthiest and corporate giveaways, and seeks to privatize core duties of the government.

Infrastructure investments by state and local government are important; however, no other entity is as equipped as the federal government to finance and oversee the scope and scale of needed infrastructure projects.<sup>25</sup> The federal government is in a unique position to help ensure equitable access for all, to price externalities, and to weather economic downturns that might halt infrastructure projects at the state or local level.<sup>26</sup>

#### POLLING DATA

69%	OF AMERICANS say it is very important to enact a major spending program to strengthen infrastructure. <sup>27</sup>
79%	OF AMERICANS approve increasing spending on infrastructure. <sup>28</sup>

#### POLICY SOLUTION

Increase infrastructure spending at the federal level to create jobs and boost the economy, with funds targeted to improving roads and bridges, public schools, our transit system, our drinking water and sewage systems, affordable housing, and our systems to address the real threat of climate change. Any such legislation should advance racial equity and specifically engage and benefit groups that have been historically shut out of economic growth due to discrimination and underinvestment, including women, people of color, low-income people, and rural residents. **The 21st Century New Deal Plan for Jobs** championed by the Congressional Progressive Caucus outlines such a plan, calling for the investment of \$2 trillion in infrastructure initiatives over 10 years, resulting in 2.5 million jobs.<sup>29</sup>

Specifically, the plan calls for investment in:

- **Roads and bridges.** Invest \$39 billion for the first year in roads and bridges, which will create nearly 500,000 jobs. The plan also calls for the creation of a commission to establish sustainable funding for the Highway Trust Fund, which consistently faces budget shortfalls.<sup>30</sup>
- **Public schools.** Invest \$10 billion in school infrastructure for state and local education agencies to build, repair and modernize schools. Funds will be targeted to schools in low-income and rural communities, and will support initiatives like the creation of state-of-the-art labs that provide career growth opportunities for students who have historically faced limited opportunities.
- **Transit.** Invest \$350 billion in the country's public transportation network, which will create hundreds of thousands of jobs. A large portion of the funding would be dedicated to improving and repairing our system, easing congestion, and spurring the adoption of cutting-edge technology, with an eye towards ensuring equity of access.
- **Clean drinking water and sewage systems.** Create a clean water trust fund, which will dedicate \$35 billion a year to improving our country's water infrastructure, prioritizing communities with the most pressing needs.

- **Clean power.** Allocate \$50 billion a year to transform the country's energy infrastructure and support "green growth," creating hundreds of thousands of jobs. The plan focuses on spurring more investment in clean renewable energy.
- Other key infrastructure initiatives. Invest in the expansion of broadband internet, the renovation and maintenance of airports, ports and waterways, and the creation of quality affordable housing.

#### HOW TO GO FURTHER

The 21st Century New Deal for Jobs provides a comprehensive plan for infrastructure investment with a strong racial equity lens. The plan could further incorporate principles articulated by the Millions of Jobs coalition in a resolution currently before the House of Representatives (**H. Con. Res. 63**).<sup>31</sup>

These principles include:

- Invest in creating millions of new jobs.
- Prioritize public investment over corporate giveaways and selling off public goods.
- Ensure that direct public investment provides the overwhelming majority of the funds for infrastructure improvement.
- Prioritize racial and gender equity, environmental justice, and worker protections.
- Embrace 21st-century clean energy jobs.
- Protect wages, expand Buy American provisions, encourage project labor agreements, and prioritize the needs of disadvantaged communities, both urban and rural.
- Ensure the wealthiest Americans and giant corporations who reap the greatest economic benefit from public goods pay their fair share for key investments.
- Ensure infrastructure investment does not come at the expense of Social Security and other vital programs.
- Protect and strengthen existing rules and laws protecting our environment, worker safety, wages, and/or equitable hiring practices.
- Prioritize resilient infrastructure that can withstand natural disasters and cyber or physical attacks.

#### HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Investing in infrastructure pays off in the short and long term. While infrastructure investment requires large amounts of up-front capital investment, the pay-offs in the short and long term far outweigh these initial costs. In the short term, infrastructure investment will create millions of much-needed jobs in a variety of sectors, from construction to manufacturing. In the long term, investment in the development and maintenance of roads, bridges, housing, public transportation and schools will boost economic opportunity and productivity. Failure to invest in infrastructure costs more in the long run, as conditions further deteriorate, human capital is stifled, and the nation squanders economic opportunities.
- We the people should control American infrastructure—not Wall Street. Public-private partnerships and other schemes to privatize our nation's public infrastructure enrich Wall Street at the expense of working Americans. Rather than handing our nation's assets over to unaccountable companies focused on boosting their stock price and maximizing profits, we must ensure that infrastructure serves the public interest in safety, accessibility, and equity.
- Infrastructure investment can be a powerful tool for advancing racial equity. Policymakers have often structured major investments in infrastructure in ways that failed to provide benefits to low-income communities of color or have even come at the expense of these communities. Advancing infrastructure proposals with a strong racial equity lens will help address these inequities, and also boost economic opportunity and productivity for Americans of all backgrounds.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Every \$1 invested in public-sector infrastructure produces \$1.70 in gains as a result of increased efficiency and employment.<sup>32</sup>
- » Every \$1 spent improving roads, highways and bridges yields \$5.20 in return as a result of reduced emissions and fuel consumption, reduced maintenance costs, reduced congestion and delays, and lower vehicle maintenance costs.<sup>33</sup>
- » Every \$100 billion spent on infrastructure produces an estimated 1 million full-time jobs.<sup>34</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The Congressional Progressive Caucus 21st Century New Deal for Jobs proposal
- » Millions of Jobs Coalition guiding principles for infrastructure investment
- » In the Public Interest resource page on privatization of infrastructure

Ν	0	Т	Е	S




# CREATING BETTER JOBS

- 21 Raise Job Standards
- 27 Guarantee Fair Employment
- 33 Restore Freedom to Negotiate at Work
- 39 Guarantee Public Jobs
- 43 Ensure Paid Time to Care

## RAISE JOB STANDARDS

"I have had at times to piece together two or even three part-time jobs just to get enough hours of work to pay the bills...As a part-time worker, I've never had health insurance, a retirement plan, or sick days."

-PABLO NERVAEZ, FAST-FOOD EMPLOYEE FOR 16 YEARS<sup>35</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

Americans work hard, and that should be enough to sustain our families. Yet a large share of employers structure jobs in ways that prevent working people from making ends meet. Even as corporate profits grow, millions of Americans go to work each day facing low pay, unstable work schedules, stolen wages, and the lack of even a single paid sick day. Workers whose every move is controlled by corporate directives are wrongly classified as independent contractors and denied broad workplace protections. Meanwhile, working people who are paid even a low salary can be denied additional compensation when they put in long hours on the job. Overall, our nation's rules about work no longer reflect a basic respect for people's real contributions on the job.

For many workers of color and working women, workplace laws were never fair. When many of the nation's core employment laws were enacted in the 1930s, lawmakers deliberately excluded occupations like farm labor and domestic work that predominantly employed people of color and women. The initial opposition to federal minimum wage laws came from legislators outraged that a black worker might be paid as much as a white one.<sup>36</sup>

Today, as women and people of color make up a growing share of America's working class, employers are weakening job standards for all working people. In an effort to turn a quick profit by keeping labor costs to a minimum, corporate interests deploy racist images of "lazy" minimum wage workers who don't deserve to be paid a living wage. Strategic racism is used to undermine support for improving job standards that would benefit all working Americans. As a result, while women and people of color continue to disproportionately work at low-paying jobs with erratic schedules, no paid sick time, and vulnerability to wage theft, these conditions are growing throughout the workforce.<sup>37</sup>

Americans working as cooks, retail salespeople, home care and child care workers, cashiers, restaurant servers, janitors, warehouse workers, laborers, nursing assistants and many other occupations find their paychecks falling short of basic needs. Employers pay less than \$15 an hour to more than 40 percent of working people.<sup>38</sup> Below this rate, even families supported by a full-time, full-year worker struggle with poverty or near-poverty. At the same time, employers deny 37 million working people (nearly 1 in 3 private-sector workers nationwide) the ability to take a day off

work when they are sick without losing the income they depend on.<sup>39</sup> Millions of hourly workers also face rigid and unpredictable work schedules that vary day to day with little say or notice for the workers affected. Workers with erratic schedules cannot predict their hours or pay, cannot plan time for education or a second job, and must scramble to arrange child care at the last minute.

Hourly workers are not the only ones struggling with unsustainable schedules. Millions of salaried workers put in overtime hours but do not get paid for their extra work. Although federal law guarantees overtime pay to people working more than 40 hours a week, an exemption for salaried workers with certain responsibilities who are paid more than \$23,660 per year enables businesses to deny overtime pay to workers such as fast food assistant managers and convenience store clerks. A recent effort to raise the salary threshold was pushed back by business interests, assisted by the Trump administration.

If nothing else, working people should be able to expect the protection of our nation's existing employment laws. Yet lack of enforcement capacity and weak penalties for violating wage and hour laws enable unscrupulous employers to steal wages with little concern for the consequences. Employers cheat workers out of an estimated \$15 billion every year by paying less than the legal minimum wage—not including other common forms of wage theft such as stealing tips or forcing employees to work off-the-clock.<sup>40</sup> Millions of workers, including many in the gig economy, are often improperly classified as independent contractors, a form of wage theft that deprives them of many workplace protections.<sup>41</sup>

### - POLLING DATA

85%	OF AMERICANS favor requiring employers to offer paid sick leave to employees who are ill. <sup>42</sup>
58%	OF AMERICANS favor an increase in the federal minimum wage from the current \$7.25 to \$15 an hour. <sup>43</sup>
73%	OF AMERICANS say they support "fair workweek laws [that] require employers to give workers stable hours, input into schedules, and more opportunities for full time work." <sup>44</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

Raise the standards for American jobs so that all working people get paid fairly for their efforts and have work schedules that take their basic needs into account. Several bills currently before Congress would help to raise job standards:

- The Raise the Wage Act (S.1242/H.R.15) increases the minimum wage in phases to \$15 per hour by 2024 and then indexes it to keep up with the median wage. The minimum wage for tipped workers, and the lower minimum wages for young workers and workers with disabilities, are gradually increased to be equal with the regular minimum wage.
- The Schedules That Work Act (S.1386/H.R. 2942) guarantees that people working in the retail, food service, and cleaning industries—the jobs most subject to irregular schedules—receive their schedules at least 2 weeks in advance and be paid for at least 4 hours on a shift. The bill also protects all workers from retaliation if they request more flexible, predictable or stable schedules from their employer, and sets up a process for employers to consider workers' scheduling requests.
- The Healthy Families Act (S.636/H.R. 1516) allows workers to accrue up to 7 paid sick days a year to recover from their own illness, care for sick family members, or access preventive care. Companies with fewer than 15 workers are only required to provide unpaid sick time. The bill allows workers who are survivors of domestic violence or sexual assault to use sick time to recover or seek help.
- The Wage Theft Prevention and Wage Recovery Act (S.1652/ H.R.3467) enables workers to recover the full value of back pay denied to them, compensates victims of wage theft with triple back pay, substantially increases civil fines—particularly for companies that are repeat offenders, allows employers to be referred for criminal prosecution in certain egregious cases, strengthens whistleblower protections, and makes it easier for workers to take action to recover stolen wages.
- The Payroll Fraud Prevention Act (H.R.3629) protects workers from being improperly classified as independent contractors, which excludes them from many workplace protections. The bill requires that all workers be accurately classified as employees or non-employees, and be given written notice of their classification. Misclassified employees gain the right to sue and recover lost wages, and penalties for employers are increased.
- The Restoring Overtime Pay Act (S.2177/ H.R.4505) enables workers who are paid less than \$48,412 a year to be eligible to earn overtime pay if they work more than 40 hours a week. The eligibility level is automatically updated every 3 years.
- Increase Funds for the Department of Labor. The U.S. Department of Labor has just 1,000 investigators to inspect and enforce wage laws for 7.3 million U.S. workplaces. More resources are needed to strengthen enforcement of wage and hour regulations and workplace safety rules.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

Unless they are protected by a union contract, most American workers are at-will employees and can be fired at any time for no reason. A higher job standard would guarantee that once a worker has completed a brief probationary period, they can only be terminated for good cause, such as a failure to adequately perform their job. Workers would have a right to contest their termination.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Working people deserve a fair return on our work and a decent life for our families. When people are given a work schedule that constantly changes or told to work more for less, the workplace isn't fair.<sup>45</sup> We can improve our jobs by guaranteeing that people who work earn good wages and basic benefits, like paid sick days and more stable schedules. When people put in extra hours on the job, our laws should ensure they get paid for the work they do. Everyone should expect to be paid fairly for their work, not cheated out of the wages they earn by bosses who think they won't get caught.
- Our workplaces have been pulled out of balance by rules that unfairly favor corporations and the rich. Our work creates enormous wealth, but the profits don't get to the working people who produce them.<sup>46</sup> The rules of our economy unfairly favor corporations because they are written by politicians beholden to wealthy special interests. In our democracy, we can change the rules to reflect a basic respect for people's real contributions on the job.
- We all have a stake in improving workplace standards for everyone. Corporate interests profit by dividing working Americans and appealing to racial and gender stereotypes that paint some working people as less deserving of decent pay and benefits. These racial divisions drag down standards for all of us. To build an economy that works for everyone, we must ensure that everyone's work is respected and fairly compensated.

## HOW IT WORKS

» Increasing the federal minimum wage to \$15 by 2024 would directly or indirectly increase the pay of 41 million working people in 21 states, generating an estimated \$144 billion in additional wages.<sup>47</sup> The vast majority of those who would receive a pay increase are adults, and many support their families. Forty percent of African-American workers and 34 percent of Latino workers would get a raise.

*Continued next page* 

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » In practice, minimum wage increases have succeed in raising pay for low-wage workers and have little or no significant impact on employment.<sup>48</sup> Higher wage costs for businesses are offset by growth in productivity, lower costs for employee turnover, and modest price increases. Furthermore, minimum wage increases often find their way back into the local economy, as working people are able to purchase higher volumes of goods and services.
- » Eight states, the District of Columbia, and dozens of cities and counties have passed laws guaranteeing paid sick days. Employment growth has remained strong, and businesses generally report no impact on profitability.<sup>49</sup> Paid sick day laws are associated with reduced flu rates.<sup>50</sup>
- » Laws guaranteeing stable scheduling have been enacted in New Hampshire and Oregon, as well as 7 municipalities.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The National Employment Law Project resource page on raising the minimum wage
- » The Economic Policy Institute resource page on overtime pay
- » The Fair Workweek Initiative campaign page on fair scheduling
- » The National Partnership for Women and Families resource page on paid sick days
- » The Economic Policy Institute summary of research and legislation on wage theft

#### NOTES



## **GUARANTEE FAIR EMPLOYMENT**

"I remember on breaks just going into work closets and crying because I was so stressed out [from the harassment.] I took the stress home with me every day. I didn't sleep well. And I dreaded going to work."

-JAMEKA EVANS, FORMER SECURITY GUARD AT GEORGIA REGIONAL HOSPITAL, LAMBDA LEGAL CLIENT<sup>51</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

We all deserve an equal opportunity to be hired based on our abilities, and to carry out our work free from discrimination and harassment. Yet discriminatory hiring, firing, promotions, and pay, as well as harassment, continue to shape the U.S. labor market in ways that systematically disadvantage people of color, women, LGBTQ workers, people with disabilities, and other targeted groups. As our jobs largely determine our incomes, economic opportunities, and the livelihood of our families, unfair employment practices worsen cycles of inequality.

Inequality in American labor markets was codified and maintained by law for much of U.S. history. Before the Civil Rights Act of 1964, employers were legally allowed to discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, and national origin. Today federal law forbids these types of discrimination, as well as employment discrimination based on disability, pregnancy, age (age 40 or older), or genetic information. Yet evidence of persistent discrimination remains pervasive. African Americans consistently face much higher unemployment rates than white workers, regardless of education.<sup>52</sup> White job applicants still receive 36 percent more callbacks for a job interview than equally qualified black applicants, and 24 percent more than Latino applicants.<sup>53</sup> Meanwhile, different types of discrimination overlap and deepen inequality: For example, in 2016, Latina women working full-time, year-round were still paid only 54 cents for every dollar paid to white, non-Hispanic men.<sup>54</sup> Race and gender contribute to dramatic pay gaps across the spectrum, and gaps persist for workers at all levels of education and in the vast majority of occupations.<sup>55</sup> By offering remedies targeted to specific vulnerable groups, civil rights laws have the potential to dramatically reduce discrimination—but too often fall short due to a lack of resources for more effective enforcement.

At the same time, federal laws have significant gaps that allow other types of discrimination to flourish. On a daily basis, Americans are fired and harassed because of their sexual orientation and gender identity or expression. Pregnant workers are pushed out of their jobs and refused minor accommodations that would enable them to continue working. Qualified job applicants are denied employment because of flawed personal credit history—a factor which predicts little or nothing about future job performance, but may become a surreptitious form of racial discrimination.

Workers with caregiving responsibilities face discrimination based on stereotypes about how caregiving will impact their work performance. The nearly 1 in 3 American adults with an arrest or conviction record face particularly high barriers to employment. Although rates of criminal recidivism are significantly lower among former offenders who are able to obtain steady employment, the stigma of a record decreases a job seekers' chances of a job callback or offer of employment by almost 50 percent. As a result of mass incarceration and racial bias throughout the criminal justice system, communities of color are disproportionately affected when employers refuse to consider job applicants with a record.

## - POLLING DATA

61% OF AMERICAN	٧S
-----------------	----

believe the federal government should take a more active role to ensure equal pay for men and women who are doing the same job.<sup>56</sup>

76% OF AMERICANS

say it should be illegal for an employer to fire someone for being gay or lesbian. $^{57}$ 

## POLICY SOLUTION

Provide additional resources to strengthen the enforcement of existing fair employment laws and expand civil rights laws to clarify that discrimination and harassment based on sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, personal credit history, pregnancy status, or caregiving responsibilities are illegal. Ensure people with arrest or conviction records have a fair chance to work. Several bills currently before Congress address aspects of the need for stronger fair employment laws:

- Increase funding for the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) and ensure it retains its focus on systemic discrimination. The EEOC is responsible for enforcing laws against workplace discrimination. But the agency is severely underfunded, and faced a backlog of more than 60,000 cases at the end of 2017.<sup>58</sup> The EEOC needs more resources, and must resist efforts to change its focus away from combatting systemic discrimination and collecting pay data and other information necessary to detect broader patterns of discrimination.
- The Pregnant Workers Fairness Act (H.R.2417/S. 1101) requires employers to make the same types of reasonable accommodations for pregnancy and related medical conditions that the Americans with Disabilities Act already requires employers to make for disabilities (for example, allowing workers to take additional bathroom breaks or to sit down). The need for accommodations could no longer be a pretext to push pregnant employees out of their jobs.

- The Equal Employment for All Act (S.1819) prohibits employers from using personal credit history to make decisions about hiring, firing, pay, or promotions. The bill protects job seekers whose credit may be damaged by medical debt, student loans, a layoff, divorce, predatory lending, or simple error, and is particularly important for people of color, who are more likely to have poor credit as a result of the enduring impact of racial discrimination in employment, lending, education, and housing.
- The Equality Act (H.R.2282/S.1006) goes beyond the sphere of employment to clarify that discrimination based on sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression is a form of unlawful sex discrimination; as such, it is prohibited in employment, housing, credit, education, public spaces and services, federally funded programs, and jury service.
- The Paycheck Fairness Act (H.R. 1869/S. 819) strengthens enforcement of equal pay laws by requiring employers to demonstrate that pay disparities are based on legitimate job-related factors, allowing workers to ask about their employers' wage practices or disclose their own pay without retaliation, prohibiting employers from requiring salary history during the hiring process, and strengthening penalties for equal pay violations, among other provisions.
- The Fair Chance Act (H.R. 1905/S. 842) prohibits the federal government and federal contractors from requesting a job applicant's arrest or conviction record until after a conditional offer of employment has been made. The bill includes exemptions, such as for law enforcement positions.
- The REDEEM Act (H.R. 1906/S. 827) enhances employment opportunities for job applicants with arrest or conviction records: Automatically seals juvenile records, enables adults convicted of nonviolent crimes to petition to have their criminal records sealed, and improves the accuracy of the FBI background check system, among other criminal justice reforms.
- Strengthen employment protections for workers with family care responsibilities. Congress should explicitly ban discrimination on the basis of caregiving status, as a number of states have done.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

• All Americans deserve a fair opportunity to earn a living and sustain their families— employment discrimination cannot be tolerated. Equality of opportunity is a fundamental American value. Yet every day, qualified job seekers are passed over for employment, and workers are harassed, fired, paid less, and denied promotions because of factors that have nothing to do with their ability to perform a job well. Our society and economy are diminished when working people of any background and identity are prevented from contributing to the best of their abilities.

- Laws against discrimination work when they are vigorously enforced. Federal law only began to protect American workers from discrimination based on race, sex, national origin, and color 52 years ago. It has taken decades of additional legislation and litigation to dismantle officially segregated workplaces and remove other obstacles to opportunity. For example, the once-prevalent employment ads calling for "male help wanted" or "no Negroes" are now largely a thing of the past. Today, fair hiring practices have proven effective at reducing the impact of the unconscious biases we all share. Strong laws allow workers who continue to face discrimination to pursue legal recourse. With sufficient resources and tools to root out discriminatory practices, all Americans can enjoy equal opportunity at work.
- Job seekers with an arrest or conviction record deserve a chance to start fresh. Long after a sentence has been served, the stigma of an arrest or conviction record persists on employment background checks, dramatically reducing a job seeker's chances of employment. As a result of mass incarceration and racial bias throughout the criminal justice system, communities of color are disproportionately impacted. Each year nearly 700,000 people return to our communities from incarceration; we all have a stake in ensuring that they are able to integrate back into society and to support themselves and their families.

### HOW IT WORKS

- » Although significant work remains to guarantee fair employment, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's current enforcement of discrimination laws provide a tangible benefit to working Americans. In fiscal year 2017, the EEOC obtained nearly \$484 million for workers confronting discrimination on the job, and received more than 84,254 new charges of unfair treatment, propelling investigations, settlements, and lawsuits.<sup>59</sup>
- » State and local laws outlawing discrimination against LGBTQ workers and job applicants have been successful both at protecting people from unfair employment practices and at reducing more subtle interpersonal bias. Research suggests that one reason these and other types of anti-discrimination laws work is because they help to establish new norms and expectations about what type of treatment and behavior is acceptable on the job.<sup>60</sup>
- » "Ban the Box" and other state and local laws that aim to provide a fair chance at employment to people with arrest and conviction records have effectively increased the number and proportion of people hired who have records.<sup>61</sup> While employers may have initially refused to consider applicants with a conviction record, personal contact and context help to put a record into perspective, removing a significant barrier to opportunity for tens of millions of Americans.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » National Partnership for Women and Families resource page on fair pay
- » National Employment Law Project Fair Chance/Ban the Box Toolkit
- » A Better Balance resource page on pregnant workers fairness
- » The Human Rights Campaign resource page on the Equality Act
- » Dēmos explainer on credit discrimination and the Equal Employment for All Act
- » Center for Worklife Law page on Family Responsibility Discrimination

NOTES


## RESTORE FREEDOM TO NEGOTIATE AT WORK

"I worked hard for this company for five years, sometimes 72 hours a week – and never had any performance-related complaints. I did, however, wear a union shirt. And I had union stickers on my water bottle. And I believed that a union would make us safer, and would make the company more organized and more efficient."

-MIKE WILLIAMS, FORMER TESLA EMPLOYEE<sup>62</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

Our American tradition guarantees working people the freedom to join together with co-workers to negotiate for a fair return on work. When workers have the freedom to band together in unions and negotiate with their employers, they and their families gain from improved wages and benefits, safer working conditions, and fairer treatment on the job.<sup>63</sup> Yet because unions enable working people to build power, the freedom to come together in unions is under attack by corporate interests aiming to maximize their own wealth and power. Decades of attacks on workers' freedom have eroded the ranks of union members and undermined their strength, significantly contributing to the stagnating wages and growing income inequality of the last 45 years.<sup>64</sup> As workers' power to negotiate declines, inequality is increasing.

When working people bridge racial divisions and stand together for their fair share of the wealth they create, their union can be a powerful force for both racial and economic equity. For this reason, greedy corporate interests have consistently manipulated racism to turn working people against each other, pushing down wages, undermining solidarity, and weakening workers' freedom to join together. Like almost every institution in the U.S., unions themselves are struggling with a legacy of racial and gender discrimination. Yet today, nearly half of union workers are women and more than a third are workers of color.<sup>65</sup> Black workers are more likely than workers of any other race to be represented by a union.<sup>66</sup> Unions offer pay transparency, protections from discrimination, and clear processes for raises and promotions that protect all working people from bias. As Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. and other civil rights leaders recognized, the freedom to join unions is essential to advancing racial justice.

The 1935 National Labor Relations Act guarantees working Americans the freedom to join together in unions, negotiate, and take collective action for better terms and conditions at work. The passage of the law contributed to a dramatic increase in workers joining unions and building power. Through unions, workers negotiate for their own benefit but also raise workplace standards

for entire industries, improving pay and working conditions even for workers who are not union members. During the height of workers' power, between 1948 and 1973, the hourly compensation for the typical worker rose in tandem with the productivity of the overall economy, meaning that economic growth benefitted working people as well as corporate profits and the very highest earners.<sup>67</sup> But corporate lobbyists were already pushing to take back power: The 1947 Taft-Hartley Act restricted workers' freedom, prohibiting workers from striking or boycotting in solidarity with another union, taking away independent contractors' freedom to join unions, and enabling states to enact laws that undermine workers' freedom to join together and negotiate, among other provisions. A series of anti-worker laws and legal decisions over the decades further chipped away at Americans' freedom to join together and negotiate.

Today, the legal consequences for violating workers' freedom are so weak that many employers regard penalties for breaking the law as part of the cost doing business: Employers routinely make illegal threats against workers trying to organize unions, unlawfully fire union activists, and pay millions of dollars to union-busting consultants.<sup>68</sup> When other negotiating tactics fail and working people resort to their most powerful tool, the right to walk out on strike, employers may retaliate by hiring permanent replacements, often destroying the workers' union and their power to stand together. Even when workers overcome these obstacles and succeed in forming a union, employers regularly use legal loopholes to endlessly delay contract negotiations: Two years after a successful election, 37 percent of unions in the private sector still had not signed their first contract.<sup>69</sup> The attacks on unions have contributed to their decline; the proportion of U.S. workers represented by unions shrank from 35 percent in 1954 to just 10.7 percent in 2016.70 As unions have declined, so has workers' ability to get a fair share of economic growth. Since the end of the Great Recession, the top 1 percent of households has taken home 52 percent of all income growth, while wages for the typical worker have remained largely flat.<sup>71</sup> Studies find that union decline can explain onethird of the rise in wage inequality among men and one-fifth of the rise in wage inequality among women from 1973 to 2007.72

#### POLLING DATA

61%	OF AMERICANS say they approve of labor unions, and approval is increasing. <sup>73</sup>
75%	OF YOUNG PEOPLE (ages 18 to 29) say they have a favorable opinion of labor unions. <sup>74</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

Restore workers' freedom to join together in unions and negotiate for a fair return on work. While no comprehensive labor law reform bill is currently before Congress, congressional Democrats have outlined a plan as part of their "**Better Deal**" agenda. The plan includes the following provisions, which should be passed into law:

- Strengthen penalties for violating workers' freedom to join together in unions. Following the provisions of the WAGE Act of 2015, increase civil penalties for employers who violate labor rights, and double penalties for repeat violations; impose individual penalties on officers of companies that violate workers' rights; triple the back pay owed to workers who are unlawfully fired or retaliated against, regardless of workers' immigration status; and guarantee workers the right to hold violators accountable in court, including in a class action suit, as they can under civil rights laws. The law must also authorize federal injunctions to immediately return unlawfully fired workers to their jobs.
- Hold employers accountable for jobs they control through subcontractors and franchisees. Both a company and any subcontractor or franchisee it contracts with to hire and manage workers must be considered "joint employers" if they share the ability to govern the workers' terms and conditions of employment. This will enable workers to negotiate with all employers that control their job, and will prevent companies from using subcontractors to evade responsibility for their workers.
- Stop employers from misclassifying workers as independent contractors. Require that all workers be accurately classified as employees or non-employees, and be given written notice of their classification. Give misclassified employees the right to sue and recover lost wages, and increase penalties for employers.
- Strengthen workers' right to strike. Ban the permanent replacement of striking workers and allow workers to participate in secondary strikes and boycotts in support of workers at other companies.
- Establish a mediation and arbitration process to facilitate negotiation of a first contract. To prevent employers from endlessly delaying a first contract, provide workers with the option to require a neutral mediation process with the employer and if that fails, binding arbitration.
- Ban state laws that undermine workers' freedom to join together and negotiate. Prohibit the deceptively named "right to work" laws that corporate lobbyists have promoted in many states. These laws are designed to drain resources from workers' organizations by allowing people to benefit from union representation without paying for it.

- Guarantee public employees the freedom to join unions and negotiate. Provide Americans working as firefighters, teachers, sanitation workers, and in other public jobs at every level of government with the same freedom to negotiate for a fair return on their work as private sector workers.
- Require employers to post a notice informing workers of their rights on the job.
- Streamline procedures to secure worker freedoms and effectively prevent violations. Streamline the procedures of the National Labor Relations Board, which adjudicates labor disputes, so that companies cannot exploit procedural loopholes and interfere with workers' freedom to organize. Prohibit employers from forcing workers to attend meetings where they are compelled to listen to anti-union presentations from the company.
- Use federal purchasing power and policy to help expand opportunities to negotiate. All employers that receive federal contracts or other funding must affirmatively notify workers of their rights, and refrain from activity aimed at interfering with workers' ability to join a union and bargain collectively.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

The freedom to join together and negotiate should be guaranteed to workers who remain excluded from federal labor law, such as agricultural workers and domestic workers, occupations that predominantly employ people of color, particularly women of color.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- In America, we value our freedom. Just as corporate CEOs are free to negotiate their salaries, benefits, and bonuses, working people deserve the very same freedom: To negotiate a fair return on our work so we can provide for our families.<sup>75</sup> Real freedom is about more than making a living; it's also about having time to take a loved one to the doctor, attend a parent-teacher conference, and retire in dignity. But corporate lobbyists are trying to take away the freedoms people in unions have won for all of us. Standing together, we can fight for our freedom to prosper.
- When working people stand together to negotiate for their fair share of the wealth they create, their union is powerful. That's why corporations that want to expand their own power and wealth try to turn working people against each other, using racial stereotypes to weaken and divide us. If working people don't band together to defend freedom for all of us, we stand to lose our pay, retirement security, and the future we're working to build for our children.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » 16 million working men and women in America are represented by unions today.<sup>76</sup> Unions are diverse and represent workers of all levels of education and in a wide range of jobs and sectors, from digital media journalists, to cafeteria servers, to factory workers, to nurses, to road builders. By raising industry standards, unions increase wages for union and non-union workers, and improve workplace benefits and safety practices.
- » Through unions, working people make communities stronger and level the playing field for everyone. For example, unions provide training and apprenticeship programs for young people, negotiate staffing ratios that protect patient health at hospitals, and have won smaller class sizes in schools.<sup>77</sup>
- » In states where working people have the freedom to negotiate without being undermined by "right to work" laws, the typical full-time worker is paid \$1,558 more each year and is more than twice as likely to be protected by a union contract than workers in "right to work" states.<sup>78</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The Economic Policy Institute report "How Today's Unions Help Working People"
- » Dēmos Fellow Ian Haney Lopez's framing paper "Race and Economic Jeopardy for All"
- » The Century Foundation on "Labor's Bill of Rights"

#### NOTES


## **GUARANTEE PUBLIC JOBS**

"We must develop a federal program of public works, retraining, and jobs for all, so that none, white or black, will have cause to feel threatened."

-MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR

### THE PROBLEM

Good jobs are the essential means to establish a stable life and, for most people, a sense of selfworth. Everyone who wants to work should have the opportunity to work. And our communities and nation have work to do: building, caring, educating, healing, protecting, and much more. But today, too many private employers are failing to provide enough good jobs. Powerful employers have cut wages and benefits, manipulated workplace schedules, and diminished workers' access to unions, jeopardizing job quality throughout the labor market. Politicians touting "austerity" have slashed public jobs, which have long been a path to financial stability for working people, especially people of color.

This story of failing job creation and job quality seems to run counter to our currently low unemployment rate, but that is because the official unemployment rate only counts those who are actively looking for work, and national numbers mask significant disparities, particularly by race, age, and geography.<sup>79</sup> Due to barriers to opportunity and the continuing impact of racial bias in hiring, black Americans are typically unemployed at roughly twice the rate of white Americans.<sup>80</sup> Millions of workers are underemployed because they can find only part-time jobs, even though they want to work full time.<sup>81</sup> Millions more have left the work force, many because good jobs are getting harder to find. Employers have created an epidemic of low-wage jobs—58 million jobs pay less than \$15 per hour (well below a living wage in many cities and states) with few or no benefits—made worse because of unaffordable child care and other factors that make it difficult to get and hold onto a job. Black and Latino workers are the most likely to be trapped in low-paying jobs, and women of color hold the lowest paying jobs of all, primarily in the service sector.<sup>82</sup> Poorly regulated by government, employers and the labor market are dividing our country by race and gender, when jobs should be a source of common benefit and upward mobility for all.

#### POLLING DATA

77% OF AMERICANS support a government jobs program to rebuild our infrastructure.<sup>83</sup>
47% OF AMERICANS support a federal jobs guarantee, compared to just 41% who are opposed.<sup>84</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

Create a public jobs guarantee. The idea of public jobs programs has a long history in the United States. It was developed and advocated for as far back as the New Deal and Franklin Roosevelt's Economic Bill of Rights, and by legislation such as the Employment Act of 1946 and the Humphrey-Hawkins Act of 1978 (the latter codified the Federal Reserve's "dual mandate" of both supporting employment and keeping inflation down). It has also been a mainstay of civil rights activism, not least for Martin Luther King Jr. and Coretta Scott King, among other leaders. Black Lives Matter is continuing the fight today.

A good starting point for establishing a public jobs guarantee is the **Humphrey-Hawkins 21st Century Full Employment and Training Act (H.R. 1000)**. The bill establishes a Full Employment and Training Trust Fund, funded by a financial transactions tax that will generate \$100 to \$150 billion per year, and between 2.5 and 3.9 million jobs each year. A public jobs guarantee goes further by providing jobs to anyone who applies with demonstrated need. H.R. 1000 also emphasizes significant investments in training. The larger-scale jobs guarantee should include training, in addition to a number of other key provisions, some of which are included in H.R 1000 in one form or another:

- Guarantee a public job as an employer of last resort and a partner to responsible private employers, but also as a driver of private sector competition for workers, so that all workers benefit. The guarantee has a broad definition of who is eligible, including those who are without college education,<sup>85</sup> involuntarily unemployed, poorly paid or underemployed, or out of the workforce.<sup>86</sup>
- **Prioritize racial equity** in the program design to repair systemic limitations to opportunity for people of color.
- Enforce standards for good jobs, including living wages, health coverage, paid family and sick leave, retirement plan options, and paid vacation.
- Provide the funding and set the standards for eligibility and allocation of guaranteed public jobs, in partnership with qualified localities or states, which oversee the projects.<sup>87</sup> Funds for public jobs should be allocated to subnational jurisdictions based on socioeconomic criteria, such as high unemployment and poverty rates.
- Partner with private-sector projects and enterprises that serve social and collective needs in localities or regions, such as infrastructure and especially green infrastructure, climate mitigation or adaptation initiatives, child care and elder care, and re-entry into the work force for formerly incarcerated people.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

An employment boost in the private sector would complement the public jobs program. One clear way to increase private employment is to ensure that Federal Reserve policymakers use all tools at their disposal to achieve the Federal Reserve's mandate for full employment. Congress can promote this effort by publicly supporting the importance of full employment and rejecting efforts to diminish the full employment mandate. In addition, policies that incentivize public pension funds to invest more in infrastructure and other public goods could help to expand the reach and impact of public jobs.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Every American who wants to work should be able to work; and when we work for a living, we should be paid enough to earn a good living and have a good life. If the market and employers cannot create enough good jobs, we can step in to raise the floor by investing public funds in millions of new and better jobs.
- People who work for a living shouldn't just survive—we should have the opportunity to thrive and be able to help our children realize their dreams. Our communities have many critical needs, from child care, to elder care, to improvements and weatherproofing for housing, to upgrades to dilapidated public buildings and neglected parks, and much more. A public jobs program will align with public goods that we already need, and which have been recklessly neglected by business and political priorities.
- A public jobs program must focus on low-income communities of color. By centering the policy design on communities of color, a public jobs guarantee can both repair past discrimination and generate a multiracial common good and an inclusive economic future.

#### HOW IT WORKS

A new public jobs guarantee would:<sup>88</sup>

- » Give people good jobs that they need for income, good health, skills development, family relationships, personal development, and citizenship. For instance, people who have not experienced long-term unemployment live up to 10 years longer than those who have.<sup>89</sup>
- » Largely eliminate structural and cyclical unemployment, stabilizing the demand side of the economy. A job guarantee will tighten the labor market, and a tight labor market closes the racial employment gap. Creating full employment among all Americans will increase consumer demand, raise job standards in much of the economy, and reduce inequality.<sup>90</sup>

Continued next page

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Fuel the provision of public and social goods, help meet the scale of collective needs that are starting to be addressed in other areas of policy, such as climate change mitigation and adaptation, and grow the tax base, creating a virtuous cycle for greater public investment.
- » The spending levels will be high, as much as \$750 billion annually, depending on the details of the program, but a substantial portion of these costs will be offset by fiscal gains from more tax revenue and reduced social benefits enrollment, reduced social costs with the expansion of public goods, savings on unemployment insurance, and other benefits.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The New School for Social Research, Samuel DuBois Cook Center on Social Equity, and Insight Center for Community Economic Development proposal for a Federal Jobs Guarantee
- » Dēmos proposal for public jobs
- » Center for Economic and Policy Research, Center for Popular Democracy and Fed Up on The Full Employment Mandate of the Federal Reserve

NOTES

## ENSURE PAID TIME TO CARE

"This was my baby and I wasn't going to leave her side, but I also needed my job." -STACI J. LOWRY, DETROIT, MICHIGAN<sup>91</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

At some point in our lives, we all need time to care for loved ones or ourselves, whether we are bonding with a new child, caring for an ailing parent, or recovering from a serious illness. Yet in 2017, only 13 percent of private sector workers had access to paid family leave through their employer.<sup>92</sup> Low-paid workers and working people of color were least likely to have access to paid time to care.<sup>93</sup> Without paid time away from work, Americans put their health at risk, face economic hardship, and are unable to care for those who matter most to them in a time of need.

To a great extent, the American workplace is built around the image of a male worker with a wife who is not employed outside the home and is available to provide care for children, aging relatives and loved ones who fall sick. Yet this norm never applied to most households of color or LGBTQ households, and does not apply to the majority of American households today: Currently most families with children have all adults in the workforce, and mothers are key breadwinners.<sup>94</sup> Meanwhile, the number of working people responsible for caring for elderly loved ones continues to grow as the population ages.

Paid time to care is the norm in virtually every other country, yet the U.S. guarantees only unpaid time off work under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Even access to unpaid FMLA leave is unavailable to about 40 percent of working people, because the law only applies to businesses with 50 or more employees and to workers who have worked for their employer for at least 12 months. As a result, millions of American are forced to make an impossible choice between the income they rely on and caring for a loved one in their time of greatest need.

#### POLLING DATA -

78%	OF VOTERS support establishing a national <i>paid</i> family and medical leave fund that would allow all workers in the U.S. to take up to 12 weeks of leave from their jobs with some pay. <sup>95</sup>
64%	OF VOTERS strongly favor such a law.
58%	OF VOTERS say they would be more likely to vote to re-elect a lawmaker who votes for a national paid leave law.

## POLICY SOLUTION

Provide paid benefits to working people who need time away from their jobs to care for a new child, a loved one with a serious health condition, or their own serious health condition. **The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act (S. 337/H.R. 947)** currently before Congress includes the following provisions:

- Provides working people with up to 12 weeks per year of paid time to care for family and medical needs. Benefits cover time taken for pregnancy, childbirth recovery, caring for the serious health condition of a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner, birth or adoption of a child, and military caregiving.
- Workers taking leave receive two-thirds of their typical monthly wages, up to a capped monthly maximum. Low- and middle-income workers have a greater share of their income replaced.
- Benefits are funded by small employee and employer payroll contributions of two cents per \$10 in wages, or about \$1.50 a week for the average worker. The benefit is administered through a new office within the Social Security Administration.
- All working people are covered, no matter what size of company they work for. Part-time, contingent, and self-employed workers are all eligible for benefits.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

The FAMILY Act would establish a sound base for the U.S.'s first-ever national system of paid family and medical leave. A more comprehensive proposal could include: longer duration of time to care (for example, Canada offers 12 months of leave benefits to new parents, which can be extended to 18 months at a lower rate of pay); an even greater share of pay replaced for the lowest-paid workers; leave that protects the jobs of workers at small businesses; or benefits that cover a greater range of loved ones, such as siblings or "chosen family"—a person, designated in advance, who shares a close relationship.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- At some point in our lives, we all need time to care for the people we love. We need a universal, public system of paid time to care, because ensuring that the next generation gets a healthy, loving start in life—and that families don't fall into poverty as they struggle to care for one another in times of sickness—are society-wide challenges, not problems that individual families and businesses can solve on their own.
- **Businesses want employees to have time to care.** Large, well-resourced companies such as Facebook and Amazon are offering employees increasingly generous paid leave, because it

contributes to employee retention, improved morale, and greater productivity.<sup>96</sup> Yet many smaller businesses are at a disadvantage because they can't afford to provide this benefit on their own. Recent polls show that 70 percent of small-business owners support a national paid family and medical leave program.<sup>97</sup>

• Paid time to care advances racial and gender equity. Because women still take on responsibility for most caregiving, access to paid time to care both immediately increases women's incomes and helps women who take leave retain their jobs over the longer term.<sup>98</sup> Providing leave on an equal basis to fathers and male caregivers (and encouraging men to take it) also reduces discrimination against women.<sup>99</sup> Women of color disproportionately risk their jobs and pay to care for loved ones: Black and Latina mothers are more likely to face job loss after giving birth.<sup>100</sup> Latina workers in particular have less access to paid leave and take very short maternity leaves.<sup>101</sup>

#### HOW IT WORKS

State programs guaranteeing paid time to care have strong records. For decades, state temporary disability insurance programs in California, Hawaii, New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island and Puerto Rico have successfully provided paid time to recover from personal medical conditions.<sup>102</sup> In 2004, California became the first state to guarantee paid leave to care for family. New Jersey, Rhode Island, New York, and the District of Columbia have since enacted laws. Research finds:

- » When paid leave is available, mothers are less likely to drop out of the labor force when they have a baby, and their family incomes increase. Families have less need to rely on public benefits.<sup>103</sup>
- » Paid leave improves child health outcomes—including reducing infant mortality rates and is associated with better mental and physical health among new mothers.<sup>104</sup>
- » Fathers who take paid parental leave are more engaged in caring for their babies.<sup>105</sup>
- » Black and Latina mothers are benefiting the most from paid family leave in California, significantly increasing the number of weeks taken to care for new babies.<sup>106</sup>
- » California's paid family leave program has reduced workplace absenteeism and improved retention among low-wage workers by 10 percent.<sup>107</sup>

*Continued next page* 

#### HOW IT WORKS

» Five years after California's paid leave program was implemented, 90 percent of employers reported no negative effect on business profitability or performance, with small businesses even less likely to detect any damaging impact on their bottom line.<sup>108</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The National Partnership for Women and Families resource page on paid leave
- » Institute for Women's Policy Research summary of research findings on parental leave
- » Family Values @ Work Resources and Toolkit

NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S





# REBUILDING OPPORTUNITY

51 Establish Debt-Free College

57 Forgive Student Debt

## ESTABLISH DEBT-FREE COLLEGE

"I stayed up late at night, made A's to get in. What was the point of working so hard when I can't ever go? I did my part as a student, but my parents felt like they couldn't do their part as parents. It was heartbreaking for them."

-KATIE HUTCHINS<sup>109</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

At a time of persistent racial and economic inequality, many Americans take comfort in the idea that education in general—and higher education in particular—is a great equalizer and a pathway to a better life, regardless of race, gender, or class. As wages and wealth have continued to decline for those with only a high school diploma, a college degree has become an insurance policy for many families, a way to achieve some financial security. But just as more Americans pursue this aspiration, the rising cost of college—particularly at public institutions, which have traditionally been the most affordable and accessible—is eroding this pathway to security.

In just 30 years, the total cost of attendance at public 4-year colleges has more than doubled, even after adjusting for inflation, and sits at nearly \$21,000 a year.<sup>110</sup> Over several decades, states have failed to meet the rising demand for higher education with greater public investment. As recently as 2001, states covered 70 percent of the cost of educating students at public colleges, with tuition making up the rest. But now, tuition covers half of the cost (and well over half in many states); costs have shifted from a public responsibility onto the backs of students and families themselves. This is not simply a function of the Great Recession; even as the economy has recovered over the past several years, most states are still spending less on higher education than a decade ago.<sup>111</sup> A dominant political ideology holds sway in many states that prizes tax cuts and smaller government over shared benefits. In other cases, what seem like temporary cuts during economic downturns are never fully replaced, making low per-student funding the new normal across the country.

As college prices continue to rise, federal policymakers have not acted to help low-income students weather this storm. The federal Pell Grant, which in its inception covered nearly three-quarters of the annual cost of attending a public college, now covers less than one-third.<sup>112</sup> And families, whose incomes have generally remained flat over a period of several decades, cannot hope to save nearly enough to afford college, pay bills, cover emergencies, and plan for the future all at once. The idea of working one's way through school was a reality until recently. In previous generations of students, as recently as the mid-1990s, more than half of bachelor's degree earners did not have to take on debt for their degree. However, today debt has become the primary way we finance higher education, even at public colleges and universities: Over 70 percent of bachelor's degree holders take on debt, and even 4 in 10 community-college graduates borrow.<sup>113</sup> This debt burden not only increases the risk for students if they face an uncertain job market, it has disproportionate impacts for working-class students and students of color.

Families of color have been systematically shut out of opportunities to build wealth, making them not only less likely to afford college up front, but also more likely to face trouble repaying student loans.<sup>114</sup> One decade after beginning college, the average loan burden for black students exceeds the amount they originally borrowed for school.<sup>115</sup> Latino students show greater aversion to taking on debt in the first place,<sup>116</sup> which can require them to work excessively while in school, increase their likelihood of dropping out, or lead them to opt against attending college altogether. Adult students, a growing portion of the student population, are at risk for needing to take on loans for themselves as well as their kids, with less time to pay off their debt.

#### POLLING DATA

80%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS think we need to return to the days when students could afford to go to a state college or university by working a part-time job, and not have to take on debt. <sup>117</sup>
88%	<b>OF AFRICAN AMERICANS</b> support providing federal financial assistance to states to make public colleges and universities more affordable.
63%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS support proposals to eliminate tuition at public colleges and universities. <sup>118</sup>

### POLICY SOLUTION

Create a new federal-state partnership to increase funding for public 2- and 4-year colleges, to guarantee that the total price of attending college is no more than what working- and middle-class students can reasonably pay with a part-time job, and increase the availability of need-based aid for low-income students. Several recent bills in Congress would address the college affordability crisis, including:

- The Degrees Not Debt Act of 2016 (H.R. 5756) rewards states that contribute more to public colleges and universities, by providing federal matching dollars to encourage reinvestment, and guarantees that low-income students have no unmet financial need for college including the costs of books, fees, and housing.
- The College for All Act of 2017 (S. 806/H.R. 1880) creates a federal-state matching pro-

gram to eliminate undergraduate tuition at public 4-year colleges and universities for families making up to \$125,000 annually, and eliminates tuition for everyone attending community college. States would guarantee that students receiving the maximum Pell Grant would have any unmet need covered.

- The Pell Grant Cost of Tuition Adjustment Act of 2015 (S. 1061) increases the maximum Pell Grant to equal the average price of tuition at 4-year public colleges, and indexes the award to inflation.
- The America's College Promise Act of 2017 (H.R. 3709) makes 2 years of community college tuition-free for state residents, and covers a portion of tuition for low-income students at qualifying Historically Black Colleges and Universities, Hispanic Serving Institutions, Asian American, Native American, Pacific Islander Serving Institutions and other Minority Serving Institutions.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

Some proposals to make college affordable, at both the federal and state level, only address rising tuition costs. However, tuition makes up less than half of the total price of attending a public 2- and 4-year college. Eliminating the need to borrow for college, or for students to work excessive hours, will require continual investment in need-based grant aid at the state and federal levels, and call for public colleges to provide financial aid first to students with the greatest need. Additionally, states should be given incentives to reinvest continually in public higher education over time, with additional matching funds dedicated to states that continue to increase per-student funding.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Our country is at its best when we invest in each generation. We came together to make K-12 education free to all, and provide soldiers with a free education after WWII. These decisions helped us build the greatest middle class ever, and made America the most educated country in the world. But our commitment has slipped, right when a college degree is more important than ever. That commitment means making sure everyone can go to college without the burden of student loan debt. We need to ensure America is a land where everyone can dream big, develop potential, and realize their greatest aspirations, and that means making our public colleges affordable to all of us.
- College should not be a debt trap. Pursuing an education beyond high school is a major life decision for many parents and young adults. Most parents work hard and try to set aside for their kids' education, but the rising price often puts a college education out of reach without going deeply into debt, even at public colleges. Today many young people work while in school and still leave with tens of thousands of dollars in debt for themselves and their families,

holding them back. Or worse, people drop out of college because the cost is simply too high, leaving them with burdensome debt and no degree. Everyone should take responsibility for their education, but it should not be this hard. We need to make sure that people can attend public 2- and 4-year colleges without the crushing burden of debt.

• The most diverse generation in American history is being left out. For generations, our public colleges and universities were generously funded, and higher education was the primary way to increase economic mobility and equality. But today, many young people who dream of being the first in their family to go to college can't go without racking up burdensome debt. Loans used to be an option of last resort, but now are the norm for all but the wealthiest students, and a burden shouldered most heavily by low-income students, rural students, and students of color. Learning is not a privilege for an elite few; it is a foundation for a better life for all.

#### HOW IT WORKS

Making college affordable means more students attend, complete, and follow their dreams.

- The research is clear: Ensuring that working- and middle-class students have more money for college makes them more likely to attend and complete a degree program.
   Providing need-based financial aid—in other words, lowering the price of college and the need to borrow—is a proven strategy to increase access to college<sup>119</sup> as well as degree completion.<sup>120</sup>
- » Over 50 states and localities, including Oregon, Tennessee, Kalamazoo, Oakland, and Pittsburgh have instituted "Promise Programs" that provide a guarantee of free tuition, and have seen positive impacts in attendance and persistence, as well as student behavior and aspirations.<sup>121 122</sup>
- » Investments in higher education pay off: The original GI Bill returned \$7 to the economy for every \$1 invested, and the fiscal rate of return on a college degree is estimated at over 3 percent a year, meaning states and the federal government recoup their initial investment remarkably quickly.<sup>123</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Dēmos, The Case for Debt-Free College
- » Dēmos, Addressing the Top Misconceptions about Debt-Free College
- » Dēmos, Doing Free College Correctly

Ν	0	Т	Е	S
------				

# FORGIVE STUDENT DEBT

"They're to the point where I'm only paying interest (on my student loans). So as long as the public employee loan forgiveness continues, if I work 10 years as a full-time public employee, they'll be forgiven. It's still kind of frightening. It's not something I wanted, to be just paying interest on my loans."

-ALEX PRIGGE, 29 YEARS OLD<sup>124</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Americans have long valued education as a pathway to greater opportunity and economic security. No one in America should face insurmountable financial hardship to get an education. Yet the increase in student debt over the past 15 years is one of the most staggering phenomena in the U.S. economy. As recently as 2004, total student loan debt hovered around \$250 billion; today, that number is \$1.4 trillion and rising with no end in sight.<sup>125</sup> Average debt for people who earn a bachelor's degree is fast approaching \$40,000 at graduation, nearly double what it was a decade ago.<sup>126</sup> This is due to a combination of forces: the rising prices for education, stagnant wages for middle-class families, flat-lining state investment in higher education, and insufficient grant aid to offset rising college prices.

With the overall increase in debt-financed education, there is a crisis among borrowers who are falling behind or defaulting on their loans, or are unable to make any meaningful dent in their balance. Unlike some other forms of debt, the amount of student debt borrowed does not positively correlate with the likelihood that a borrower is going to have trouble repaying their debt. The ability to complete a quality degree program matters far more: Relatively low-balance student loan borrowers (those with less than \$5,000 in debt) default on their loans at much higher rates than those with balances above \$40,000, indicating that for many debtors, the lack of an earnings boost from a degree is enough to make even small debts unpayable. In short, there is no safe amount of student debt for some borrowers.

Because they face less discrimination in the labor market and fewer barriers to wealth-building, white students who borrow for college often have an advantage in trying to repay student loan debt. Without these advantages, student debt is particularly burdensome for people of color. Twelve years after beginning college, Latino students have only paid off an average of 17 percent of their total student loan debt, while black students actually see higher loan balances on average than the amount they originally borrowed, due to increasing interest.<sup>127</sup> The crisis is particularly acute for students who attend for-profit colleges. Around 75 percent of African-American borrowers who drop out of for-profit schools eventually default on a student loan.<sup>128</sup> Despite the existence of repayment options that allow student loan borrowers to pay their loans as a percentage of their monthly income (rather than as a fixed payment over 10 years),<sup>129</sup> delinquency rates on student loans remain higher than other forms of consumer debt, perhaps due to poor loan servicing, confusing loan terms or payment plans, or because families rightly prioritize meeting basic needs or paying off other debts first.<sup>130</sup> People who eventually default on their student loan can face disastrous consequences—a ruined credit score, a tax refund or Social Security payment garnished, and in 19 states, the revocation of a professional license, which further decreases the likelihood that debt will be paid off at all.<sup>131</sup> Those who default on student loans often do so more than once, due to poor or confusing servicing, and despite the existence of multiple plans that might help them.<sup>132</sup> Even for borrowers who do not face the dramatic consequences of default, student debt can prevent them from fully participating in the economy. Among recent college graduates, nearly half report delaying postgraduate education, over a third report delaying homeownership, and nearly a fifth report having delayed starting a business due to student debt.<sup>133</sup>

Unfortunately, student debt is a particularly sticky form of debt. In a series of policies enacted from the 1970s to the 2000s, Congress, with enthusiastic support from the student loan industry, made student debt especially hard to offload in bankruptcy, despite little evidence that borrowers were taking unfair advantage of bankruptcy laws. By the mid-2000s, although borrowers could use the bankruptcy system to discharge most forms of debt, they could do so for student debt only after demonstrating "undue hardship," an ill-defined standard that, in practice, has blocked the vast majority of student loan borrowers who seek bankruptcy from seeing their student debt discharged.<sup>134</sup> Also in the 1990s, Congress determined that Social Security benefits too could be offset to repay defaulted federal student loans.<sup>135</sup> There are over 500,000 senior citizens with a defaulted student loan. While the government cannot garnish student loans such that seniors' Social Security payments are less than \$750 a month, the figure has not been adjusted for inflation since 1998, further eroding the value of a program whose purpose is to prevent the elderly and disabled from falling into deep poverty.<sup>136</sup>

### POLLING DATA-

70% OF VOTERS

support cancelling debt after 10 years for teachers, first responders, and those who work in non-profit jobs.<sup>137</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

Reduce the burden of student debt on people struggling to get by.

• Strengthen loan forgiveness for students who attended institutions that engaged in deception or malfeasance.<sup>138</sup> In the aftermath of the collapse of several for-profit college chains, the Obama administration issued rules, known as the Borrower Defense to Repayment, intended to provide an easy path to loan forgiveness for student borrowers who have been defrauded or deceived by predatory colleges. The Trump administration has taken steps to undermine, decline to enforce, and rewrite these rules, while providing minimal relief for students who attended colleges that either misled them or closed. These important rules should be strengthened.

- Ensure that student borrowers most likely to struggle with debt have the opportunity to discharge debt in bankruptcy. People who borrow for college should also be guaranteed basic consumer protections, quality servicing, and the ability to take advantage of helpful repayment options. The ability to garnish Social Security payments to pay for student debt should be abolished. Loan forgiveness programs such as Public Service Loan Forgiveness should be more widely available and easily accessible. Several bills in Congress would address these concerns, including:
  - The Fairness for Struggling Students Act of 2017 (S. 1262) restores the ability of private student loan borrowers to discharge their loans in bankruptcy proceedings.
  - The Student Loan Borrowers' Bill of Rights Act of 2017 (H.R. 3630) prohibits wage, Social Security, or tax refund garnishment, prohibits suspensions of professional licenses due to a loan default, and forgives 50 percent of federal loan balances for borrowers working in public service for 5 years.
  - The Strengthening Loan Forgiveness for Public Servants Act (S. 1412/H.R.3026), provides incremental loan forgiveness for those working in public service professions, including government and non-profit jobs. Specifically, the bill would cancel 15 percent, 15 percent, 20 percent, and 30 percent of the amount a borrower owes after 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 years of public service employment, respectively.

### HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- In addition to addressing the rising cost of college, we must also help Americans struggling with student debt right now. More jobs today require a college degree or high-quality credential, but attending college is about more than that—it's also about students following their dreams. Relieving student debt is not only fair for students who have fallen behind or been ripped off by predatory colleges, it will also help students participate in the economy and save for the future.
- When we help students get ahead, we all benefit. A college degree is an important first step for many people to pursue their dreams, but today too many people have burdensome education debt, preventing them from even getting by, much less getting ahead or saving for the future.

• Throughout our history, when America has made big investments in students, from the GI Bill to community colleges, those investments pay off. It's time to make sure that this generation of students has the same ability to innovate, grow the economy, and build their communities as previous generations enjoyed. Relieving student debt could help some families take a chance and start a small business or simply participate in the economy, and that helps all of us.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Americans who are not weighed down by student loan debt are more likely to own homes,<sup>139</sup> save for retirement,<sup>140</sup> and report a higher sense of well-being<sup>141</sup> than those who are repaying student loans. Further, relieving workers from the burden of student debt could increase their ability to open and grow small businesses.<sup>142</sup>
- » Relieving student loan debt, and the specter of wage or benefit garnishment, enables many households to pay bills, save for the future, and participate more productively in the economy, since student debt has a chilling effect on the ability to build financial assets, especially for African-American and Latino households. Targeting student loan forgiveness toward working-and middle-class households would help reduce racial wealth disparities.<sup>143</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » The National Consumer Law Center Student Loan Borrower Assistance Project
- » Higher Ed, Not Debt Resources Page

NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S




# ACHIEVING JUSTICE FOR COMMUNITIES

- 65 Secure Access to Justice
- 69 Reinvest in Justice
- 75 Decriminalize Poverty
- 81 Clear the Path to Citizenship

# SECURE ACCESS TO JUSTICE

"The courthouse doors are open to everyone, but you can't effectively go through those doors without legal representation."

-JAMES MALONEY, DIRECTOR OF THE CONNECTICUT INSTITUTE FOR COMMUNITIES<sup>144</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Equal justice under the law is a founding principle of the American legal system. However, this ideal is infrequently realized. Currently, legal representation is only guaranteed in criminal cases, despite the devastating ramifications of civil cases in which basic rights are at stake and people risk losing their livelihoods, families, homes, freedom, or ability to stay in the country. Corporations that force employees and customers into binding arbitration further deny Americans that they have cheated or discriminated against their day in court.

In the U.S., the Legal Services Corporation (LSC), established by Congress in 1974, serves as the single largest funder of civil legal aid services in the country. However, due to an insufficient funding stream, the more than 60 million people who qualify for legal aid—those living at or below 125 percent of the federal poverty level—receive inadequate legal assistance or no legal help at all for the vast majority of the civil legal problems they face, such as an eviction or child custody bat-tle.<sup>145</sup> In a June 2017 report, LSC found that:

- 70 percent of the households that qualified for legal assistance experienced at least 1 civil legal problem in the past year;
- In only 20 percent of these cases did the qualified party seek legal assistance; and
- In the majority of instances when people sought legal help, Legal Services was unable to provide the necessary assistance.<sup>146</sup>

This means that struggling Americans, who are disproportionately people of color, often do not have legal representation when their homes, livelihoods, and health are at risk. At the same time, millions of working people whose incomes are not low enough to qualify for civil legal assistance still find it difficult or impossible to afford an attorney when their basic needs are threatened.<sup>147</sup> Despite the fact that there is a desperate need for increased funding for Legal Services, Congress and the current administration have proposed dramatic cuts to (and even eliminating funding for) LSC.<sup>148</sup>

Legal representation also is not guaranteed for people facing deportation from the country.<sup>149</sup> The lack of legal representation in deportation proceedings is particularly troubling, given the correlation between having access to an attorney and avoiding deportation. A person without legal representation who is detained while facing deportation proceedings has only a 6 percent chance

of being allowed to remain in the United States, compared to a 46 percent chance for represented persons.<sup>150</sup> The outcomes of these hearings are as life-altering as in criminal proceedings—affecting a person's liberty, curtailing his or her ability to support a family, and possibly resulting in deportation. It is critical that people in removal proceedings be effectively represented.

While the difficulty of affording an attorney is one barrier to attaining justice, access to the courts is another: Corporations are increasingly mandating forced arbitration clauses that prevent employment, consumer, civil rights, and antitrust disputes from ever being brought before a court.<sup>151</sup> Corporations favor forced arbitration because it shields them from accountability if they violate the rights of workers and consumers. Corporations often bury forced arbitration agreements in the fine print of contracts that workers must agree to when they accept jobs, and that consumers must sign to conduct transactions such as opening a bank account, buying a cell phone plan or initiating cable service. By agreeing to arbitration—often without realizing it—workers and consumers submit to a private system of justice where there is no judge, jury, or opportunity to appeal an unfair decision. The rules largely benefit the businesses that are repeat customers of the arbitration firm. In fact, consumers win just 9 percent of disputes with banks and other financial institutions that go to arbitration, and in many cases, they are forced to pay thousands of dollars to the bank they originally alleged defrauded them.<sup>152</sup> Meanwhile, when workers experience discrimination, wage theft, or sexual harassment, forced arbitration clauses prevent them from suing their employer and push them into a process where their cases are much less likely to prevail.<sup>153</sup>

### - POLLING DATA

82%	OF AMERICANS believe everyone should have access to legal help or representation in civil legal matters. <sup>154</sup>
75%	OF AMERICANS support providing individuals facing deportation with legal representation. <sup>155</sup>
59%	OF LIKELY VOTERS oppose forced arbitration clauses in employment and consumer contracts. <sup>156</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

To increase access to justice in the civil legal system, several reforms are necessary.

• Increase funding for Legal Services Corporation and increase the cap at which people may qualify for civil legal aid to 200 percent of the federal poverty level, to ensure that everyone in need has access to an attorney when their homes, livelihoods, and health are threatened.

- Amend the Immigration and Nationality Act and its implementing regulations to guarantee that everyone is provided an attorney in deportation proceedings.
- Adopt The Arbitration Fairness Act of 2017 (S. 537/H.R. 1374), which:
  - Invalidates agreements made before a dispute that require that consumer, antitrust, employment, or civil rights disputes be arbitrated; and
  - Allows parties to choose to arbitrate after a dispute arises.

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Guaranteeing the right to an attorney when basic needs are threatened or individuals face deportation creates a more just and fair system for all of us. Ensuring that there is competent legal representation on both sides of a dispute allows both sides to be heard, allows facts and legal arguments to be effectively presented to the court, and helps maintain a just civil legal system.
- Increasing access to legal representation will advance racial equity. As a result of discrimination and institutional racism, a disproportionate number of people who qualify for civil legal assistance are people of color. Ensuring access to legal assistance helps create a safety net to protect and promote liberty, livelihood, and basic social and economic rights, which can reduce the cycle of poverty.
- We cannot let employers and for-profit institutions block people from accessing the justice system. Corporations increasingly force workers and consumers to sign away their legal rights as a condition of working or doing business with them. Under forced arbitration, working people who experience fraud, discrimination, wage theft, or sexual harassment cannot sue the company that violated their rights but must instead submit to a private system where the rules largely benefit the businesses that are repeat customers of the arbitration firm. Forced arbitration cuts against basic principles of justice on which our civil legal system is supposed to operate.

### HOW IT WORKS

A growing number of jurisdictions across the U.S. have recognized the importance of expanding legal representation. New York City implemented reforms to ensure persons facing deportation or eviction have access to legal representation.

Continued next page

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Since July 2014, New York's Immigrant Family Unity Project has provided free legal representation to nearly all detained indigent immigrants facing deportation in New York City who do not have an attorney at their first court appearances.<sup>157</sup> Studies estimate that NYIFUP clients will be able to remain in the United States in 48 percent of cases—a 1,100 percent increase from the previous likely success rate had these clients gone without legal representation.<sup>158</sup>
- » In August 2017, a bill was signed into law that will ensure that New York City residents living at or below 200 percent of the federal poverty level are provided with legal representation if they face eviction.<sup>159</sup> Analysts find that the cost of providing legal representation would be more than offset by reducing the costs the city incurs as a result of evictions, including shelter costs and medical and law enforcement costs associated with unsheltered homeless people.<sup>160</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » National Coalition for a Civil Right to Counsel website
- » Legal Services Corporation website
- » Economic Policy Institute resource page on forced arbitration

#### NOTES

# **REINVEST IN JUSTICE**

"A broken justice system leads to more crime, more families torn apart and higher costs for hardworking taxpayers each year."

-GOVERNOR JOHN BEL EDWARDS, LOUISIANA<sup>161</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Our nation's investments in the criminal justice system should increase the safety of our communities, so we can live and raise our children in neighborhoods free of violence and crime. Yet America spends more than \$270 billion a year—including more than \$80 billion annually on incarceration alone—to pursue an agenda that amply funds policing, courts, and corrections while leaving the drivers of crime unaddressed.<sup>162</sup> As rehabilitative services, drug treatment, mental health care, job placement, and education and training go underfunded, our policies create pipelines to prison and lock up millions of our fellow Americans. The epidemic of mass incarceration disproportionately engulfs communities of color—and has done little to make the country safer.

Tapping into racial resentment and anxiety, and using dog-whistles that called for "tough-oncrime policies," policymakers in jurisdictions across the U.S. aggressively expanded the criminal justice system in the 1980s, escalating the War on Drugs. The number of people incarcerated in U.S. prisons and jails has increased 500 percent over the past 40 years, not as the result of an increase in actual crime rates but as a consequence of policymakers' decisions to raise penalties, create mandatory minimum sentences, and establish truth-in-sentencing and three-strike laws.<sup>163</sup> This dramatic rise in the number of people incarcerated opened the gates for the growth of the U.S. private prison industry, which now uses policies like mandated bed quotas to perpetuate mass incarceration and maintain its profits.<sup>164</sup>

Currently, the criminal justice system touches 1 in 40 U.S. residents<sup>165</sup> and incarcerates traditionally marginalized populations at disproportionately high rates. Because of the over-policing that occurs in communities of color, policy changes that have increased the penalties for crimes have had a severe impact on people of color. Currently, there is a 1 in 3 chance that a black man will be imprisoned, compared to a 1 in 6 chance for Latino men and a 1 in 17 chance for white men.<sup>166</sup> Similar disparities exist for black, Latina, and white women.<sup>167</sup> Meanwhile, approximately 66 percent of people incarcerated in state prisons have not graduated high school,<sup>168</sup> 50 percent of prison inmates and 64 percent of jail inmates either suffered from serious mental distress or mental health problems,<sup>169</sup> and 58 percent of prison inmates and 63 percent of sentenced jail inmates have drug abuse disorders.<sup>170</sup>

Aggressive immigration raids and the mass detention of immigrants are another costly symptom of over-enforcement. The federal government has pushed local police departments to enforce federal civil immigration law using their own resources, which contributes to due process violations and increasing racial profiling by local police. By fostering a fear of law enforcement in immigrant communities, these policies decrease community safety.

Programs that ensure access to good jobs, affordable housing, quality educational opportunities, and appropriate mental, physical and behavioral health services for at-risk youth and people re-entering communities after leaving prison have been shown to decrease criminal activity and recidivism.<sup>171</sup> Yet these proven solutions are chronically underfunded. The U.S. Department of Education noted that, over the past 3 decades, state and local expenditures on prisons and jails has grown at triple the rate of funding for public education.<sup>172</sup>

#### POLLING DATA

69%	OF VOTERS believe that too many people are imprisoned and that there are "more effective, less expensive alternativesfor non-violent offenders and that expanding those alternatives is the best way to reduce the crime rate." <sup>173</sup>
87%	OVER 87% OF VOTERS believe that the system should prioritize efforts to prevent recidivism. <sup>174</sup>
66%	OF VOTERS believe our criminal justice system should prioritize prevention and rehabilitation. <sup>175</sup>
57%	OF VOTERS agree that our criminal justice system is not providing "a clear and convincing return on that investment in terms of public safety," despite increased spending. <sup>176</sup>

### POLICY SOLUTION

Because 90 percent of Americans in prison and jail are incarcerated at the state and local levels,<sup>177</sup> efforts to effectively address the root causes of crime and protect public safety require reallocating funds that have been spent on state and local justice systems to programs aimed at crime prevention and rehabilitation. More than half of states have received support from the federal government to develop "justice reinvestment" programs designed to reduce the number of people behind bars and invest in programs and reforms that address factors that drive incarceration.<sup>178</sup>

To further and more holistically assist states to invest in programs that address the root causes of incarceration, the federal government must:

• Increase funding for the Justice Reinvestment Initiative (JRI). JRI is a public-private partnership between the Bureau of Justice Assistance and The Pew Charitable Trusts.<sup>179</sup> Through JRI, states establish a bipartisan working group of policymakers and professionals who work within and outside the criminal justice system. With the assistance of criminal justice experts, working groups analyze criminal justice data, identify effective programs and policies to curb the levels of incarceration while maintaining public safety,<sup>180</sup> and receive seed funding to implement reforms.<sup>181</sup> While states have achieved success with JRI, no more than \$27.5 million per year has been appropriated for the program by the federal government.<sup>182</sup>

- Expand JRI to include additional experts, agencies, and impacted individuals from the relevant communities to expand the types of programs and policy solutions considered to address America's mass incarceration epidemic. Justice reinvestment reforms have often focused on amending sentencing laws, improving pretrial practices, modifying prison and jail release practices, and improving access to community services that can help reduce recidivism.<sup>183</sup> These programs have proved effective at reducing incarceration while protecting public safety; they also allow states to close jails and prisons, and end the use of privatized incarceration. However, these programs fail to address many of the systemic problems that affect the likelihood that someone will come into contact with the criminal justice system. Targeted investments in education, affordable housing programs, and health services should be considered in order to implement a truly effective justice reinvestment strategy.<sup>184</sup>
- Establish federal grant programs that will address the causes of incarceration and improve trust in local law enforcement. Design federal grant programs to assist states in improving behavioral, mental, and physical health services, as well as educational, job, and housing opportunities for communities with high rates of incarceration. Provide states with seed funding through JRI or other grants to help train law enforcement officials on bias, and establish procedures and processes to help reduce bias in policing. Addressing bias would improve trust in law enforcement by reducing stops and other confrontational interactions with police, and lead to better outcomes when members of the public interact with law enforcement.
- End collaboration in federal immigration enforcement by state and local officials. Eliminate any immigrant detainer agreements with local authorities, and end information-sharing between all local law enforcement and federal immigration authorities, as well as the presence of federal immigration enforcement in local jails.

# HOW TO GO FURTHER

Private prisons have a material interest in continuing the mass incarceration that fuels their profits. For-profit prisons are less accountable to the public, have been linked to numerous cases of violence and abuse, and in some cases cost the public more than government facilities. The federal government should phase out its own use of private prisons, and provide incentives for states to do the same. Federal immigration detention—the most rapidly growing sector for private prisons should be curtailed, with policymakers seeking alternatives to detention.

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Our nation's investments in the criminal justice system should increase the safety of our communities—but mass incarceration has not accomplished this. As a result of harsh sentences, over-criminalization, and discriminatory policing, our criminal justice system is tearing apart families—disproportionately families of color. Increasing the number of living wage jobs available, investing in educational systems, and funding community health programs can help reduce incarceration and contribute to genuine public safety.
- We can reduce incarceration while maintaining public safety. Since the 1980s, we have poured more than a trillion dollars into the criminal justice system. Funds could be better used to address the circumstances that contribute to criminal activity. Many states have already begun to reduce incarceration, closing prisons or jails and saving money that can be invested in efforts that help to more effectively stem the tide of incarceration.
- Reinvesting in our justice system will advance racial equity. People of color, low-income individuals, and individuals with mental illness and substance abuse problems are more likely to have contact with the criminal justice system. Because of systemic racism and discriminatory policing practices, black and Latinx people are far more likely to be imprisoned at some point in their lives than their white counterparts. Investment strategies that seek to address the root causes of incarceration would help address these disparities.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Texas is one of many states successfully implementing justice reinvestment policies. In 2007, the state's prison population was projected to grow by more than 14,000 people within 5 years, which would require the construction of new prison facilities that would cost the public an additional \$523 million. In response, the state enacted a justice reinvestment initiative, and allocated \$240 million over the following 2 years to expanding physical and mental health treatment, limiting probation periods, and increasing funding for probation and parole.<sup>185</sup> These front-end investments resulted in state savings of approximately \$443 million over the 2 years—savings that allowed Texas to invest in other programs that would reduce crime and recidivism. These include a community health program that provides low-income, first-time mothers with assistance from early in their pregnancy through their child's second birthday,<sup>186</sup> and has been found to improve outcomes for the whole family and reduce crime.<sup>187</sup>
- » In addition to the initial cost savings in 2008-09, Texas' justice reinvestment program proved effective at reducing parole revocations, and in 2013 the prison population dipped to a 5-year low.<sup>188</sup> In 2012, for the first time in the state's history, Texas closed a prison.<sup>189</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Communities United, Right on Justice, Make the Road, and Padres y Jóvenes Unidos report on justice reinvestment
- » The U.S. Department of Justice page on the Justice Reinvestment Initiative
- » The Council of State Governments Justice Center resource page

NOTES



# **DE-CRIMINALIZE POVERTY**

"I seen the judge and my bail was \$500. That's a lot of money in my neighborhood, you know. That's rent money...And I cried a tear. They asked for bail that I didn't have, so now it's like I'm a hostage."

-BRONX FREEDOM FUND RECIPIENT, NEW YORK<sup>190</sup>

# THE PROBLEM

Every one of us should be treated equally under the law. The idea is so fundamental to our justice system that it is carved above the doors of the Supreme Court. Yet every day, criminal justice policies penalize people for being poor. People who are unable to pay bail, fines, and fees are forced to remain in jail or take on debt for their involvement in the justice system, contributing to a cycle of poverty and tearing families apart.

The use of bail, fines, and fees perpetuates systemic inequalities in America by penalizing and incarcerating people based on the size of their bank account. People of color, particularly women of color, as well as queer and transgender people, who tend to earn lower wages, are disproportionately harmed.<sup>191</sup> Because police presence is higher in communities of color, people of color are stopped and arrested at higher rates. They are disproportionately subjected to bail systems that lead to incarceration if they are unable to pay what is often an arbitrary sum of money. Further, people who are held in jail prior to trial are more likely to plead guilty, be convicted of a crime, and receive harsher punishments when they are convicted. This means that people held in jail before their trials are more likely to be subjected to the fines and fees that are imposed after a criminal defendant is found to be guilty, and as monetary punishments for violating the law.

The number of people held in jail before trial has skyrocketed in recent years, accounting for 99 percent of the total growth in jailhouse population between 1999 and 2014.<sup>192</sup> Of the nearly 750,000 people incarcerated in local city and county jails, 60 percent are being held before their cases have gone to trial.<sup>193</sup> This means that approximately 450,000 people being held in jail are people our justice system presumes to be innocent. People are deprived of their liberty for days, weeks, months, and sometimes years prior to trial, merely because they are unable to pay an arbitrary sum—a practice that actually compromises public safety.<sup>194</sup> Racial discrimination compounds the injustice: Judges are 44 percent more likely to altogether deny bail to black people than to similarly situated white people.<sup>195</sup>

The American justice system further criminalizes poverty by forcing defendants to pay fines and fees. As the rate of incarceration has exponentially increased since the 1980s,<sup>196</sup> so have the costs of the criminal justice system. Many jurisdictions have offset such costs by imposing fines to punish those found to have violated the law and fees that often require those convicted of criminal offenses to support the operation of the justice system.<sup>197</sup> Criminal defendants frequently find themselves billed for fees associated with representation by a public defender, appearances in court, room and board for time spent in a jail or prison, parole and probation services, electronic monitoring, drug testing, counseling, and community service.<sup>198</sup> Additional fees may be imposed to set up payment plans for criminal justice debt; and late fees and collection fees are also often tacked onto criminal justice debt.<sup>199</sup> While these fines and fees may seem relatively low, requiring a person living paycheck to paycheck to pay \$9.25 per day—or approximately \$300 per month—for electronic monitoring will almost certainly result in their incarceration for no reason other than the fact that they cannot afford to pay for their freedom.<sup>200</sup> Fines and fees typically accrue with no consideration for a defendant's ability to pay,<sup>201</sup> even though the failure to pay may itself result in incarceration or loss of a job, a driver's license, or the right to vote.<sup>202</sup>

Beyond bail, fines, and fees levied against incarcerated people, the criminal justice system also places burdens on families. For instance, since private phone providers began providing services to prisons and jails in the 1990s,<sup>203</sup> the cost of calls with inmates has skyrocketed, placing many families in the untenable position of having to decide whether to remain connected with an incarcerated family member or pay for rent, utility bills, or groceries.<sup>204</sup> Some states, like Alabama, have capped their rate for in-state calls and eliminated commissions, perhaps recognizing that family contact can help prepare for re-entry and reduce rates of recidivism.<sup>205</sup>

# 91% OF AMERICANS believe that the criminal justice system has problems that need to be addressed, and 60 percent of these individuals believe that the problems are severe and need to be addressed immediately.<sup>206</sup> 83% OF AMERICANS agree that people with financial means can buy their way out of jail while poor remain incarcerated.<sup>207</sup> 75% NEARLY 75% OF AMERICANS believe that risk, not money, should be the primary factor determining whether someone is released prior to trial.<sup>208</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

De-criminalize poverty in America by incentivizing state and local governments to eliminate pretrial bail and criminal justice fines and fees.

- The Pretrial Integrity and Safety Act of 2017 (S. 1593/H.R. 4019) addresses pretrial bail systems that criminalize poverty and incarcerate those who cannot afford to post bail. This bill:
  - Authorizes \$10 million in grants over a 3-year period to incentivize states to end reliance on the use of money bail.
  - Replaces money bail systems with individualized, pretrial assessments that examine risk, are regularly validated, and do not disproportionately result in the detention of individuals based on race, gender, or other statuses protected under nondiscrimination laws.
  - Requires that there be a presumption in favor of release.
  - Requires that when pretrial release demands that conditions of release be imposed, those conditions be the least restrictive, non-financial conditions determined to be necessary.
  - Requires that counsel be appointed at the earliest possible state of pretrial detention.
  - Creates a system of data collection and reporting to show the effectiveness of these interventions.
- Provide incentives for state and local governments to reduce and eliminate fines, fees, and other mechanisms through which our justice system criminalizes poverty.
  - The federal government provides billions of dollars in criminal justice grants to states and localities each year; these dollars can be particularly influential in shaping state policy.<sup>209</sup> Congress can use its power of the purse to institute success-oriented funding that would push states to adopt policies that help end the criminalization of poverty and that have been shown to help reduce recidivism.<sup>210</sup>
  - Federal efforts to encourage, craft, and support justice reinvestment should also prioritize reforms that curtail the disproportionate confinement of people based on wealth status.

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- All Americans should be treated equally by our justice system, regardless of the size of our bank accounts. Given that 44 percent of adults report that they cannot cover a \$400 emergency expense,<sup>211</sup> it is clear the American legal system's reliance on money bail, fines, and fees has become increasingly one of injustice—where an individual's liberty is far too often dictated by their wealth or poverty.
- People of color, women, individuals with disabilities, and members of the LGBTQ community are disproportionately harmed by our wealth-based criminal justice system. Traditionally

marginalized communities, whose members are less likely to have the funds to buy their way out of jail, have been disproportionally harmed by our nation's legal system. When individuals are unable to post bail, they are more likely to plead guilty to a crime, be more severely sentenced than people with similar cases who were released pretrial, and run up additional fines and fees. All of this piles on to keep families in poverty.

• Making poverty a crime harms public safety. When people are detained before their trial because of an inability to pay bail, they and their families may be placed in dire financial straits. Detaining a person who has been accused of a low-level offense before their trial does not act as a deterrent—in fact it has been shown to increase the likelihood that they will commit a crime.<sup>212</sup>

## HOW IT WORKS

Washington, D.C. has a strong pretrial release system where money-based detention is prohibited.  $^{\rm 213}$ 

- » About 85 percent of all arrestees are released prior to trial.<sup>214</sup> Approximately 88 percent of people who are released are not re-arrested prior to trial, and about 88 percent return to court.<sup>215</sup>
- » The District bail statute requires that the least restrictive form of release necessary be used, and employs citation and release, rather than arrest, for low-risk defendants.
- » D.C. quickly assigns an attorney to criminal defendants before their first appearance, in order to ensure that they have an experienced and effective advocate representing them.
- » The district requires that prosecutors make decisions about what a criminal defendant will be charged with within 24 hours of arrest.
- » Washington has established a high-functioning pretrial services agency that conducts a risk assessment for every person who has been arrested and who will be charged, by examining a number of factors including an arrestee's substance use and mental health information,<sup>216</sup> and assists the courts to make informed decisions about pretrial release and detention.
- » Finally, D.C. provides supervision and treatment for defendants who are released pending trial.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » University of Pretrial resource page
- » Pretrial Justice Institute resource page
- » Pretrial Racial Justice Initiative data on bail in America
- » Vera Institute website
- » National Center for State Courts, National Task Force on Fines, Fees, and Bail Practices resource guide

NOTES


# CLEAR THE PATH TO CITIZENSHIP

"Give me your tired, your poor, your huddled masses yearning to breathe free."

-EMMA LAZARUS, EXCERPT FROM "THE NEW COLOSSUS," POEM INSCRIBED ON THE BASE OF THE STATUE OF LIBERTY

## THE PROBLEM

The true source of America's greatness is the diversity of our people. Almost 1 in 4 Americans is an immigrant or the child of an immigrant.<sup>217</sup> Throughout our history, the nation has grown and thrived when we have welcomed the skills, talents, and perspectives of immigrants, and embraced their potential to contribute to our shared prosperity. Yet our immigration system has been badly broken for some time now, with an extremely negative, disparate impact on people of color, especially Latinos. For 11 million people who are presently undocumented—the great majority of whom are people of color—it is currently impossible to become citizens. These residents, who are members of U.S. families and communities, face complex barriers that hold them back from joining our country and making even greater contributions to our society and economy.<sup>218</sup>

The demonization and scapegoating of immigrant communities did not begin with Donald Trump, but he has dramatically inflamed anti-immigrant fears. By blaming immigrants for the economic dislocation and growing inequality that working Americans face, anti-immigrant demagogues deflect attention from the unchecked corporate greed that is actually undermining the well-being of all working Americans. Even as some unscrupulous companies reap profits by exploiting immigrant workers—for example, by paying guest workers or undocumented immigrants less than they would U.S. citizens—they benefit by manipulating anti-immigrant fears to turn working people against each other. All Americans are harmed by policies that block immigrants from fully contributing to our society, but it is immigrant families and communities that are hit hardest.

Failure to enact comprehensive immigration reform for over 15 years has led to increased racial profiling and other law enforcement abuses, as well as labor rights violations for all workers in the system. The Trump administration's policies targeting all undocumented immigrants for deportation have compounded the problem, creating a crisis for millions of families and communities in our nation. Mass deportation destroys American communities, violates fundamental rights, tears parents away from their children, contributes to mass incarceration, violates humanitarian law by deporting many people back to grave danger, leads to increased human trafficking, and causes serious harm to our economy and to international relations. Under Trump, deportations have increased by over 40 percent. Women and men who have spent many years in the U.S., working, contributing to the economy, and raising their U.S. citizen children born here, are being deported and prohibited from re-entering the country for 10 years. The U.S. government is sending people back to home

countries that are dangerous, frequently including gender-based violence. Such families are permanently severed; parents will never bring their children back to the brutality they fled. Trump's strategy of blanket deportations forces families of undocumented immigrants to live in constant fear. Moreover, aggressive ICE raids and mass detention of immigrants are routinely conducted without due process, at a public cost of billions of dollars annually.

The Trump administration is rolling back important programs. It sought to retract the protections of 800,000 young immigrants in the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) program, terminated the long-standing humanitarian programs for Temporary Protected Status (TPS) for Haitians and Central Americans, and has doggedly sought to ban travel into the U.S. by people from primarily Muslim countries. The lack of a path to citizenship for 11 million people, predominantly people of color, also unfairly skews access to political power and economic power, creating structural disparities that can only be resolved by comprehensive immigration reform.

#### POLLING DATA

#### 79% OF AMERICANS

(in total) support a path to citizenship (64%) or legal permanent residency (15%) for undocumented immigrants.

## 2/3 OF AMERICANS

think immigration helps more than it hurts the country. This is the highest level of support since this polling began in 2005.<sup>219</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

Fix America's broken immigration system so that people have an opportunity to get legal status, become citizens, and contribute to and participate more fully in America's economy and society.

- Enable the estimated 11 million undocumented people in our country to immediately attain legal status, with a pathway to full citizenship:
  - The original 2006 McCain-Kennedy bill is the best model, as it included immediate legalization for the great majority of undocumented immigrants, civil and labor rights protections, including specific protections for guest workers (visa portability and equal labor rights), and a path to citizenship.
  - Congress should also enact the full range of provisions recommended by the National Hispanic Leadership Agenda, including: remove the 3- and 10-year bars to re-entry for undocumented persons who otherwise qualify for immigration relief, increase access

to humanitarian relief and waivers for family unity, end racial profiling, reform mass detention, and reduce costs of naturalization.<sup>220</sup>

- Pass a clean DREAM Act such as the bipartisan DREAM Act of 2017 (S 1615), which includes the following provisions, without compromising on aggressive enforcement or "border security":
  - Grant current DACA beneficiaries permanent resident status on a conditional basis, and also allow TPS beneficiaries, people without lawful immigration status, and people with final orders of removal the opportunity to apply for this conditional permanent resident (CPR) status.
  - Permit CPRs to obtain lawful permanent resident status if they go to college, have worked for a certain amount of time, or served in the U.S. military, and have met other basic requirements.
  - Provide a pathway to U.S. citizenship after 8 years.
  - Stay removal of anyone who meets the DREAM Act requirements, and young people over
     5 years of age who are enrolled in elementary or secondary school.
  - Improve college affordability for undocumented youth and other immigrants by changing rules that limit access to in-state tuition and to student financial aid.<sup>221</sup>

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- People move in the hopes of making a better life for themselves and for their families. Just as in past generations, today's immigrant Americans moved here for the promise of freedom and opportunity. Orders that uproot families damage the freedoms we cherish. We need to create a just immigration process that enables people to continue contributing to our communities.<sup>222</sup>
- In America, the true source of our greatness is the diversity of our people. Throughout our history, the United States has grown and thrived when we have welcomed the skills, talents, and perspectives of immigrants, and embraced their potential to contribute to our shared prosperity.<sup>223</sup> Some politicians play on our fears and try to divide us by pushing harmful ideas like sending federal troops to police our cities, building an even larger border wall, or singling out Muslims because of their religion. These divisive policies make our country weaker, not stronger. We need to embrace ideas that unify us as a diverse people and make our country stronger, and we must speak out against discrimination and prejudice when we see it.<sup>224</sup>
- Immigrants are our neighbors, co-workers, and friends. They contribute to our economy as workers, consumers, business owners, and tax payers. We cannot fix our economy by turning

against other working people. Instead, we need to create a better immigration process and eliminate the underground economy it perpetuates. By legalizing the undocumented workforce, we will bring these workers out of the shadows and put more workers and employers on our tax rolls.<sup>225</sup>

#### HOW IT WORKS

Analysts estimate that granting legal status and citizenship to undocumented immigrants would have significant economic benefits.

- » Increase the nation's gross domestic product by an estimated \$1.4 trillion cumulatively over 10 years.<sup>226</sup>
- » Boost American wages by \$791 billion in personal income over 10 years.
- » Lead to the creation of an additional 203,000 jobs per year, largely as a result of increased economic demand.
- » Within 5 years of the reform, formerly unauthorized immigrants would be earning an estimated 25.1 percent more than their current income.
- » As a result of higher incomes, immigrants would contribute more in federal, state, and local taxes. Over 10 years, that additional tax revenue would total \$184 billion-\$116 billion to the federal government and \$68 billion to state and local governments.
- » In contrast, an increase in deportations would increase citizen unemployment by 1.6 percent and reduce citizen wages by .08 percent.<sup>227</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » United We Dream toolkit
- » National Hispanic Leadership Agenda immigration policy platform
- » Unidos US resources and toolkit
- » National Immigration Law Center sanctuary city toolkit
- » Demos & LatinoJustice PRLDEF toolkit on sanctuary, safety and community

Ν	0	Т	Е	S

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	




# SUSTAINING OUR FAMILIES

- 89 Ensure Health Care for All
- 95 Make Homes Affordable for All
- 101 Achieve Reproductive Justice
- 107 Provide Childcare for All
- 113 Protect and Improve the Safety Net
- 119 Expand the Earned Income Tax Credit

# ENSURE HEALTH CARE FOR ALL

'Of all the forms of inequality, injustice in health care is the most shocking and inhumane."

-DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING JR

#### THE PROBLEM

When a child is injured or a loved one is suffering from a serious illness, no one wants to think about co-pays and deductibles. We want compassionate, effective medical care, delivered quickly and accessibly. We know that people, families, communities, and our nation thrive when good health is a public priority. The Affordable Care Act was an historic achievement to provide health insurance to a record number of uninsured Americans. Yet even if the Affordable Care Act were fully implemented, nearly 30 million people would remain uninsured, and out-of-pocket medical costs could lead to financial ruin for many people. At the same time, ideologically-driven politicians continue to threaten recent gains in access to health care.

Most Americans continue to struggle to obtain the health care they need and gain the peace of mind that they won't go bankrupt if they get sick. Medical debt remains the leading cause of personal bankruptcy in the United States.<sup>228</sup> According to the Kaiser Family Foundation, more than a quarter of Americans struggle to pay their medical bills.<sup>229</sup> America has a growing under-insurance problem. People may have insurance, yet their health plan premiums, copays, and deductibles are so high that they cause financial stress or result in patients missing necessary treatment. America's fragmented and complex health care system makes us a global outlier; we are the only industrialized nation that fails to deliver health care to all of its people. Our system treats health care as a commodity available based on one's ability to pay, worsening existing health disparities by class and race.

People of color, undocumented immigrants, and people with low incomes have higher rates of disease and mortality, and suffer disproportionately under our current health coverage scheme. African Americans are 77 percent more likely than white Americans to develop diabetes.<sup>230</sup> People of color run 2 to 4 times the risk of reaching end-stage renal disease than white people.<sup>231</sup> Racial disparities are particularly acute for pregnant women and infants: Because African-American mothers are far less likely to receive prenatal care than white mothers, the infant mortality rate for black babies is more than twice as high as for white babies, and black mothers are more than 3 times more likely to die in childbirth than white mothers.<sup>232</sup> While many structural factors contribute to worse health care outcomes for patients of color, our current for-profit system adds to disparities by creating financial and medical-provider access barriers for patients to get the care

they need. Politicians further exacerbate this harm by refusing to allow undocumented patients to purchase subsidized Obamacare plans and to obtain Medicaid coverage. This not only burdens immigrant health, but also weighs down our inefficient health care delivery system.

America must take steps to build upon the gains of the Affordable Care Act and expand public insurance, ultimately creating a Medicare for All single-payer health care system.

#### - POLLING DATA

37%	OF VIRGINIA VOTERS cited health care as their most important issue after the November 2017 election. <sup>233</sup>
60%	OF AMERICANS support Medicare for All. <sup>234</sup>
49%	OF VOTERS support a single-payer health care system, where all Americans would get their health insurance from one government plan. <sup>235</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

Establish universal health coverage in America, so that everyone can access health care. **The Medicare for All Act of 2017 (S.1804)** currently before Congress includes the following provisions:

- Overhauls and expands Medicare to cover everybody. The bill greatly expands the type of coverage offered, and eliminates deductibles, copays, and premiums. A Medicare for All plan will cover dental, vision, and be more generous than what's covered in versions of Medicare and private health plans. Unlike universal programs in other countries, this plan does not cover long-term care.
- Phases in over four years. Those under the age of 19 would be enrolled immediately into the Medicare system. In the first year, Medicare eligibility would be lowered to 55. The next year it would move to 45, and then 35 the year after. After 4 years, everybody would be covered. During that 4-year period, adults will also have the ability to buy into Medicare on the Affordable Care Act state marketplaces, or if an employer chooses to offer it as a health plan option. After the transition period, private health insurance will only offer coverage that supplements Medicare.
- Funds a national health plan by consolidating existing federal expenditures on health care made for Medicare, Medicaid, the Federal Employee Health Benefits program, TRICARE and others. A progressive tax approach to finance this proposal includes a 7.5 percent income-based premium paid by employers, a progressive income tax plan, and closing corporate loopholes.<sup>236</sup>

• Extends care to all people living in the country, regardless of immigration status. This provision benefits patients, prevents the spread of preventable infections, and increases the efficiency of delivery of health care compared to the emergency room care undocumented immigrants might otherwise seek.

# HOW TO GO FURTHER

Policymakers aiming to cover needs over the full life cycle should be attentive to adding coverage for long-term care, and protecting maternity and reproductive health care.

### HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- We all thrive when good health is a public priority. Universal health care will ensure that all of us get the care we need. When a child is injured or a loved one is suffering from a serious illness, no one wants to think about co-pays and deductibles. We want compassionate, effective medical care, delivered quickly and accessibly. The Affordable Care Act brought meaningful reforms to our system. We must work toward finishing the job of making health care access a reality for all Americans.
- No one should struggle with debt to get the care they need. Medical debt remains the leading cause of personal bankruptcy in the United States, and more than a quarter of Americans struggle to pay their medical bills. People may have insurance, yet their health plan premiums, copays, and deductibles are so high that they cause financial stress or result in patients missing necessary treatment. Americans continue to die because they lack affordable health coverage.
- Our nation established Medicare in 1965 to provide health coverage to seniors. It's time to do the same for all Americans. By covering everyone, Medicare for All cuts paperwork and cost burdens, and takes health decisions out of the hands of insurance companies. Patients would no longer face burdensome financial barriers to care such as high co-pays and deductibles, and would regain free choice of doctor and hospital, currently controlled by insurance companies. Doctors would regain autonomy over patient care that is now increasingly controlled by private insurance companies.

#### HOW IT WORKS

» More than 55 million Americans are now covered by Medicare.<sup>237</sup> The current program is more efficient than private health insurance, effectively controlling costs while remaining more accountable to the public.<sup>238</sup>

*Continued next page*
#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Under a single-payer Medicare for All system, all Americans would be covered for all medically necessary services, including doctor, hospital, preventive, long-term, mental health, reproductive health, dental, and vision care, as well as prescription drug and medical supply costs. Patients would no longer face financial barriers to care. Private insurance companies would no longer control patients' and doctors' options; patients would regain free choice of doctor and hospital, while doctors would regain autonomy over patient care.
- » A single-payer, Medicare for All system would be financed by state-sponsored insurance and reduce the role of private insurance, recapturing the administrative waste that has little do with the delivery of medical care. Modest new taxes, based on ability to pay, would replace premiums and out-of-pocket payments currently paid by individuals and business. Costs would be controlled through negotiated fees, global budgeting and bulk purchasing.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Health Affairs unpacks Medicare for All bill
- » Vox's Ezra Klein on Medicare for All plan
- » The Nation on "The Political Genious of Bernie's 'Medicare for All' Bill"

#### NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



# MAKE HOMES AFFORDABLE FOR ALL

*"They are literally taking money out of the grocery bill when they increase rent...It's left me with a sense of hopelessness."* 

-JESSICA KEANE, SACRAMENTO, CALIFORNIA<sup>240</sup>

# THE PROBLEM

A home is more than a roof over our heads. It's the opportunity to raise our families in a safe neighborhood with clean air and water, and to live in a place where we can access good jobs, efficient transportation, and high-quality schools. For most Americans, owning a home is also the primary source of family wealth.<sup>241</sup> Whether we rent or own our homes, everyone deserves access to a safe and stable place to live, and the opportunities it provides. Each year, the federal government spends nearly \$200 billion to support housing in this country—yet as millions of Americans struggle to find and hold onto homes they can afford, the vast majority of our public funds for housing are directed to subsidize the nation's wealthiest households.<sup>242</sup> Our economic rules around housing unfairly favor the rich because they are written by politicians beholden to wealthy special interests.

America's public policies have systematically operated to shut black and Latino families out of opportunities to build housing wealth that benefitted white families. Redlining is the most notable example: In the years after World War II, the National Housing Act and the GI Bill contributed to a historic boom in homeownership and household wealth among American families. Yet federal policymakers drew red lines around African-American neighborhoods, discouraging private banks from lending in these areas even as black homebuyers were excluded from living in white neighborhoods. Redlining also contributed to divestment in predominantly African-American urban areas at a time of substantial public investment in roads and infrastructure in the white suburbs. While redlining was officially outlawed by the Fair Housing Act of 1968, its impact in the form of residential segregation patterns persists today, with families of color more likely to live in neighborhoods with higher poverty rates, lower home values, and a declining infrastructure, compared to neighborhoods inhabited predominantly by white residents. These enduring patterns of segregation impact both renters and homeowners.<sup>243</sup>

Rather than working to address the historic injustice of unequal opportunity, our current housing policies reinforce the inequality created by discrimination. The mortgage interest deduction is the centerpiece of federal housing policy: A \$70 billion tax break that exclusively benefits Americans who have been able to purchase or inherit a home—and which fails to help many working- and middle-class homeowners who don't itemize their taxes. The tax deduction does little to promote homeownership, as most households would have purchased a home regardless of tax benefits.<sup>244</sup> Researchers estimate that the decision to prioritize policies like the mortgage interest deduction amount to approximately \$4.8 billion in lost housing investments for African-American families and \$4.1 billion directed away from Latino families, compared to a more equitable distribution of benefits.<sup>245</sup> White people who are not homeowners miss out as well. Overall, households with incomes over \$200,000 receive 4 times more federal housing benefits than low-income households.<sup>246</sup>

Meanwhile, many working people cannot find an affordable place to live. There is no county in the nation where a full-time worker earning the minimum wage can afford to rent a modest two-bedroom home, and even a one-bedroom is out of reach in most of the country.<sup>247</sup> As a result, researchers estimate that more than 20 million renter households live in housing poverty, meaning that after they pay for housing they cannot afford to meet other basic needs like food, transportation, and medical care.<sup>248</sup> At the same time, on a single night in 2016, more than half a million Americans were homeless, including more than 116,000 children and more than 39,000 veterans.<sup>249</sup> Federal rental assistance programs such as Housing Choice Vouchers, Section 8 assistance, and public housing have proven effective at reducing homelessness and housing instability, particularly for families, yet they are severely underfunded and therefore reach only a quarter of the Americans eligible for assistance. In 2015, less than 30 percent of federal housing dollars went to support renters, and the Trump administration proposes further cuts.<sup>250</sup>

#### - POLLING DATA -

81%	OF AMERICANS say housing affordability is a problem and 60% say it is a serious problem. <sup>251</sup>
76%	OF AMERICANS say it is important for elected leaders in Washington to solve problems of housing affordability and people's ability to buy or rent housing that meets their needs.
80%	FAVOR EXPANDING HOUSING SUPPORT for low-income families with children.

# POLICY SOLUTION

Rebalance the nation's housing investments so that resources go to people who need them most. **The Common Sense Housing Investment Act (H.R.948)**, currently before Congress, includes the following provisions:

• Reduces the amount of a mortgage eligible for a tax write-off to \$500,000, with the change phased in over 5 years.

- Converts the mortgage interest deduction into a nonrefundable 15 percent tax credit. This change, also phased in over 5 years, extends a tax cut to an additional 15 million working- and middle-class homeowners who do not benefit from the current mortgage interest deduction because they don't itemize their tax deductions.
- Reinvests \$241 billion in savings over 10 years to supporting rental assistance, expanding the Low Income Housing Tax Credit, Section 8 rental assistance and the public housing capital fund, and providing permanent funding for the National Affordable Housing Trust Fund.

# HOW TO GO FURTHER

To further rebalance the nation's housing investment, Congress could eliminate the mortgage break for homes that are not owner-occupied, and make the new mortgage deduction tax credit refundable. At the same time, action is need on fair housing because federal fair housing rules are vulnerable to being undermined by the Trump administration. To strengthen housing equity, policymakers could take action to turn the 2015 Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing rule into law.<sup>252</sup> The rule from the Department of Housing and Urban Development increases accountability for fair housing efforts mandated by the 1968 Fair Housing Act, requiring cities and regions that receive federal housing funds to document segregation and barriers to housing choice, and to take robust action to promote housing equity.

# HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- America is at its best when we all have a place to call home. Access to a safe and affordable home near quality schools, transportation, and jobs is basic to the American Dream and to our nation's future.<sup>253</sup> Millions of working Americans should not have to struggle to find an affordable place to live. We are a stronger and better country when decent housing is within reach of all of us.
- Our housing rules have swung out of balance, favoring the wealthy rather than Americans in need. The American public invests \$200 billion each year to support housing, but most of the benefits go to households that are already wealthy. Rather than catering to wealthy special interests, we can change the rules to ensure that federal housing resources serve families with the greatest needs: Housing homeless people, enabling low-paid renters to raise their families in stable homes, and helping working- and middle-class homeowners get a tax break that now primarily benefits the wealthy.
- Housing choice—especially for low-income communities and communities of color—is a critical component of equitable and economically prosperous regions. When localities

seek public funds to strengthen their communities, it's only right that they must take specific steps to ensure fair housing. That means addressing discrimination and removing barriers to opportunity for all their residents.<sup>254</sup>

#### - HOW IT WORKS

- » Currently, about 5 million families with low incomes receive federal rental assistance through Housing Choice Vouchers, Section 8 assistance, or public housing. Elderly people, people with disabilities, and working poor families with children make up the vast majority of people receiving rental assistance.<sup>255</sup>
- » Federal rental assistance policies successfully lifted 4 million Americans out of poverty in 2012, and helped to decrease homelessness, housing instability, and overcrowding.<sup>256</sup> Research also suggests that by providing stable housing, allowing families to leave areas of concentrated poverty, and freeing up parents' incomes, affordable housing programs have a positive effect on children's success in school, health outcomes, and ultimate economic mobility.<sup>257</sup>
- » Investing in affordable housing creates jobs, increases family incomes, and encourages further economic development. According to one estimate, constructing 100 affordable rental apartment units produces \$11.7 million in local income generation, \$2.2 million in taxes and other revenue for local governments, and 161 local jobs in the first year.<sup>258</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » National Low Income Housing Coalition "Out of Reach 2017" report
- » United for Homes campaign to reform the mortgage interest deduction and reinvest in rental assistance
- » Center on Budget and Policy Priorities research page on housing policy
- » National Fair Housing Alliance resource page on Furthering Fair Housing

#### NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S


# ACHIEVE REPRODUCTIVE JUSTICE

"I knew my hourly retail job wouldn't allow me to give my child the future I had always imagined. I was struggling in college and didn't have the \$30 to pick up a birth control pill pack in the first place."

- RENAE BRACEY SHERMAN<sup>259</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

There is perhaps no greater decision impacting families' economic security than the decision of whether and when to have children.<sup>260</sup> Having a child is one of life's most serious commitments, economically and otherwise; an unintended pregnancy can upend financial stability, making it difficult for mothers in particular to pursue education and maintain employment. Given the gravity of this decision and its impact on the lives of countless women and their families, equal access to affordable reproductive health services, including abortion, is critical. Numerous studies show that women who have access to birth control have greater job security, workforce participation, and earnings.<sup>261</sup> Access to reproductive services is as much a cornerstone of the fight for economic justice for millions of women and their families as are pay equity and paid sick leave. Unfortunately, in recent years and with alarming frequency, a barrage of attacks at both the federal and state levels threatens to dramatically restrict families' access to these services.

In the first half of 2017 alone, legislators in 28 states introduced bills restricting abortion access under certain circumstances, with legislators in 6 states introducing legislation to ban abortions in all circumstances.<sup>262</sup> During the same time period, 3 states added restrictions on publicly-funded family planning services.<sup>263</sup> At the federal level, legislation such as the 20-week abortion ban that the House of Representatives recently passed, if enacted, would severely limit reproductive health access.

The current wave of restrictions threatens the economic security of millions of families nationwide. Lack of affordable, timely access to reproductive health services is costly. Birth control costs account for 30 to 44 percent of women's out-of-pocket health care costs.<sup>264</sup> For a woman working full time at a minimum-wage job, the total costs of an IUD equal one month's salary.<sup>265</sup> Women who cannot afford birth control often resort to less effective methods, which put them at risk for an unintended pregnancy that may completely upend their lives. Women who cannot afford an abortion often delay treatment, making the difficult decision to forego necessities for themselves and their families or go into debt to save for the procedure. Delaying the procedure ends up costing women hundreds if not thousands of dollars more, with potentially devastating impacts for families living paycheck to paycheck.<sup>266</sup> Attacks on access to reproductive care disproportionately impact women of color, who are more likely to have low incomes and limited access to preventive health services as a result of discrimination and institutional racism.<sup>267</sup> Women of color, in particular, have long been the targets of coercive reproductive policies that undermine their families' economic well-being.<sup>268</sup>

#### POLLING DATA

66%

61% OF VOTERS support a federal law that would safeguard abortion care and prevent restrictions that make abortions more difficult to obtain.<sup>269</sup>

support having access to reproductive health services in their community.<sup>270</sup>

OF VOTERS

### POLICY SOLUTION

Safeguard the economic security of women and their families by defending against policies that make it difficult to access affordable reproductive health services, and championing policies that expand access to these services.

- Eliminate the Hyde Amendment: Under the Hyde Amendment, federal funds cannot be used to pay for abortion services, except in limited circumstances including rape, incest, and instances that place the mother's health in jeopardy. For over 40 years, the Hyde Amendment has dramatically limited access to abortion services for millions of women enrolled in Medicaid and other federal programs.<sup>271</sup> As a rider to the annual appropriations bill for the Department of Health and Human Services, the Hyde Amendment must be renewed annually. Members of Congress have attempted to codify the Hyde Amendment into law,<sup>272</sup> which would be disastrous for millions of women and their families. Passing legislation that finally repeals the Hyde Amendment would remove the funding restriction and a key barrier to abortion access.
- Ensure abortion coverage and care regardless of income or source of insurance. The Equal Access to Abortion Coverage in Health Insurance Act (EACH), introduced in the 2015-2016 legislative cycle, ensures abortion coverage and care through the federal government in its role as an insurer, employer, or health care provider and prohibits state, local or federal restrictions on private insurance coverage of abortion care.
- Protect access to no-cost contraception and champion legislation that limits religious and so-called moral carve-outs for employers. Recently, the Trump administration issued 2 expansive rules permitting employers to invoke religious or moral objections in order to sidestep a mandate under the Affordable Care Act that requires employers to provide women

with access to birth control at no additional cost. The sweeping rules will likely force many women to forgo contraception, use it sporadically, or rely on less effective methods, which could have disastrous impacts on families' economic well-being and security. Congress should pass legislation limiting these carve-outs for employers, who should not be in the position to dictate women's access to reproductive health services.

### HOW TO GO FURTHER

Anticipating attacks on reproductive health services under the current administration, several states passed laws guaranteeing no-cost contraception to patients. A handful of states, including Maryland and Vermont, went ever further, guaranteeing patient access to a 12-month supply of contraception.<sup>273</sup> Oregon passed the most comprehensive law to date: **The Reproductive Health Equity Act** requires insurance companies to cover a wide array of family planning services—including contraception, vasectomies, STI and cancer screenings, prenatal and postpartum care, and abortion—at no cost to the patient. Oregon's law will stand even in the event of a repeal of the Affordable Care Act. Enacting similar measures at the federal level could have a tremendous impact on women's access to reproductive services and the economic well-being of themselves and their families.

#### HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- To achieve full equality, women must have the right to control their own bodies and the ability to plan their own families. Deciding whether and when to have a child is one of the most important economic decisions women make. Women must have access to the full range of reproductive health services that will help them to achieve and maintain economic security.
- Women and their families do better economically when they have access to reproductive health services, with the impact felt across generations. When women can plan their families, their children have better education outcomes and earn higher wages.<sup>274</sup> On the other side, women denied abortions are more likely to be in poverty 2 years later.<sup>275</sup> Removing barriers to these services will help families achieve greater economic security.
- Employers' religious and moral beliefs should not dictate women's access to reproductive health services. Current rules may pave the way for more and more employers to deny women much-needed services on dubious and overbroad grounds. A woman's place of employment should not dictate her ability to control her own body and make her own reproductive choices.
- Removing barriers and ensuring access to reproductive health services advances gender and race equity. Birth control is responsible for one-third of the narrowing of the gender wage gap.<sup>276</sup> Increasingly, women are the primary breadwinners for their families. Access to

reproductive health services helps strengthen their ability to take care of their families. Making it easier and less expensive to access these services will particularly benefit women of color, who are more likely to lack access to preventive and reproductive health services and live in poverty as a result of discrimination.

#### HOW IT WORKS

Repealing the Hyde Amendment and allowing the use of federal funds to pay for abortion services would have an immediate impact on families.

- » The nearly 14.5 million women of reproductive age enrolled in Medicaid would have access to abortion services.<sup>277</sup>
- » Women enrolled in other federal programs like the Indian Health Services, the Child Health Insurance Program, and Medicare, subject to the same restrictions, would have access to these needed services.
- » Eliminating the Hyde Amendment would be particularly beneficial for low-income women and women of color, who are more likely to rely on Medicaid for family planning services and for whom the costs of abortion are prohibitive.<sup>278</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

National Women's Law Center resources on health care and reproductive rights SisterSong Women of Color Reproductive Justice Collective resource page Guttmacher Institute on reproductive rights

#### NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



# PROVIDE CHILD CARE FOR ALL

"My husband and I are both employed full time, but we can barely afford childcare and we do not qualify for any assistance."

-SARA, OREGON<sup>279</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Family comes first. That means all families should have access to affordable and high-quality choices for their children's early care and education. Millions of American parents need child care to be able to work or go to school, while children need quality care and education to get a strong beginning in life. Yet child care costs have soared in the past decade, leaving a growing number of working and middle-class families unable to afford the early learning and care that will enable their children to thrive. Ensuring that the next generation gets a healthy start in life is a challenge for our entire society, but individual families are left to address it on their own, trapping parents between the need to care for their children and the need to earn income. At the same time, child care providers who do the crucial work of caring for children are typically paid very low wages and struggle to sustain their own families.

Gendered assumptions about women's roles have prevented the nation from achieving a child care system that would give families real choices about how to combine caregiving and work. During World War II, the nation funded a large-scale child care program to enable mothers of young children to work in support of the war effort.<sup>280</sup> It was dismantled as women were pushed out of the workforce at the war's end. In 1971, Congress passed bipartisan legislation that would have established a comprehensive national child care system available to all Americans, with fees based on a family's income.<sup>281</sup> The bill was vetoed by Richard Nixon, as conservatives warned that providing access to affordable child care would weaken the family, encouraging women to abandon their traditional roles.

Today the majority of parents with young children are working. A crisis of care is genuinely undermining the economic stability of American families: Nationwide, the average cost of fulltime care in child care centers for children under age 5 is \$9,589 a year, higher than the average cost of in-state college tuition.<sup>282</sup> Child care rates for infants are significantly higher, and some areas of the country face much higher costs overall.<sup>283</sup> As a result, many families go to extraordinary lengths in the scramble to handle work and care, working split shifts with a spouse, relying on a patchwork of family caregivers, paying huge portions of their household income for child care, dropping out of the workforce entirely, or resorting to unstable or substandard care. The problem is particularly difficult for single parents trying to provide care and support children on 1 income. The Child Care and Development Block Grant, the nation's primary program funding child care for low-income families, is so drastically underfunded that only 15 percent of eligible children receive federal child care assistance, leading to long waiting lists and high co-pays for care in many states.<sup>284</sup> Merely accessing child care is a challenge for many families: Parents who work non-standard hours or have shifting, unpredictable schedules are often unable to establish stable care arrangements.<sup>285</sup> Meanwhile, as many as half of American families live in areas with little or no access to quality child care at any time of day.<sup>286</sup> African-American families are particularly affected by the escalating cost of child care and limited options, because they are more likely to have all parents in the workforce and fewer resources to pay for care.<sup>287</sup>

The caregiving workforce is disproportionately made up of women of color and immigrant women. Their work is crucial to our society and our economy, yet is systematically underpaid and undervalued, with the median child care worker paid just \$10.18 an hour, or \$21,170 per year for full-time work.<sup>288</sup> Not surprisingly, turnover in the child care workforce is high, which challenges quality care delivery and results in children being less likely to have stable and consistent caregivers. Many states set low standards for the training of child care providers; when child care workers do earn degrees or attain additional training, their income often does not rise in tandem with their increased qualifications.<sup>289</sup>

	NG DATA
PULLI	UG DATA
79%	OF VOTERS want Congress and the administration to work together to improve the quality of child care and preschool, and make it more affordable for parents. <sup>290</sup>
85%	OF VOTERS say there should be increased funding for child care that directly supports greater access to quality programs for low- and middle-income children while their parents work or attend school. <sup>291</sup>

# POLICY SOLUTION

Guarantee universal access to affordable, high-quality child care and preschool programs for all American families, and improve compensation and training for child care workers. **The Child Care for Working Families Act (S.1806/H.R.3773)** currently before Congress includes the following provisions:

• Guarantees child care affordability for working families with children under age 13. Provides sufficient funding for the Child Care and Development Block Grant so that families with

incomes between 75 and 150 percent of their state's median income would pay no more than 7 percent of their total income for child care, regardless of the number of children they have. Families with incomes below 75 percent of their state's median income and families eligible for Head Start would have no co-payment for child care.

- **Improves the supply of child care**, particularly for infants, children in underserved areas, and children with disabilities.
- **Raises the quality of child care** by providing resources to states to help providers increase their skills, and requiring states to establish systems to measure the quality of child care providers.
- Incentivizes states to create high-quality preschool programs for 3- and 4-year olds during the school day, while providing a higher matching rate for programs for infants and toddlers.
- Supports family, friend, and neighbor care providers who care for children during non-traditional hours to help meet the needs of working families.
- Enhances funding for Head Start programs to provide full-day, full-year programming.
- Increases training and compensation for the child care workforce, ensuring that all child care workers are paid a living wage, and early childhood educators are paid at rates comparable to elementary school teachers with similar credentials and experience.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

The Child Care for Working Families Act would establish child care as an entitlement for millions of American families. Policymakers aiming for a genuinely universal program could discard the cap of 150 percent of state median income, and provide support to all families with young children.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Family comes first. Every parent wants to know that their children are safe, happy, and getting the foundation they need to thrive—at a cost that doesn't keep families from making the rent or paying the mortgage. We need quality, affordable child care for working parents.
- All of us have a stake in ensuring that the next generation gets a good start in life. It makes no sense that we leave individual families on their own, scrambling to find child care they can access and afford. It's worth investing in a child care system that will give families real choices about how to combine caregiving and work.
- Children benefit from high-quality child care and early education. Good child care and early education give children a strong beginning when they start school. Children who participate

in high-quality child care are more likely to attend college, to work, and to earn more, and are less likely to become involved with the criminal justice system.<sup>292</sup>

• **Providing child care for all advances racial and gender equity.** The majority of children under age 5 in the United States are children of color. The push for affordable, quality child care is fundamentally a fight for their families and their future. At the same time, access to affordable child care increases women's earnings and job stability, promoting gender equity.<sup>293</sup>

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » High-quality child care and early education have been shown to benefit children's health and social and cognitive development, and to help prepare them for school. For example, recent studies of early education programs in North Carolina and New Jersey found substantially improved educational outcomes persisting for years after the program.<sup>294</sup>
- » Every dollar invested in early care and education returns roughly \$8.60 in benefits to society, according to a 2015 report by the Council of Economic Advisers.<sup>295</sup>
- » Research shows that access to affordable child care enables parents, particularly mothers, to more easily enter or remain in the workforce, reducing gender pay gaps. One study estimates that capping child care expenditures at 10 percent of family income could increase overall women's labor force participation enough to boost the nation's GDP by \$210 billion.<sup>296</sup>
- » In 2016, enrollment in state-funded preschool programs reached a record high of nearly 1.5 million children, encompassing 32 percent of 4-year-olds and 5 percent of 3-yearolds nationwide.<sup>297</sup> New York City has succeeded in providing universal free, full-day preschool to 68,000 4-year-olds in the city with a program that meets high quality benchmarks.<sup>298</sup> The city is currently expanding the programs to 3-year-olds.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » National Women's Law Center resource page on child care
- » The Center for American Progress Within Reach campaign page

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



# PROTECT AND IMPROVE THE SAFETY NET

"I can't imagine what I'd do without SNAP. I think it would surprise a lot of Maine people to know how many of their neighbors are hungry and to really understand how hard it is for people living in poverty to get enough to eat."

-ROBERT JONES, VETERAN AND SNAP RECIPIENT<sup>299</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

In a country as wealthy as the United States, families should not go to bed hungry, shiver in an unheated home, or be out on the streets as they search for a new job. From Depression-era efforts by President Franklin Roosevelt and Secretary of Labor Frances Perkins, to President Lyndon Johnson's War on Poverty, we have created public programs that protect basic living standards for our fellow Americans and enable us to get back on our feet when we fall on hard times. Programs including Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Unemployment Insurance (UI), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), and the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) provide much-needed support for households facing economic hardship, stabilize families' access to necessities, and keep millions of Americans out of poverty.<sup>300</sup> These programs are explicitly designed to prevent Americans from being subject entirely to the whims of larger economic forces beyond their control, and actively help families not only get by, but build a stable and productive life for themselves and their children. Safety net programs are especially vital when the economy is underperforming, when jobs are hard to come by, and when families have to spend down their savings in order to make ends meet.

Despite the value of this safety net, some politicians campaign on the promise of eliminating or slashing funds for many of these programs, which they deride as "undeserving" of our support. In an appeal to classism, racism, and nativism, politicians have connected public benefits with concepts of laziness and criminality, despite the fact that over 90 percent of public benefits go to the elderly, disabled, or working poor,<sup>301</sup> and that the social safety net actually reduces crime.<sup>302</sup> Using dog-whistle phrases about the populations they serve, these politicians have compromised the efficacy of these programs, often by placing restrictions or new eligibility requirements in order to prevent people from using vital safety net programs.<sup>303</sup> In just a few recent examples, the most recent Farm Bill reduced SNAP benefits, and recent budget proposals are filled with cuts to various social safety net programs.<sup>304 305</sup> Inertia is also a major problem: The block grant provided to states through the TANF program has lost 30 percent of its value since the 1990s.<sup>306</sup>

Even when programs are not cut, struggling families are often stigmatized and forced to jump through hoops that middle-class or wealthy families are not in order to receive state or federal benefits.<sup>307</sup> For instance, a 2017 law will give states a greater ability to drug-test beneficiaries of unemployment insurance,<sup>308</sup> while no such law exists to drug-test wealthy households who receive public assistance through the tax code, such as the deduction for home mortgage interest. In other cases, struggling families are faced with a Catch-22: If they try to build up any savings in order to achieve self-reliance, they are denied assistance or forced to sell off assets and spend down savings in order to stay eligible for programs that prevent them from experiencing deep poverty.<sup>309</sup>

The stinginess and racialization of the safety net has consequences for inequality and the economy broadly. States with higher populations of African-American residents are more likely to have restrictive welfare policies and lower overall benefits.<sup>310</sup> And due to racially discriminatory enforcement of drug laws, people of color—and women of color in particular—are often shut out from food stamps or TANF due to drug convictions. This is true despite the fact that there is virtually no difference in drug use between white and black populations.<sup>311</sup>

To live up to America's deepest values of human dignity and equality, the social safety net should be protected and expanded. These programs set Americans up to be more productive, healthier, and happier: Studies show that higher wages, more education, and better health are just a few of the long-term outcomes of strong safety net programs.<sup>312</sup> But we also owe it to each other to remove the barriers that prevent families from accessing programs that would allow them to get back on their feet, and do so with the dignity we afford to everyone else.

#### POLLING DATA

81%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS favor raising food stamp benefits for the typical recipient. <sup>313</sup>
19%	ONLY 19% OF WORKING AMERICANS (and 11% of nonworking Americans) favor cutting aid to the poor. <sup>314</sup>
20%	THE PERCENTAGE OF AMERICANS who support increasing federal spending on needy Americans has grown by nearly 20 percentage points in the past 4 years. <sup>315</sup>

### POLICY SOLUTION

Support Americans who are struggling by protecting and expanding the safety net.

• Expand eligibility and funding for safety net programs such as SNAP, UI, SSI, WIC, LIHEAP, and TANF.

- Index TANF block grants provided to the states to the Consumer Price Index in order to provide families today with the same level of benefits received by previous generations.
- Increase or eliminate altogether the limits on the ability of families to save money or own assets (such as a car) in order to receive public benefits.

# While much of social safety net spending is determined by the federal budget, specific proposals before Congress would improve public benefit programs.

- The Progressive Caucus' **People's Budget** restores recent cuts to the SNAP program, and eliminates a 3-month time limit for unemployed adults without children to receive food stamps. The People's Budget also improves Unemployment Insurance by restoring the ability of individuals to claim up to 99 weeks of unemployment benefits in high-unemployment states.<sup>316</sup>
- The Supplemental Security Income (SSI) Restoration Act of 2017 (H.R. 3307) increases the amount of income and assets participants can hold without being penalized with a cut in SSI benefits.
- The Wise Investment in our Children Act of 2015 (H.R.2660/S.1796) increases the age ceiling for children to participate in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children from 5 to 6 years old.

## HOW TO GO FURTHER

The Affordable Care Act removed asset limits from the Medicaid program. Following this example, Congress should remove all restrictions on savings and assets from the TANF program, the LIHEAP program, and SNAP program. Congress can also encourage states to modernize their unemployment insurance systems, by increasing benefits and expanding access and participation.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- A strong social safety net is about our commitment to human dignity. Our country works best when we all help each other get ahead. Investments in the safety net mean more children get educated, more families can live productive lives, and more people can retire with happiness and dignity.
- Supporting struggling families with a strong social safety net is an investment in our future. When families can eat, pay their bills, and have a roof over their head, they can stay out of deep poverty and start to plan for the future. When we institute confusing rules that prevent people from saving, or force them to sell their car just to receive public benefits, we're preventing those very people from getting ahead, and that hurts our economy and our future. When we

expand and protect public benefits, our society becomes healthier, happier, more innovative, and more productive.

• A strong safety net is about reclaiming the promise of opportunity. Many families hold down multiple jobs and still must choose between putting food on the table, paying the bills, buying school supplies, and saving for the future. In an economy that doesn't work for everyday people, we need to strengthen programs that help empower families and ensure that no one falls behind.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Strengthening public benefit programs, especially cash benefits, results in more education, higher wages, and better health for recipients in the long term.<sup>317</sup>
- » When we expand public assistance programs, they deliver on their promise to stabilize households and reduce poverty, while also helping strengthen and grow the economy. For example, a \$1 increase in SNAP benefits during recessions is estimated to produce an additional \$1.70 in economic activity.<sup>318</sup>
- » When states have lifted or eliminated onerous asset limit rules, it helps stabilize households and prevents a temporary financial crisis from becoming permanent. As families have the opportunity to save money, states also save the public dollars they would have spent on administering asset limits and on supporting households that otherwise quickly fall into crisis again without assets.<sup>319</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Center on Budget and Policy Priorities resource pages on family income support and food assistance
- » Prosperity Now Scorecard on Asset Limits in Public Benefit Programs

NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S


# EXPAND THE EARNED INCOME TAX CREDIT

*"If we hadn't itemized and claimed that credit [EITC], we would have owed the IRS \$7,200...We wouldn't have been able to keep the lights on. It really saved us."* 

-STEPHANIE BOWMAN, ORLANDO, FL<sup>320</sup>

### THE PROBLEM

Over 50 years ago, our country declared a War on Poverty. Sweeping legislation created critical safety net programs like Medicare and Medicaid, and expanded the Social Security program. While these programs have dramatically reduced poverty, working people across the country still struggle to make ends meet. Corporations have held down wages, so millions of working Americans find their paychecks falling short of basic needs.

The Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC), initially enacted in 1975, supplements the income of low-paid workers. While the EITC is helpful in increasing the incomes of working families, the current credit is insufficient to keep up with the cost of living. It also includes substantial gaps in coverage. For example, many workers without children are ineligible for the credit, and those who qualify find the value too small to make a real difference in their lives. At current levels, the EITC adds just \$37 a year to the \$14,500 that a full-time worker without children earns at the federal minimum wage.<sup>321</sup> Our tax code pushes nearly 7.5 million childless workers who are ineligible for the credit into or deeper into poverty.<sup>322</sup> The EITC's narrow eligibility criteria disproportion-ately exclude single African-American and Latino men, who are more likely to work low-wage jobs, and noncustodial parents who cannot claim their children on their taxes for purposes of the credit.<sup>323</sup> Currently, workers must be at least 25 years old to claim the credit, even though many people younger than 25 work full time to support themselves and their families. Because the EITC does not extend to young workers under 25 or the overwhelming majority of low-income workers without dependent children, it fails to help families who may be in great need.

A lack of awareness of the EITC and understanding of how to claim the credit is another barrier to full coverage: 1 in 5 working people who are eligible for the EITC fails to claim the credit.<sup>324</sup> Finally, the EITC helps working Americans less than it could because it provides income support only after workers file their tax returns. Working people who live paycheck to paycheck often lack savings to handle emergencies, and funds from the EITC are not available to assist in a crisis.

# POLICY SOLUTION

Expand the eligibility criteria and value of the EITC to help more workers and their families avoid poverty. **The Grow American Income Now (GAIN) Act (H.R. 3757/S. 1849)** currently before Congress includes the following provisions:

- Increases the value of the EITC for both families with children and childless adults. Currently, an eligible family with 3 children could qualify for a maximum EITC credit of \$6,318. Under the GAIN Act, that same family would qualify for a maximum credit of \$12,131—a nearly two-fold increase. The GAIN ACT would raise the maximum amount an eligible childless adult could claim under the EITC from \$510 to \$3,000—a nearly six-fold increase.
- Increases the level at which the EITC phases out. The EITC phases out completely at \$15,010 for childless workers and \$48,340 for families with 3 or more children. Under the GAIN Act, the EITC would not phase out completely until childless workers and families with 3 or more children earn \$37,113 and \$75,940, respectively.
- Lowers the qualifying age for the credit. The GAIN Act lowers the age at which adults could claim the credit from 25 to 21, recognizing that many workers as young as 21 are breadwinners for their families.
- Allows eligible workers to request an advance of the credit. In recognition of the reality of living paycheck to paycheck, the GAIN Act allows eligible workers to request an advance capped at \$500, which is subsequently deducted from the total credit amount owed when tax returns are filed.

# HOW TO GO FURTHER

The GAIN ACT would lift the incomes of millions of struggling Americans. A more comprehensive proposal could lower the age of eligibility even further to 18, and simplify and streamline the process for claiming the credit, while increasing federal outreach to working people who may not be aware that they qualify.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

• The Earned Income Tax Credit is one of our best weapons in the war against poverty. In 2016 alone, the tax credit lifted 6.5 million people out of poverty, including 3.3 million children, and reduced poverty for 21 million more. Moreover, research suggests that children of families that receive the credit do better in school, are more likely to go to college, and have better health outcomes.<sup>325</sup>

- The EITC helps working people achieve greater economic security, but it currently leaves out too many struggling Americans. It will help millions more if we expand the credit to benefit younger workers and workers without children or without custody of their children, provide greater assistance, and lower the age at which workers can claim the credit.
- Expanding the EITC advances gender and race equity. The EITC is a critical factor in boosting employment among single mothers.<sup>326</sup> Expanding it would improve the economic prospects of low- to moderate-income women and their families.<sup>327</sup> Increasing the value of the credit for childless adults would be particularly helpful to African-American and Latino men, who disproportionately work in low-paying jobs.

#### HOW IT WORKS

Since the 1970s, millions of workers and their families have relied on the Earned Income Tax Credit to get by.

- » The EITC is a federal tax credit for low- to moderate-income workers that supplements wages and helps offset payroll and income taxes. The EITC is fully refundable, meaning that a family can claim the full value of the credit even if they owe nothing in federal income taxes in a given year.
- » The current version of the EITC has reduced the poverty rate of working families more than any other governmental transfer program except Social Security.<sup>328</sup> In 2016 alone, the tax credit lifted 6.5 million people out of poverty, including 3.3 million children, and reduced poverty for 21 million more.<sup>329</sup>
- » The EITC is structured to incentivize work, encouraging people who make the least to work more hours. Increased hours working may translate into better experience and skill building, which may in turn lead to better opportunities and higher earnings later on in life.<sup>330</sup> According to one study, recipients of the EITC view the credit as a "springboard for upward mobility" and "just reward" for working, which in turn enhances feelings of inclusion and belonging.<sup>331</sup>
- » For people of color, who are hardest hit by economic downturns,<sup>332</sup> the EITC provides a critical safety net, helping families to pay down debts and pay for child care, transportation, and housing, enabling them to remain in the workforce.
- » The EITC provides stability. Numerous studies have shown that the recipients of the EITC and their children enjoy better health and educational outcomes.<sup>333</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Center for American Progress and Generation Progress joint reports on proposals to expand the EITC

ΝΟΤΕΣ	

Ν	0	Т	Е	S





# BUILDING WEALTH WITH EQUITY

- 127 Protect Consumers from High-Interest Debt
- 133 Secure Retirement for All
- 139 Make Taxes Fair

# PROTECT CONSUMERS FROM HIGH-INTEREST DEBT

"You're hooked. You can feel the hook right in your mouth. And you don't know it at the time, but it gets deeper and deeper... I was having to get one [loan] to pay another."

-TRUDY ROBIDEAU, CALIFORNIA<sup>334</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

Fair and affordable access to credit is vital for American consumers and for the functioning of our economy. Credit can contribute to community stability by helping Americans afford significant purchases like a home or a car, and can smooth out the ups and downs in household finances to prevent temporary crises from turning into long-term conditions. Yet risky, high-interest debt can profoundly undermine communities, draining resources and destabilizing family finances. In the 1990s, politicians loosened rules on the financial sector, enabling lenders to prey on Americans struggling to make ends meet. Unscrupulous lenders cashed in on predatory loans of all types, from the deceptive mortgages that triggered the Great Recession to credit cards full of tricks and traps hidden from reasonable borrowers. Payday lenders and car-title lenders multiplied, promising quick and easy money while trapping borrowers in a cycle of debt.

Communities of color are particularly vulnerable to predatory lenders because for generations, America's public policies systematically locked African-American and Latino families out of wealth-building opportunities that benefitted white families. As a result, people of color remain less likely to have savings to fall back on to handle an emergency, buy a car, attend college, pay a medical bill, start a business, or make a down payment on a home. The lack of wealth and greater need for credit to meet these needs disproportionately expose communities of color, as well as low-wealth white communities, to predatory lending. In a vicious cycle, predatory lending strips additional resources from families and communities, increasing their reliance on borrowing in the future.

Twelve million Americans take out payday loans each year, spending more than \$9 billion on loan fees.<sup>335</sup> Payday and car-title lenders disproportionately target low-income neighborhoods with high populations of people of color, promoting quick-fix loans with annual interest rates of nearly 400 percent a year on average.<sup>336</sup> The short-term loans also carry high fees, so that most borrowers ultimately pay more in fees than they originally obtained in credit.<sup>337</sup> The loans are designed so that the vast majority of borrowers will have to roll over or renew their loans within 2 weeks, incurring new fees and additional interest. Car-title loans operate on a similar business model of
repeat loans, with 1 in 5 consumers ultimately losing their vehicle through repossession.<sup>338</sup> While the predatory lenders make millions, low-income borrowers often end up in financial wreckage, because they are less able to pay their mortgage, rent, and other bills.

Following the Great Recession and the financial crisis of 2008, Congress enacted new protections for borrowers, including the Credit CARD Act, which reined in unfair and deceptive practices used by credit card issuers, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which aimed at some of the worst practices of Wall Street banks and mortgage lenders. The Dodd-Frank Act also created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, which has secured nearly \$12 billion for 29 million American consumers wronged by financial companies since 2011, and has taken action to enforce consumer financial protection rules, crack down on financial scams, and make mortgages safer.<sup>339</sup>

Recently, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau instituted a rule to require that payday lenders determine whether borrowers can repay their loans, and to limit lenders' access to borrowers' bank accounts.<sup>340</sup> Yet its successes in taking on abusive lenders have won the Bureau powerful enemies, and the CFPB's strength and independence is currently under political attack.

#### - POLLING DATA -

91%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS believe it is important to regulate financial services, including 71% who believe it is very important. <sup>341</sup>
3 %	OF REGISTERED VOTERS have a favorable view of payday lenders, compared to 51% with an unfavorable view. <sup>342</sup>
73%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS favor the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau when it is described. <sup>343</sup>
71%	OF REGISTERED VOTERS support greater regulation of payday lending. <sup>344</sup>

### POLICY SOLUTION

Protect consumers from high-interest debt.

• Enact a set of national usury limits. The limits are floating, indexed to a federal rate, and potentially tiered based on the credit product (e.g. student loans, short-term payday loans, credit cards). This step would enable lenders to continue using risk-based pricing, but put an end to routine credit card interest rates of 20 and 30 percent above prime, or payday loans at 400 percent, all of which are unjustifiable by any measure.

- **Cap lender fees.** Limit late fees and charges for borrowers who fail to make a payment on or before the due date.
- Defend the autonomy and strength of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The CFPB and its rules curbing the most predatory aspects of payday loans and other abusive financial practices are under political attack. Policymakers should champion the agency and its rules.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Americans need fair and affordable access to credit, not deceptive terms or excessive interest rates and fees that trap them in a cycle of debt. Whether it's a mortgage to purchase a first home, or a simple credit card bill, we need rules to ensure that credit benefits people and communities, not predatory lenders who profit from struggling families. Payday and other high-interest loans are fundamentally defective products and need to be regulated.
- Unscrupulous lenders prey on the most economically vulnerable communities, particularly veterans, seniors, women, and communities of color. Communities that have historically been shut out of opportunities to fairly access credit and accrue wealth are particularly susceptible to abusive lending practices today, and need protection.
- Working people shouldn't have to borrow to make ends meet. Working Americans should be paid enough to sustain themselves and provide for their families without having to borrow for basic needs. Raising standards for our jobs and increasing access to food, housing, and medical care for all Americans make more sense than encouraging financial products that leave families in debt.
- We need the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to hold big banks and other lenders accountable for predatory practices that strip wealth from our families and communities. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau stands up for consumers, putting transparency, fairness, and security for borrowers ahead of the profits of banks and predatory lenders.

### HOW IT WORKS

Today 14 states and the District of Columbia have effective caps on loan interest, essentially banning payday lenders from preying on 90 million Americans.

» People living in states without payday and car-title loans save an estimated \$5 billion a year in fees annually-\$2.2 billion from payday lending, plus another \$2.8 from cartitle lending.<sup>345</sup>

*Continued next page* 

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » The Military Lending Act prohibits active-duty service members from being charged interest greater than 36 percent; however, loopholes have undermined the law.<sup>346</sup>
- » The Credit CARD Act of 2009 protects consumers from excessive and unfair credit card fees, and has saved consumers more than \$16 billion in fees since it went into effect.<sup>347</sup> Although credit card issuers warned that limiting fees would choke off access to consumer credit, available credit increased, and the cost of credit declined.

#### MORE RESOURCES:

- » Americans For Financial Reform consumer finance resource page
- » The Center for Responsible Lending resource page
- » StopTheDebtTrap.org campaign page on payday lending

#### NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



## SECURE RETIREMENT FOR ALL

"I don't think I ever will [retire]. Oh jeez. I have nothing: no savings, no retirement, no nothing. I live day to day."

-FRANCINE SMITH, LINDENHURST, NEW YORK<sup>348</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

After a lifetime of hard work, we should all be able to retire with dignity. But millions of working Americans will face significant income shortfalls in retirement, creating a crisis of unprecedented levels. All three pillars of Americans' retirement security—Social Security, a pension or employer-sponsored retirement plan, and personal savings—face serious threats in a world where wealth and economic power is increasingly concentrated in a few hands.

Rising income inequality, an uncertain economy, and the lingering impacts of the Great Recession have made it difficult for Americans to save, despite working longer hours. In addition, over the last few decades employers have shifted away from offering pensions, which guarantee a fixed amount to workers upon retirement, toward retirement savings plans, such as 401(k) plans. These plans not only cost working people—associated fees can easily rise into the hundreds of thousands of dollars over the lifetime of the plan—but also shift investment risks from the employer to the employee.<sup>349</sup> As a result, workers bear the risk of losing their entire savings during a downturn in the market or outliving their savings entirely.

Employers' decision to shift away from pensions to 401(k)s disproportionately impacts women and low-income, African-American, and Latino workers. While nearly 9 out of 10 families in the top income fifth had savings in retirement accounts, fewer than 1 out of 10 in the bottom fifth had retirement account savings.<sup>350</sup> The majority of black and Latino families nearing retirement have *no* retirement savings at all.<sup>351</sup> The role of pensions in ensuring a decent standard of living upon retirement is particularly stark for African-American workers, with the poverty rate for black workers without pensions nearly 20 percent higher than that for black workers with pensions.<sup>352</sup> The shift also disadvantages women, who outlive men, earn less, and are less able to put aside savings over the course of their lifetimes.<sup>353</sup> Moreover, many people of color—who are most likely to be living paycheck to paycheck and denied opportunities to build up family wealth—have little to no savings to fall back on, and are compelled to tap into their retirement savings to weather unexpected emergencies.<sup>354</sup>

With the decline in pensions, inadequacy of 401(k)s, and increasing debt, Social Security is an important safety net for millions of retirees. Despite the program's exclusion of black workers at its start,<sup>355</sup> women and people of color particularly rely on Social Security as they increasingly

stretch payments to meet their basic needs. Unfortunately, Social Security is under threat of political attack. Congress must act to increase funding so that Americans will not face a near-30 percent cut to their benefits.<sup>356</sup> Moreover, Social Security payments to the lowest-income workers are often inadequate to shore up nonexistent or insufficient savings

	NG DATA
FULLIN	O DATA
86%	OF AMERICANS agree that Social Security benefits do not provide enough income for retirees. <sup>357</sup>
72%	OF AMERICANS agree we should consider raising Social Security benefits in order to provide a secure retirement for working Americans. <sup>358</sup>
67%	OF AMERICANS believe requiring high-income workers to pay Social Security taxes on all of their wages is a good idea. <sup>359</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

Enable working Americans to retire in dignity. America must strengthen both Social Security and workplace retirement accounts.

- Strengthening Social Security. The Social Security Expansion Act (S.427/H.R.1114), introduced in 2017, would increase Social Security benefits available to millions of retirees. The Act does the following:
  - Provides an across-the-board benefit increase to all beneficiaries of about \$65 a month.
  - Raises the minimum benefit available to lifetime low-earners.
  - Raises the tax on investment income to help pay for the expansion.
  - Closes a tax loophole so earned income above \$250,000 is subject to the payroll tax.
  - Modifies how Social Security calculates cost-of-living adjustments by using the Consumer Price Index for the Elderly, which more accurately captures the costs retirees traditionally face, such as prescription drug costs.
- Strengthening Workplace Retirement Accounts. Establish government-administered, privately managed, guaranteed retirement accounts. Key components of the plan include:<sup>360</sup>
  - Government contribution: The government contributes \$600 annually into the account

of each participating beneficiary. Professional, private sector managers invest the funds at low fees, with the government guaranteeing a rate of return of at least 3 percent to keep up with the pace of inflation.

- Mandatory participation: Everyone who lacks a retirement plan or participates in one that is not as competitive are required to participate.
- Mandatory contributions: Both employees and employers are required to contribute a minimum of 2.5 percent of the employee's wages into the account.
- Distributions: Upon retirement, participants receive an annuitized pension from their account.
- Funding: To help pay for the accounts, tax deductions to 401(k)s are capped at \$5,000 annually. This deduction disproportionately benefits high-income earners who already gain the most from the tax system.

### HOW TO GO FURTHER

While the Social Security Expansion Act, coupled with a proposal for workplace retirement accounts, would help improve retirement security for millions of Americans, more could be done. **The Social Security Caregiver Credit Act (H.R. 3337/ S. 2721)**, introduced in 2016, would provide a Social Security earnings credit to people who leave the workforce or reduce their hours to care for a loved one. Because women tend to earn less than men, have less in retirement savings, and often serve as unpaid caregivers for loved ones, a caregiver credit would go a long way in helping them to be more financially secure upon retirement.<sup>361</sup> The credit, which would range in size from \$22,000 for a full-time caregiver to \$5,500 for a caregiver who is able to work and earns \$33,000 per year, would be added to the caregiver's earnings to calculate their Social Security benefits upon retirement.<sup>362</sup>

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- After a lifetime of hard work, Americans have earned the opportunity to retire in dignity. We can expand Social Security, secure its funding stream, and make it accessible to more working people if the wealthiest Americans pay into the system at the same rate as the rest of us.
- All Americans benefit when seniors have economic security. Seniors who are more financially secure in retirement will have less need to turn to their children and families, many of whom are facing high debt and uncertain job prospects, for economic support.

• Raising Social Security payments and enabling Americans to save more will advance racial and gender equity. Public sector jobs and their associated pensions have long been vital to helping African-American workers avoid poverty in retirement, yet public sector cutbacks have put this security at risk. Women, who live longer and earn less than men over the course of their lifetimes, often have fewer resources in retirement, leaving them vulnerable. Increasing the amount of resources people of color and women have in retirement will go a long way toward addressing these inequities, and help millions of people have a decent standard of living when they retire after a lifetime of hard work.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Currently Social Security lifts 22 million Americans out of poverty.<sup>363</sup>
- » Without Social Security, more than 40 percent of senior citizens would have incomes below the poverty line. Because of Social Security benefits, just 8.8 percent of seniors live in poverty.
- » The Social Security Expansion Act will build on the success of the program, increasing the average Social Security benefit by approximately 5 percent and extending the solvency of Social Security until 2073.<sup>364</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES:

- » Dēmos resources on retirement security
- » Economic Policy Institute resources on retirement
- » Institute on Assets and Social Policy resources on economic insecurity among seniors

#### NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



## MAKE TAXES FAIR

"America has been fantastic to me. I have no problem paying whatever I need to pay to keep my country growing."

-WILL SMITH, ACTOR<sup>365</sup>

## THE PROBLEM

All of us together can do what any of us alone cannot. Together we can educate our children, train our workers, care for our elderly, and treat our sick. We can build the infrastructure, provide the services, nurture the arts, and create the housing that contribute to vibrant communities and thriving businesses. We can engage other nations through diplomacy, defend our allies and ourselves from threats, and respond to emergencies at home and abroad. We can ensure that we all have what we need to thrive and—when times are hard—survive. A fair tax system is the best way to enact these democratic investments.

The changes to our tax structure passed in December, 2017 further skew a system already rigged in favor of wealthy individuals and corporations. Even before the tax restructuring that redistributes our nation's wealth up and into private and already powerful hands, the wealthiest Americans received the most assistance from the government in building wealth, and the poorest the least. An analysis found more than half of the combined value of our 10 largest federal tax expenditures (or exclusions, deductions, credits, delays, or lowered rates, which reduce taxes for certain groups of taxpayers) went to the richest 20 percent of households. The top 1 percent of households received 17 percent of the benefits.<sup>366</sup> As the billionaire Warren Buffet has asked, "How can this be fair?"

At a time when our infrastructure is crumbling, when aid for public colleges and universities is too low, and when too many Americans cannot afford health insurance, cynical politicians beholden to wealthy donors<sup>367</sup> have voted to further reduce the share that wealthy individuals and corporations pay into our shared coffers. For instance, just 1 household with an estate of \$22 million would have an estate tax cut that equals the cost of Pell grants for 1,100 low- and moderate-income students.<sup>368</sup> Currently corporations have loopholes that allow them to get out of paying taxes if they make profits offshore, claim losses from previous years,<sup>369</sup> and pay interest on loans.<sup>370</sup> And, although the recipient of a payout for damages pays taxes on the settlement,<sup>371</sup> corporations can deduct the cost of that settlement from their taxes.<sup>372</sup> Tax policies like this exacerbate economic inequality<sup>373</sup> and the racial wealth gap. The median net worth of white households has ranged from 6 to 18 times the median net worth of Latino and African-American households from 1989 to 2016.<sup>374</sup>

These changes to our tax system will erode our nation's social and physical infrastructure, both through automatic and immediate "pay-as-you-go" cuts to a number of programs,<sup>375</sup> and through

long-term reduction in the nation's income to maintain public investment in infrastructure and social safety net programs. People of color will experience disproportionate harm from these changes to the tax structure, as they are over-represented at the low end of the income ladder, due to historic and current policies and practices of educational and occupational segregation, discrimination, and wealth stripping. However, non-Hispanic white people will comprise the largest single racial or ethnic group of people negatively affected. As the cuts starve programs that economically stabilize our lowest-income citizens and support our middle class, cynical politicians will continue to misrepresent the failure of these programs—that they have in fact sabotaged—as evidence that the programs should be further limited or eliminated.

We need a *demos*-driven tax overhaul, so we can invest in the projects that will create a more equitably prosperous society.

#### - POLLING DATA

67% OF AMERICANS think corporations pay too little in taxes.

## 63% OF AMERICANS

think upper-income people are paying too little in taxes, while 51% and 48% think middle-income and lower-income (respectively) people are paying too much in taxes.<sup>376</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

*Make taxes fair.* The following tax changes ensure that corporations and wealthy individuals pay their fair share:

- The Responsible Estate Tax Act (S. 1677/H.R. 2907) reduces the estate tax exemption and raises the maximum estate tax rate.
- The Paying a Fair Share Act of 2017 (S. 955/H.R. 2159) and Fairness in Taxation Act of 2017 (H.R. 636) increase the taxes on individual taxpayers with incomes over \$1 million. The Fairness in Taxation Act also adjusts the capital gains tax of taxpayers in the 45-percent tax bracket.
- Roll back the corporate tax cuts and close corporate tax loopholes, including but not limited to exemptions for profits made offshore, losses carried from previous years, damages paid in legal settlements, and debt interest payments.
- Restore the full deductibility of state and local taxes from federal tax returns, so that state and local governments can continue to fund their own needs and priorities without a federal penalty.

*Taxes impact nearly every policy area.* This briefing book makes the case for the following changes to the federal tax code on private equity, affordable housing, the environment, and the Earned Income Tax Credit, among others. See each individual policy section for a full understanding of the policy.

- Close tax loopholes that incentivize the risky practices of private equity firms.
  - Limit or eliminate business tax deductions for debt interest. Private equity firms rely on high levels of debt to purchase companies, leaving that debt on the balance sheets of their new holdings. Unlimited business tax deductions for debt incentivize private equity practices that risk the health of the real economy.<sup>377</sup> The Tax Fairness and Transparency Act (H.R.2057) limits tax deductions for interest expenses of most businesses to not more than 10 percent of the corporation's adjusted taxable income.
  - Eliminate the carried interest tax loophole. Carried interest is "the share of a private equity fund's profits claimed by the fund's general partner." Rather than being taxed as income, carried interest is taxed at the much lower capital gains rate. The Carried Interest Fairness Act of 2017 (S.1020/ H.R.2295) eliminates the existing loophole, taxing carried interest as earned income.
  - Enact and implement the Financial Transaction Tax, which is a small sales tax on stocks, bonds, and complex financial instruments. This tax would affect entities that engage in high-frequency, high-volume, speculative trading, while leaving individuals and firms with longer-term holdings relatively unaffected.<sup>378</sup> The Inclusive Prosperity Act (S.805) would implement a tax on certain financial transactions.
- Enact **The Common Sense Housing Investment Act (H.R.948)** currently before Congress, which includes the following provisions:
  - Reduces the amount of a mortgage eligible for a tax write-off to \$500,000, with the change phased in over 5 years.
  - Converts the mortgage interest deduction into a non-refundable 15 percent tax credit. This change, also phased in over 5 years, extends a tax cut to an additional 15 million working- and middle-class homeowners who do not benefit from the current mortgage interest deduction because they don't itemize their tax deductions.
  - Reinvests \$241 billion in savings over 10 years to support rental assistance, expanding the Low Income Housing Tax Credit, Section 8 rental assistance and the public housing capital fund, and providing permanent funding for the National Affordable Housing Trust Fund.

- Reduce dependence on fossil fuels and fund the transition to a clean energy economy through the following measures:
  - The Repeal Big Oil Tax Subsidies Act (S. 2204) eliminates \$2.4 billion in annual tax breaks for the 5 biggest fossil fuel companies.
  - **The End Polluter Welfare Act (S. 1041)** eliminates fossil fuel tax breaks and other subsidies amounting to \$11.4 billion annually.
  - Pass a revenue-positive federal polluter penalty starting with at least \$35 per ton of carbon and rising annually. The policy should also target co-pollutants from industry and other sources. Proceeds of the polluter penalty should be used for investments in clean energy, clean transportation, and energy efficiency. High-road workforce standards should be attached to any public investment in the transition, with a substantial share targeted for low-income, environmentally vulnerable communities; and another share targeted for helping displaced fossil fuel workers transition to new jobs.
- Expand the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) through The Grow American Income Now (GAIN) Act (H.R. 3757/S. 1849), which increases the value of the EITC for both families with children and childless adults, raises the income level at which the EITC phases out, lowers the qualifying age to claim the credit, and allows eligible workers to request an advance of the credit.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- All of us together can do what any of us alone cannot. When we fund our public efforts and institutions adequately, we can educate our children, train our workers, care for our elderly, and treat our sick. We can build the infrastructure, provide the services, nurture the arts, and create the housing that contribute to vibrant communities and thriving businesses. We can engage other nations through diplomacy, defend ourselves and our allies from threats, and respond to emergencies at home and abroad. We can ensure that we all have what we need to thrive and—when times are hard—survive.
- A fair tax system is the best way to enact these democratic investments. Right now, some are not paying their fair share. When big corporations dodge paying their fair share of taxes, the rest of us have to pick up the tab. At a time when our infrastructure is crumbling, when aid for public colleges and universities is being cut, and when too many Americans are being priced out of health insurance, cynical politicians beholden to wealthy donors have reduced the portion that wealthy individuals and companies pay into our shared coffers.

- Tax policies that favor the wealthy exacerbate economic inequality and the racial wealth gap. The median net worth of white households has ranged from 6 to 18 times the median net worth of Latino and African-American households from 1989 to 2016. Giving additional benefits to people who are already wealthy further widens this unfair economic divide.
- We need to rewrite the rules so the rich pay their fair share in taxes and ordinary Americans get a fair shot. We need to turn our policies right side up, so we can invest in the projects that will create a society with more equity in wealth by race and ethnicity, and create more prosperity for all.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » Rolling back the corporate tax rate cut would maintain \$644.1 billion in national revenues.<sup>379</sup>
- » Adding a transition tax to bring corporate profits back onshore could raise \$299 billion over 10 years.<sup>380</sup>
- » Closing the carried interest tax loophole to tax such income generated by private equity and other investment fund managers, real estate entities, and other individuals at higher, earned income rates could generate as much as \$180 billion over 10 years.<sup>381</sup>
- » Prohibiting corporations from deducting legal settlements could result in more than \$170 billion over 10 years.<sup>382</sup>
  - Between these 4 changes, the USDA's Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program and Child Nutrition Program could be funded at 2016 rates for a decade,<sup>383</sup> and the Department of Labor's Training and Employment Services could be funded at 2017 levels for a decade, while DOL's Wage and Hour Division (which enforces a wide range of labor laws) could have its annual budget doubled and stabilized for 10 years.<sup>384</sup>
- » Lowering the threshold for estate taxes to \$7 million per couple (from the new threshold of \$22 million per couple), and raising the rate at which inheritances are taxed to 40 percent or 45 percent as proposed in the Fairness in Taxes Act, could raise \$309 billion over 10 years<sup>385</sup> — more than *twice* the cost of the Children's Health Insurance Program over the same period of time.<sup>386</sup>

*Continued next page* 

#### HOW IT WORKS

» Expanding the EITC to childless workers as young as 21-with credits up to \$1,000-as similar proposals under President Obama and Speaker Paul Ryan would do, could keep 600,000 childless workers from being taxed into poverty, and 5.2 million more workers from being taxed deeper into poverty.<sup>387</sup>

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Prosperity Now's From Upside Down to Right Side Up: Redeploying \$540 Billion in Federal Spending to Help All Families Save, Invest, and Build Wealth
- » Center on Budget and Policy Priorities website

NOTES

Ν	0	Т	Е	S





# CURBING CORPORATE POWER

- 149 Rein in Private Equity
- 155 Protect Competition and Consumers

## REIN IN PRIVATE EQUITY

"People don't realize how much closing of stores hurts us, not just financially, but emotionally and mentally."

-JOHN CANDIA, FORMER EMPLOYEE AT WALDBAUM'S, WHICH WENT BANKRUPT AFTER A PRIVATE EQUITY LEVERAGED BUYOUT OF ITS PARENT, A&P<sup>388</sup>

#### THE PROBLEM

All of us should have the resources we need to care for our family. Our financial system pools and distributes risk and resources so that we can all share in the prosperity that we help generate.<sup>389</sup> When finance works in the public interest, we have what we need to take care of our families, create opportunities for our futures, and manage emergencies when they occur. In order to ensure that the financial industry serves this social purpose, our government regulates the industry's activities, protecting the public against the sector's market power to pull extreme profits out of the system.<sup>390</sup> But the financial industry and its political allies are on "a deregulation rampage," <sup>391</sup> threatening to let loose predatory lenders on everyday Americans and unleash big banks to return to the risky behavior that cost millions of Americans their jobs, homes, and retirement savings during the financial crisis.

"Private equity" describes a part of the financial sector that raises large amounts of money and requires long-term commitments from wealthy individuals, university endowments, public pensions, and other institutional investors; makes risky investments, frequently by accessing large amounts of debt; and often takes over ownership and management of operating companies, in order to produce large payouts for their investors.<sup>392</sup> Because of its structure, private equity escapes much of the regulation and transparency required of other financial actors.

Although private equity firms often take over managerial control of companies they own, their incentive structure rewards maximizing short-term financial returns for investors, frequently at the expense of the health of the core business and the livelihood of the workers.<sup>393</sup> Typically, private equity firms aggressively leverage debt to purchase controlling stakes in large companies, and then offload the debt onto the books of those same companies rather than holding it at the fund. Too often, this risk-taking leads to the operating company's bankruptcy, resulting in losses for workers (jobs, benefits, and pensions), vendors (pay), and bondholders (returns). But even when the private equity debt does not sink companies, managers are often rewarded for downsizing the company, which also destroys jobs and endangers communities.<sup>394</sup>

Private equity firms routinely strip the productive economy, contributing to growing economic inequality rather than broadly shared prosperity. In the wake of the housing crisis, private equity

firms like Blackstone Group began investing in housing, including taking significant positions in the single-family home market.<sup>395</sup> This opportunistic shift to investing in small residential real estate skewed the market for families looking to stabilize in the wake of the recession, and took advantage both of relatively low prices because of the weakened housing market, and of a U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development program that sold distressed notes on single-family homes at a discount. Even with down payments and loan commitments, families would have a hard time competing with investors coming with cash in hand.

Private equity's search for short-term gains also explains the failure of many retail stores at a time of economic growth and high consumer confidence. The balance sheets of numerous failing retailers are overburdened with debt from leveraged buyouts led by private equity firms.<sup>396</sup> In the next 5 years, roughly \$1 trillion of that risky debt will come due, and analysts worry that it may be set to explode the economy all over again. And, again it will be working people, particularly people of color, who bear the brunt of it.

Both crises—in housing and possibly in retail—exacerbate economic inequality, and particularly harm people of color. Black and Latino homeowners were more than 70 percent more likely to be foreclosed upon during the housing crisis than non-Hispanic whites.<sup>397</sup> While people of color make up roughly the same percentage of workers in the retail industry as in the labor force in general, they are much more likely to be in lower paid, less stable positions.<sup>398</sup> By contrast, African Americans and Latinos comprise only 11.6 percent of the asset management field (of which private equity is a part); as in retail, black and Latino private equity workers are concentrated at the lower ends of the job ladder.<sup>399</sup>

Currently, our policies do little to address these problems with private equity. Regulation of private equity remains weak, despite the oversight provided for under the Dodd-Frank financial reform law passed after the Great Recession. Our current tax laws incentivize the risky practices of private equity firms, allowing businesses to deduct the debt interest payments from their taxes, and taxing the share of fund profits that a general partner (manager) claims at a rate lower than earned income, although it is payment for service. Additionally, right now there is no sales tax on financial transactions. Finally, employment, bankruptcy, and pension laws do not adequately protect workers and communities from firms that would strip their companies of assets to distribute to investors.

#### - POLLING DATA

91% OF LIKELY 2018 GENERAL ELECTION VOTERS rate the regulation of financial services important, including 71% who believe it is very important.

Continued next page

POLLIN	NG DATA	Continued —
59%	OF VOTERS believe that Wall Street and the financial industry are still too powerful and engaged in reckless practices that pose a continuing threat to the economy people's financial well-being.	
60%	OF VOTERS —including majorities in all parties—are more likely to vote for candidates w financial regulation. <sup>400</sup>	ho support

## POLICY SOLUTION

Ensure that private equity companies pool and distribute financial risk and resources to achieve shared prosperity and sustainable growth. This goal is attained by interventions on 3 fronts: specify and strengthen the rules for private equity, close the tax loopholes that incentivize extreme risk-taking, and update employment and bankruptcy laws to ensure that private equity firms are less able to offload the risk onto working people while keeping the reward for themselves.

- Strengthen regulations to rein in private equity.
  - Protect and strengthen the Dodd-Frank Act, which aimed to limit excessive compensation that incentivizes risk-taking practices in the financial sector, including private equity firms with assets above \$1 billion. Add strong enforcement to further reduce incentives for risk.<sup>401</sup> Further, Congress needs to fund the SEC to audit required reports filed by private equity firms, as mandated by Section 404 of the Dodd-Frank Act.
  - Prohibit excessive leverage to limit risk to workers, creditors, and the economy at large.
    One way to limit overleveraging is for government to regulate the amount of debt that private equity firms can use to acquire companies, much as it limits the amount of debt an individual can use when buying stock.<sup>402</sup>
  - Protect workers' earned deferred income from bankruptcies caused by private equity firms' high-risk, asset-stripping strategies, by updating the Employment Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) and bankruptcy code. In order for any updates to be enforceable by affected workers, private equity firms would have to publicly disclose the companies they own, the financial statements of the portfolio companies, and the total assets of the firm.<sup>403</sup>
  - End the practice of selling government-owned housing stock to Wall Street speculators. Instead, prioritize community development financial institutions, non-profit

housing developers, and other companies that have a clearly defined program to create affordable housing in vacant homes and to move distressed homeowners into mortgages they can manage.<sup>404</sup>

- Close tax loopholes that incentivize the risky practices of private equity firms.
  - Limit or eliminate business tax deductions for debt interest. Private equity firms rely on high levels of debt to purchase companies, leaving that debt on the balance sheets of their new holdings. Unlimited business tax deductions for debt incentivize private equity practices that risk the health of the real economy.<sup>405</sup> The Tax Fairness and Transparency Act (H.R.2057) limits tax deductions for interest expenses of most business to not more than 10 percent of the corporation's adjusted taxable income.
  - Eliminate the carried interest tax loophole. Carried interest is the portion of a private equity fund's profits claimed by the fund's general partner. Rather than being taxed as income, carried interest is taxed at the much lower capital gains rate. The Carried Interest Fairness Act of 2017 (S.1020/ H.R.2295) eliminates the existing loophole, taxing carried interest as earned income.
  - Enact and implement the Financial Transaction Tax, which is a small sales tax on stocks, bonds, and complex financial instruments. This tax would affect entities that engage in high-frequency, high-volume, speculative trading, while leaving individuals and firms with longer-term holdings relatively unaffected.<sup>406</sup> The Inclusive Prosperity Act (S.805) would implement a tax on certain financial transactions.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- All of us should have the resources we need to care for our families. Our financial system pools and distributes risk and resources so that we can all share in the prosperity that we help generate. When finance works in the public interest, we have what we need to take care of our families, create opportunities for our futures, and manage emergencies when they occur. In order to ensure that the financial industry serves this social purpose, we need rules to protect the public against the sector's market power to pull extreme profits away from our shared needs and put it into the pockets of a greedy few.
- Private equity is especially problematic because the industry focuses exclusively on investors' interests—keeping the financial reward for them, and offloading the risk to the workers and communities of the companies they buy. These firms typically use an aggressive amount of debt in order to buy companies, and then offload that debt onto the companies' books, jeopardizing the financial viability of the businesses they acquire. This means that workers may

lose jobs, pensions, and any semblance of the economic stability they need in order for their communities to thrive, people may get pushed out of their homes, and customers may see a dramatic rise in price or steep decline in the quality and access to goods like medicines that they depend on. While a wide range of people of all races stand to lose as employees, homeowners, and customers, the winners are disproportionately white and rich.

• We can rein in the risky behavior of private equity by making rules to ensure that it contributes to our communities' economic stability, incentivizing responsible behavior and keeping the risk with the company. We need tax changes, and updates to our employment, bankruptcy, and pension laws, to protect workers from the risks private equity firms take.

#### HOW IT WORKS

Private equity is incentivized and enabled by a range of policies, so a multifaceted approach is needed to rein it in.

- » Economists estimate that a well-designed financial transaction tax would raise about \$50 billion per year in the United States, while encouraging longer-term investment and reducing the incentives for financial speculation that harms working people, consumers, and the overall stability of our economy.<sup>407</sup>
- » Closing the carried interest loophole would simply tax the earned income of fund managers as earned income, rather than as investment income. The Congressional Budget Office estimated the tax revenue from this change at \$17 billion over 10 years.<sup>408</sup>
- » Limiting private equity's ability to use excessive debt to purchase companies is similar to the existing SEC regulation on the amount of debt individuals can use when acquiring stocks, which was implemented in the wake of the 1929 stock market crash exacerbated, in large part, by the excessive amount of debt used to purchase stocks during the bubble.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Americans for Financial Reform on systemic risk
- » Center for Economic and Policy Research on private equity and the Financial Transaction Tax
- » Dēmos on private equity and financialization and equal opportunity
- » Center for Popular Democracy on distressed mortgages

NOTES	

## PROTECT COMPETITION AND CONSUMERS

"Have you noticed that prices of prescription drugs including generics are skyrocketing? The public is being squeezed by the pharmaceutical industry to pay increasing prices for the same medications... My concern is for the effects these corporate machinations have on the people the companies profit from."

-GARY PEPPER, M.D.

## THE PROBLEM

American businesses can provide high-quality products at competitive costs to their customers and clients, create fair and meaningful jobs for their employees, and innovate within their industries. When they compete fairly on a level playing field, good businesses anchor and serve our communities. Yet over the past 3 decades, the field has tilted, as policymakers have permitted corporate giants to form and take over an increasing share of our economy. With consolidated power, corporations are enriching themselves and their executives at the expense of millions of consumers, workers, and innovative would-be competitors. This threatens economic opportunity and fairness, as well as the strength of American democracy.

More than 125 years ago, America was at a similar juncture in terms of the concentration of political and economic power in a few hands. In 1890, Congress passed the Sherman Antitrust Act, followed by the Clayton Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, and other laws that tried to ensure marketplace competition. The basis for these laws was that the concentration of economic power would inevitably lead to the concentration of political power, hurting our democracy. Antitrust policy was not based on economic analysis alone, but on the impacts of economic concentration affecting our society and faith in our institutions.

Starting in the 1970s, antitrust policy was hijacked by an army of economists and lawyers representing corporate interests. They narrowed anti-monopoly laws, shifting the focus exclusively to particular, short-term effects of a merger on price and output. They argued that all markets were naturally competitive, placing the burden of proof on regulators to show otherwise. As a result, it became difficult to regulate and rein in anti-competitive behavior by large firms, such as predatory pricing. Free market fundamentalists took control of interpreting antitrust law from both parties. For example, 20 years ago federal regulators under President Bill Clinton approved the merger of 2 of the biggest oil companies, creating the oil giant Exxon Mobil.

As laws have weakened and enforcement waned, corporate mergers and consolidations have surged. Half of all publicly traded companies have disappeared over the past 4 decades,<sup>409</sup> and consumer choices have been dramatically limited as a result. Today 80 percent of seats on airplanes are

sold by just 4 airlines. CVS and Walgreens dominate the pharmacy business. Most communities have only 1 cable company, 1 provider of electricity, and 1 gas company. Google and Facebook control nearly 75 percent of the \$73 billion market in digital advertising.<sup>410</sup>

The growth of corporate concentration harms workers. As industries are allowed to become more concentrated, corporations gain greater control over wages, suppressing pay.<sup>411</sup> Employers are actively weakening the ability for workers to change jobs, increase their pay, and get better benefits. Nearly 20 percent of American workers have agreed to sign noncompete clauses, restricting their ability to change jobs and gain bargaining power in employer-employee arrangements. This proportion of workers is much higher than the number of workers who actually have access to trade secrets that could harm their employers if taken to a competitor.

This level of corporate concentration infects our democracy. When companies succeed in restricting competition and extracting enormous profits, they have extra resources and incentives to influence political and federal regulatory policy decisions. Lobbying expenses on behalf of corporate business sectors dwarf the lobbying expenses of public interest groups such as labor, non-profit entities, and single-issue organizations, which combined spend just 9 percent of the amount the private sector invests in influencing policymakers.<sup>412</sup>

#### POLLING DATA

66%	OF VOTERS view corporate monopolies negatively. <sup>413</sup>
70%	OF RUST BELT VOTERS view corporate monopolies negatively.
50%	OF AMERICANS believe that government needs to regulate business in order to protect the public interest. <sup>414</sup>

## POLICY SOLUTION

Prevent corporate consolidation that benefits companies at the expense of consumers, workers, and small businesses.

- The Merger Enforcement Improvement Act (S. 1811) promotes merger enforcement and protects competition through the following provisions:
  - Adjusts pre-merger filing fees.
  - Increases antitrust enforcement resources.
  - Improves information provided to antitrust enforcers.

- The Consolidation Prevention and Competition Promotion Act of 2017 (S. 1812) promotes competition and prevents harmful consolidation by updating the Clayton Act with the following provisions:
  - Prohibits mergers that lower quality, reduce choice and innovation, exclude competitors, increase entry barriers, or increase price. This Act requires regulators to look at whether mergers reduce wages, cut jobs, lower product quality, limit access to services, stifle innovation, and hurt the ability for competitive marketplaces.
  - Sets new merger standards that require a broader, longer-term view, looking at how mergers hurt marketplace competition. The assumption is that big mergers will be anti-competitive, and the merging firms have to prove otherwise.
  - Establishes a process to review completed mergers for unforeseen anti-competitive impacts. In order to ensure that companies keep their commitments and to maintain a competitive marketplace after an approved merger, the Act requires regular Federal Trade Commission or Assistant Attorney General reviews of completed mergers. Regulators could take corrective measures if they find abusive monopolistic conditions.
  - Creates an Office of Competition Advocate to research current market activity, receive consumer complaints, and recommend investigations of anti-competitive behavior to the Federal Trade Commissions and the Department of Justice. The office serves as an advocate for competition, and compiles and publishes data regularly on market concentration and abuses of economic power.

## HOW TO TALK ABOUT IT

- Concentrating wealth and power in the hands of the selfish few limits opportunity for the rest of us. When corporations use their market power to keep prices high or limit opportunities for innovative or lower-cost competitors, everyone loses—innovators, small-business people, consumers, workers.
- Monopoly is a major source of inequality today. Exorbitant profits concentrate more wealth in the hands of the few. Large firms dominate the U.S economy. Half of all publicly traded companies have disappeared over the past 4 decades,<sup>415</sup> and the pace is quickening: 2015 set a record for the most mergers in a year, and October 2016 set a record for most mergers in a month.<sup>416</sup> Consumer choices have been dramatically limited as a result. Today 80 percent of seats on airplanes are sold by just 4 airlines. CVS and Walgreens dominate the pharmacy business. Most communities have only 1 cable company, 1 provider of electricity, and 1 gas company. Google and Facebook control nearly 75 percent of the \$73 billion market in digital

advertising.<sup>417</sup> Monopolies mean sky-high prices by drug companies and rampant abuses by cable providers, health plans, and airlines. Monopolies have translated into too much money infecting our democracy as well.

• Monopolies are crushing small businesses and companies owned by people of color. The last 30 years have brought the collapse of black-owned independent businesses and financial institutions. In 1985, 60 black-owned banks provided financial services to their communities. Today, we have only 23.<sup>418</sup> Tens of thousands of black-owned retail establishments and local service companies have disappeared, after going out of business or being acquired by larger companies. Rates of business ownership and entrepreneurship are falling among African Americans for much the same reason they are declining among whites and Latinos: As corporations have grown and consolidated, the possibility of starting and maintaining an independent business has dropped.

#### HOW IT WORKS

- » When regulators vigorously pursue antitrust efforts, consumers and competition benefit.
- » For example, in 2014, New York Attorney General Eric Schneiderman brought a lawsuit against pharmaceutical manufacturer Allergan for forcing Alzheimer's patients to switch medications as part of an anti-competitive strategy designed to maintain high drug prices by deterring generic competitors.
- » As a result of the successful suit, hundreds of thousands of Alzheimer's patients retained a choice of medication, and the public was saved hundreds of millions of dollars in unnecessary drug costs.

#### MORE RESOURCES

- » Open Markets website
- » Joseph Stiglitz on America's monopoly problem

Ν	0	Т	Е	S



## ENDNOTES

- <sup>1</sup> Marketplace Edison Anxiety Index, Edison Research, April 2017, 48. https://cms.marketplace.org/sites/default/ files/Marketplace%20edison%20anxiety%20index%20spring%202017.pdf.
- <sup>2</sup> Anxiety Index Data, Edison Research, October 2016, 31-33. https://cms.marketplace.org/sites/default/files/ anxiety-index-data.pdf.
- <sup>3</sup> Anxiety Index Data.
- <sup>4</sup> Aric Jenkins, "See What Puerto Rico's Blackout Looks Like From Space," *Time*, September 26, 2017, http://time.com/4957119/puerto-rico-hurricane-maria-power-outage-photos/.
- <sup>5</sup> Paul Griffin, The CDP Carbon Majors Report, CDP, 2017. https://www.cdp.net/en/articles/media/new-reportshows-just-100-companies-are-source-of-over-70-of-emissions.
- <sup>6</sup> The Price Tag of Being Young: Climate Change and Millennials' Economic Future, Dēmos and NextGen Climate, August 2016. http://www.demos.org/publication/price-tag-being-young-climate-change-and-millennialseconomic-future.
- <sup>7</sup> Matthew J. Kotchen, Zachary M. Turk, and Anthony A. Leiserowitz, "Public Willingness to Pay for a US Carbon Tax and Preferences for Spending the Revenue," *Environmental Research Letters*, September 13, 2017, http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/aa822a.
- <sup>8</sup> See the infographic here, from the Yale Program on Climate Change Communication: http:// climatecommunication.yale.edu/visualizations-data/majority-registered-voters-want-done-global-warming/.
- <sup>9</sup> See infographic at http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/visualizations-data/half-latinos-participate-campaignconvince-elected-officials-act-global-warming/.
- <sup>10</sup> Green for All press release, November 4, 2015. https://www.greenforall.org/poll\_shows\_african\_americans\_ strongly\_back\_climate\_action.
- <sup>11</sup> Rachel Cleetus, Steven Clemmer, and David Friedman, Climate 2030: A National Blueprint for a Clean Energy Economy, (Cambridge, MA: Union of Concerned Scientists, 2009), https://www.ucsusa.org/global\_warming/ solutions/reduce-emissions/climate-2030-blueprint.html#.WjHCd7pFzZs.
- <sup>12</sup> A NextGen Climate study of Ohio and Pennsylvania found that in 2015 power plant pollution alone caused 4,400 deaths and generated health care costs upward of \$38 billion. A summary of the study: https://nextgenpolicy.org/blog/our-air/.
- <sup>13</sup> Corinne Ramey, "America's Unfair Rules of the Road: How Our Transportation System Discriminates Against the Most Vulnerable," *Slate*, February 27, 2015, http://www.slate.com/articles/news\_and\_politics/ politics/2015/02/america\_s\_transportation\_system\_discriminates\_against\_minorities\_and\_poor.html.
- <sup>14</sup> Algernon Austin, To Move Is To Thrive: Public Transit And Economic Opportunity For People Of Color, Demos, 2017. http://www.demos.org/publication/move-thrive-public-transit-and-economic-opportunity-people-color.
- <sup>15</sup> Raj Chetty and Nathaniel Hendren, The Impacts of Neighborhoods on Intergenerational Mobility: Childhood Exposure Effects and County-Level Estimate, National Bureau of Economic Research, 2015. https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hendren/files/nbhds\_paper.pdf.
- <sup>16</sup> David Schrank, Bill Eisele, Tim Lomax, and Jim Bak, 2015 Urban Mobility Scorecard, (Kirkland, WA and College Station, TX: Inrix; Texas A&M Transportation Institute, 2015), https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/ mobility-scorecard-2015.pdf.

- <sup>17</sup> "Voters in Presidential Election Express Bi-partisan Support for Investment in America's Public Transit Infrastructure, According to Poll," American Public Transportation Association, 2016. http://www.apta.com/mediacenter/pressreleases/2016/Pages/2016-Voters-Poll.aspx.
- <sup>18</sup> American Society of Civil Engineers, "Transit: \$90 Billion Transit Maintenance Backlog," 2017 Infrastructure Report Card (Reston, VA: American Society of Civil Engineers, 2017), https://www.infrastructurereportcard. org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Transit-Final.pdf.
- <sup>19</sup> American Public Transportation Association, "Public Transit Benefits," 2017. http://www.apta.com/mediacenter/ptbenefits/Pages/default.aspx.
- <sup>20</sup> Maureen McDonald, "Dangerous Waters: 9,000 Flint Residents Sue Over Tainted Water," Daily Beast, November 29, 2017, https://www.thedailybeast.com/9000-flint-residents-sue-over-tainted-water.
- <sup>21</sup> America's Grades, American Society of Civil Engineers, 2017, https://www.infrastructurereportcard.org/americas-grades/.
- <sup>22</sup> Josh Bivens, The Potential Macroeconomic Benefits from Increasing Infrastructure Investment, Economic Policy Institute, July 18, 2017, http://www.epi.org/publication/the-potential-macroeconomic-benefits-fromincreasing-infrastructure-investment/.
- <sup>23</sup> Algernon Austin, Infrastructure Principles for Racial Equity: How the People's Budget Helps and Trump's Budget Hurts, Dēmos, May 3, 2017, http://www.demos.org/blog/5/3/17/infrastructure-priorities-racial-equity-howpeople%E2%80%99s-budget-helps-and-trump%E2%80%99s-budget-hur.
- <sup>24</sup> Alan Pyke, "Top Infrastructure Officials Explains How America Used Highways to Destroy Black Neighborhoods," Think Progress, March 26, 2016, https://thinkprogress.org/top-infrastructure-officialexplains-how-america-used-highways-to-destroy-black-neighborhoods-96c1460d1962/.
- <sup>25</sup> Hunter Blair, What is the Ideal Mix of Federal, State and Local Government Investment in Infrastructure, Economic Policy Institute, September 11, 2017. http://www.epi.org/publication/what-is-the-ideal-mix-of-federal-stateand-local-government-investment-in-infrastructure/.

- <sup>27</sup> Ben Ryan, "Infrastructure Spending Deemed Most Important Trump Promise," *Gallup News*, January 20, 2017, http://news.gallup.com/poll/202691/infrastructure-spending-deemed-important-trump-promise.aspx.
- <sup>28</sup> Jennifer Agiesta, "CNN/ORC Poll: Most Back Boost in Infrastructure Spending, Oppose Growing Military Budget," CNN.com, March 18, 2017, http://www.cnn.com/2017/03/08/politics/donald-trump-poll-spendingdefense-infrastructure/index.html?adkey=bn.
- <sup>29</sup> "21st Century New Deal for Jobs," Congressional Progressive Caucus, May 25, 2017, https://cpc-grijalva.house. gov/uploads/A%2021st%20Century%20New%20Deal%20For%20Jobs%205.25.2017.pdf.

<sup>30</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>31</sup> "Our Principles," MillionsofJobs.org, https://www.millionsofjobs.org/principles/.
- <sup>32</sup> "21st Century New Deal for Jobs," Congressional Black Caucus, May 25, 2017, https://cpc-grijalva.house.gov/21st-century-new-deal-for-jobs.
- <sup>33</sup> 2017 Infrastructure Report Card Roads, American Society of Civil Engineers, 2017, https://www.infrastructurereportcard.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Roads-Final.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>34</sup> Josh Bivens, The Potential Macroeconomic Benefits from Increasing Infrastructure Investment, Economic Policy Institute, July 18, 2017. http://www.epi.org/publication/the-potential-macroeconomic-benefits-fromincreasing-infrastructure-investment/.
- <sup>35</sup> Connie Razza and Louise Auerhahn, A Hidden Crisis: Underemployment in Silicon Valley's Hourly Workforce, Center for Popular Democracy, Working Partnerships USA, Fair Workweek Initiative, April 2016, 7. http://populardemocracy.org/sites/default/files/A%20Hidden%20Crisis\_revised\_160420.4.pdf.
- <sup>36</sup> Juan F. Perea, "The Echoes of Slavery: Recognizing the Racist Origins of the Agricultural and Domestic Worker Exclusion from the National Labor Relations Act," Ohio State Law Journal, 195 (2011). https://lawecommons. luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1150&context=facpubs.
- <sup>37</sup> Zoe Ziliak Michel and Liz Ben-Ishai, Good Jobs for All: Racial Inequities in Job Quality, Center for Law and Social Policy, 2016. https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/publications/2017/04/Race-and-Job-Quality-Brief-3\_30ar.docx-FINAL.pdf.
- <sup>38</sup> Irene Tung, Yannet Lathrop, and Paul Sonn, *The Growing Movement for* \$15, National Employment Law Project, 2015. http://www.nelp.org/content/uploads/Growing-Movement-for-15-Dollars.pdf.
- <sup>39</sup> Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Selected Paid Leave Benefits: Access, March 2017," Last Modified Date: November 21, 2017. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/ebs2.t06.htm.
- <sup>40</sup> David Cooper and Teresa Kroeger, Employers Steal Billions from Workers' Paychecks Each Year, Economic Policy Institute, 2017. http://www.epi.org/files/pdf/125116.pdf.
- <sup>41</sup> Catherine Ruckelshaus, Independent Contractor Vs. Employee, National Employment Law Project, 2016. http://www.nelp.org/publication/independent-contractor-vs-employee/.
- <sup>42</sup> "Americans' Views on Income Inequality and Workers' Rights," *The New York Times*, June 3, 2015, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/06/03/business/income-inequality-workers-rightsinternational-trade-poll.html?\_r=0.
- <sup>43</sup> "August 2016 Political Survey," Pew Research Center, 2016. http://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/ sites/5/2016/08/August-political-topline-for-release.pdf.
- <sup>44</sup> "Civic Analytics National Fair Workweek Poll," Center for Popular Democracy, 2017, http://populardemocracy. org/sites/default/files/Fair%20Workweek%20Poll%20Memo.pdf.
- <sup>45</sup> Language derives from Working for a Better Life, AFL-CIO.
- <sup>46</sup> Language derives from Putting Families First: Good Jobs for All, Center for Community Change.
- <sup>47</sup> David Cooper, Raising The Minimum Wage to \$15 By 2024 Would Lift Wages for 41 Million American Workers, Economic Policy Institute, 2017. http://www.epi.org/publication/15-by-2024-would-lift-wages-for-41-million/.
- <sup>48</sup> Paul J. Wolfson and Dale Belman, "15 Years of Research on U.S. Employment and the Minimum Wage," Tuck School of Business Working Paper (2016). http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2705499. John Schmitt, Why Does the Minimum Wage Have No Discernible Effect on Employment? Center for Economic Policy Research, 2013. http://cepr.net/documents/publications/min-wage-2013-02.pdf.
- <sup>49</sup> Paid Sick Days: Low Cost, High Reward for Workers, Employers and Communities, National Partnership for Women and Families, 2017. http://www.nationalpartnership.org/research-library/work-family/psd/paid-sick-days-lowcost-high-reward.pdf.
- <sup>50</sup> Stefan Pichler and Nicolas R. Ziebarth, "The Pros and Cons of Sick Pay Schemes: Testing for Contagious Presenteeism and Noncontagious Absenteeism Behavior," *Journal of Public Economics*, 2017. http://www.nber. org/papers/w22530.pdf.
- <sup>51</sup> "Meet Jameka Evans," Out at Work, (Lambda Legal, 2017), https://outat.work/meet-jameka.
- <sup>52</sup> Tomaz Cajner, et. al. "Racial Gaps in Labor Market Outcomes in the Last Four Decades and over the Business Cycle," *Finance and Economics Discussion Series*, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2017. https://doi.org/10.17016/FEDS.2017.071.
- <sup>53</sup> Lincoln Quillian et. al., "Meta-analysis of Field Experiments Shows No Change in Racial Discrimination in Hiring Over Time," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 114 no. 41 (2017). doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1706255114 http://www.pnas.org/content/114/41/10870.full.
- <sup>54</sup> FAQ About the Wage Gap, National Women's Law Center, 2017. https://nwlc.org/resources/faq-about-thewage-gap/.
- <sup>55</sup> FAQ About the Wage Gap.
- <sup>56</sup> Feminism Survey, Washington Post and Kaiser Family Foundation, January 2016. http://files.kff.org/attachment/ topline-methodology-washington-post-kaiser-family-foundation-feminism-survey.
- <sup>57</sup> YouGov poll, June 16 18, 2014. http://cdn.yougov.com/cumulus\_uploads/document/y2091h9r24/tabs\_HP\_ discrimination\_20140618.pdf.
- <sup>58</sup> "EEOC Dramatically Reduces Charge Inventory," U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, November 9, 2017. https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/newsroom/release/11-9-17.cfm.
- <sup>59</sup> "EEOC Dramatically Reduces Charge Inventory."
- <sup>60</sup> Laura G. Barron and Michelle Hebl, "The Force of Law: The Effects of Sexual Orientation Antidiscrimination Legislation on Interpersonal Discrimination in Employment," *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 19(2), (2013). doi: 10.1037/a0028350.
- <sup>61</sup> Research Supports Fair-Chance Policies, National Employment Law Project, 2016. http://www.nelp.org/content/ uploads/Fair-Chance-Ban-the-Box-Research.pdf.
- <sup>62</sup> Chris Isidore, "Tesla Fired Union Supporters, UAW Says," CNN Tech, October 26, 2017, http://money.cnn. com/2017/10/26/technology/tesla-uaw-firings/index.html.
- <sup>63</sup> Josh Bivens et. al., How Today's Unions Help Working People, Economic Policy Institute, 2017. http://www.epi.org/ publication/how-todays-unions-help-working-people-giving-workers-the-power-to-improve-their-jobs-andunrig-the-economy/.
- <sup>64</sup> Bruce Western and Jake Rosenfeld, "Unions, Norms, and the Rise in U.S. Wage Inequality," American Sociological Review vol. 76 (2011), 513–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122411414817.
- <sup>65</sup> Bivens et. al., How Today's Unions Help Working People.
- <sup>66</sup> Cherrie Bucknor, *Black Workers, Unions, and Inequality*, Center for Economic Policy Research, 2016. http://cepr.net/publications/reports/black-workers-unions-and-inequality.
- <sup>67</sup> Josh Bivens and Lawrence Mishel, Understanding the Historic Divergence Between Productivity and a Typical Worker's Pay, Economic Policy Institute, 2015. http://www.epi.org/publication/understanding-the-historicdivergence-between-productivity-and-a-typical-workers-pay-why-it-matters-and-why-its-real/.
- <sup>68</sup> Kate Bronfenbrenner, No Holds Barred: The Intensification of Employer Opposition to Organizing, Economic Policy Institute and American Rights at Work Education Fund, 2009. http://www.epi.org/publication/bp235/.

<sup>69</sup> Bronfenbrenner, No Holds Barred.

- <sup>70</sup> U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members-2016," 2017. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/union2.pdf.
- <sup>71</sup> Emmanuel Saez, "Striking it Richer," 2016. https://eml.berkeley.edu/~saez/saez-UStopincomes-2015.pdf.
- <sup>72</sup> Western and Rosenfeld, "Unions, Norms"; Lawrence Mishel, Josh Bivens, Elise Gould, and Heidi Shierholz, The State of Working America, 12th Edition, Economic Policy Institute, 2012.
- <sup>73</sup> Art Swift, Labor Union Approval Best Since 2003, Gallup, 2017. http://news.gallup.com/poll/217331/labor-unionapproval-best-2003.aspx.
- <sup>74</sup> Shiva Maniam, Most Americans See Labor Unions, Corporations Favorably, Pew Research Center, 2017. http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/01/30/most-americans-see-labor-unions-corporations-favorably/.
- <sup>75</sup> Language derives from Words that Work for Collective Bargaining, AFL-CIO and Jobs with Justice, 2017. https:// smlr.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/documents/CWH\_Docs/collective\_bargaining\_jwj\_Irp\_aso\_finalreally.pdf.
- <sup>76</sup> Bivens et. al., How Today's Unions Help Working People.
- <sup>77</sup> Strong Unions, Stronger Communities, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 2017. https://www.afscme.org/news/publications/body/AFSCME-Strong-Unions-Stronger-Communities.pdf.
- <sup>78</sup> Elise Gould and Will Kimball, 'Right-to-Work' States Still Have Lower Wages, Economic Policy Institute, 2015. http://www.epi.org/publication/right-to-work-states-have-lower-wages/.
- <sup>79</sup> David Andolfatto and Andrew Spewak, "Why Do Unemployment Rates Vary by Race and Ethnicity?," On the Economy Blog (St. Louis: Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, February 6, 2017), https://www.stlouisfed.org/onthe-economy/2017/february/why-unemployment-rates-vary-races-ethnicity.
- <sup>80</sup> Robert Cherry, "The Jobless Rate for Young Black Men is a Disgrace," *RealClear Policy*, September 2, 2016. http://www.realclearpolicy.com/blog/2016/09/02/the\_jobless\_rate\_for\_young\_black\_men\_is\_a\_national\_ disgrace.html.
- <sup>81</sup> Tomaz Cajner, Tyler Radler, David Ratner, and Ivan Vidang, "Racial Gaps in Labor Market Outcomes in the Last Four Decades and Over the Business Cycle," *Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2017-071* (Washington, DC, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System: June 12, 2017), https://www.federalreserve.gov/ econres/feds/files/2017071pap.pdf.
- <sup>82</sup> A summary of the report, *Few Rewards*, is available at https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/stories/millions-of-low-wage-workers-in-the-us-are-struggling-to-survive/.
- <sup>83</sup> Jeffrey M. Jones, "Americans Widely Back Government Job Creation Proposal," Gallup News, March 2013, http://news.gallup.com/poll/161438/americans-widely-back-government-job-creation-proposals.aspx.
- <sup>84</sup> YouGov/Huffington Post poll, January 2014, https://today.yougov.com/news/2014/01/09/poll-resultsguaranteed-jobs-and-basic-income/.
- <sup>85</sup> Neera Tanden, et. al., Toward a Marshall Plan for America, Center for American Progress, May 16, 2017. https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2017/05/16/432499/toward-marshall-plan-america/.
- <sup>86</sup> Mark Paul, William Darity, Jr., Darrick Hamilton, and Anne E. Price, "Returning to the Promise of Full Employment," Samuel Dubois Cook Center on Social Equity, New School for Social Research, Insight Center for Community Economic Development, Research Brief (Vol. 2), June 2017, https://insightcced.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/06/insight\_fjg\_brief\_2017.pdf. Their full report is forthcoming.
- <sup>87</sup> Paul, "Returning to the Promise of Full Employment."

<sup>88</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>89</sup> Shervin Assari, "Employment Helps White Men's Health More than Women and Blacks," *The Conversation*, June 22, 2017, https://theconversation.com/employment-helps-white-mens-health-more-than-women-andblacks-79554.
- <sup>90</sup> Jared Bernstein, "The Black-White Unemployment Gap Is at an All-Time Low. Here's How to Keep It There," Washington Post, July 13, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2017/07/13/ the-black-white-unemployment-gap-is-at-an-all-time-low-heres-how-to-keep-it-there/?utm\_term=. f0b84fdcddde.
- <sup>91</sup> Value All Care, Value Every Family, Family Values at Work, 2015. http://www.familyvaluesatwork.org/docs/ valueallcare.pdf.
- <sup>92</sup> Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Paid Leave Benefits: Access, March 2017," 2017. https://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/ benefits/2017/ownership/private/table32a.htm.
- <sup>93</sup> Sarah Jane Glynn and Jane Farrell, Latinos Least Likely to Have Paid Leave or Workplace Flexibility, Center for American Progress, 2012. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2012/11/20/45394/ latinos-least-likely-to-have-paid-leave-or-workplace-flexibility/.
- <sup>94</sup> Amy Traub, Robert Hiltonsmith and Tamara Draut, The Parent Trap: The Economic Insecurity of Families with Young Children, Dēmos, 2016. http://www.demos.org/publication/parent-trap-economic-insecurity-families-youngchildren.
- <sup>95</sup> 2017 National Poll: Research Summary, First Five Years Fund, 2017. https://ffyf.org/resources/2017-nationalpoll-research-summary/.
- <sup>96</sup> Taylor Tepper, "Amazon's Paid Leave," Money, November 3, 2015. http://time.com/money/4098026/amazonpaid-parental-leave-benefits/.
- <sup>97</sup> Opinion Poll: Small Businesses Support Paid Family Leave Programs, Small Business Majority and the Center for American Progress, 2017. http://www.smallbusinessmajority.org/our-research/workforce/small-businessessupport-paid-family-leave-programs.
- <sup>98</sup> Barbara Gault, et. al., Paid Parental Leave in the United States: What the Data Tell Us About Access, Usage, and Economic and Health Benefits, Institute for Women's Policy Research, 2014. https://iwpr.org/wp-content/ uploads/wpallimport/files/iwpr-export/publications/B334-Paid%20Parental%20Leave%20in%20the%20 United%20States.pdf.
- <sup>99</sup> Lauren Windmeyer, "Women Benefit Most When Men Take Paternity Leave," Harvard Kennedy School Review, December 4, 2015. http://harvardkennedyschoolreview.com/women-benefit-most-when-mentake-paternity-leave/.
- <sup>100</sup> Zoe Ziliak Michel and Liz Ben-Ishai, Good Jobs for All: Racial Inequities in Job Quality, Center for Law and Social Policy, 2016. https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/publications/2017/04/Race-and-Job-Quality-Brief-3\_30ar.docx-FINAL.pdf.
- <sup>101</sup> Glynn and Farrell, Latinos Least Likely to Have Paid Leave.
- <sup>102</sup> Paid Family and Medical Leave: An Overview, National Partnership for Women and Families, 2017. http://www. nationalpartnership.org/research-library/work-family/paid-leave/paid-family-and-medical-leave.pdf.
- <sup>103</sup> For a summary of research on this topic, see: Barbara Gault, et. al., Paid Parental Leave.
- <sup>104</sup> For a summary of research on this topic, see: Barbara Gault, et. al., Paid Parental Leave.
- <sup>105</sup> Maria C. Huerta et. al., "Fathers' Leave and Fathers' Involvement: Evidence from Four OECD Countries," European Journal of Social Security 16.4 (2014): 308–346. DOI: 10.1177/138826271401600403.

- <sup>106</sup> Maya Rossin-Slater, Christopher J. Ruhm and Jane Waldfogel, The Effects of California's Paid Family Leave Program on Mothers' Leave-Taking and Subsequent Labor Market Outcomes, National Bureau of Economic Research, 2011. http://www.nber.org/papers/w17715.pdf.
- <sup>107</sup> Eileen Appelbaum and Ruth Milkman, Leaves That Pay: Employer and Worker Experiences With Paid Family Leave in California, Center for Economic Policy Research, 2011. http://cepr.net/documents/publications/paid-familyleave-1-2011.pdf.
- <sup>108</sup> Applebaum and Milkman, Leaves that Pay.
- <sup>109</sup> Emily Jane Fox, "I Got Into My Dream School, But Can't Afford to Go," *CNN Money*, May 11, 2015, http://money.cnn.com/2015/05/11/pf/college/college-financial-aid/index.html.
- <sup>110</sup> College Board, "Trends in College Pricing 2017," 2017, https://trends.collegeboard.org/college-pricing/ figures-tables/tuition-fees-room-and-board-over-time.
- <sup>111</sup> Michael Mitchell, Michael Leachman, and Kathleen Masterson, A Lost Decade in Higher Education Funding, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, August 23, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/research/ state-budget-and-tax/a-lost-decade-in-higher-education-funding.
- <sup>112</sup> College Board, "Trends in Student Aid 2017," 2017, https://trends.collegeboard.org/student-aid.
- <sup>113</sup> Mark Huelsman, The Debt Divide: The Racial and Class Bias Behind the "New Normal" of Student Borrowing, Demos. May 19, 2015. http://www.demos.org/publication/debt-divide-racial-and-classbias-behind-new-normal-student-borrowing.
- <sup>114</sup> Paul Fain, "Default Crisis for Black Student Borrowers." *Inside Higher Ed*, October 17, 2017, https://www. insidehighered.com/news/2017/10/17/half-black-student-loan-borrowers-default-new-federal-data-show.
- <sup>115</sup> Ben Miller, New Federal Data Show a Student Loan Crisis for African American Borrowers, Center for American Progress, October 16, 2017. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/news/2017/10/16/440711/ new-federal-data-show-student-loan-crisis-african-american-borrowers/.
- <sup>116</sup> Angela Boatman, Brent J. Evans, and Adela Soliz, "Understanding Loan Aversion in Education." AERA Open 3 (1), 2017; and Sara Goldrick-Rab and Robert Kelchen, "Making Sense of Loan Aversion: Evidence from Wisconsin," Student Loans and the Dynamics of Debt, 317–78 (2015): doi:10.17848/9780880994873.ch10.
- <sup>117</sup> "New National Poll Shows 80% of Americans Support Addressing College Affordability Crisis," Dēmos, October 7, 2016. http://www.demos.org/press-release/new-national-poll-shows-80-americans-supportaddressing-college-affordability-crisis.
- <sup>118</sup> "Morning Consult National Tracking Poll #170911: Crosstabulation Results," Morning Consult & Politico, September 17, 2017, https://morningconsult.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/170911\_crosstabs\_Politico\_ LIM\_v1\_AP-1.pdf.
- <sup>119</sup> Judith Scott-Clayton, "The Role of Financial Aid in Promoting College Access and Success: Research Evidence and Proposals for Reform." *Journal of Student Financial Aid* 45, no. 3 (November 2, 2015): 6–22. https://publications.nasfaa.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google. com/&httpsredir=1&article=1586&context=jsfa.
- <sup>120</sup> Ray Franke, "Toward the Education Nation? Revisiting the Impact of Financial Aid, College Experience, and Institutional Context on Baccalaureate Degree Attainment for Low Income Students," *American Educational Research Association*, April 3, 2014. http://www.aera.net/Newsroom/Recent-AERA-Research/Toward-the-Education-Nation-Revisiting-the-Impact-of-Financial-Aid-College-Experience-and-Institutional-Context-on-Baccalaureate-Degree-Attainment-for-Low-Income-Students.

- <sup>121</sup> "Haslam Announces 81 Percent Retention Rate for Promise Students," Office of the Governor of Tennessee, April 7, 2016. https://www.tn.gov/governor/news/2016/4/7/haslam-announces-81-percent-retention-rate-forpromise-students.html.
- <sup>122</sup> "The Impact of Promise Programs: What Do We Know?" Upjohn Institute, November 10, 2015. http://www.upjohn.org/sites/default/files/pdf/PromiseNet-Research-Plenary-11-10-15.pdf.
- <sup>123</sup> Philip A Trostel, "The Fiscal Impacts of College Attainment." SSRN Electronic Journal, 2007. doi:10.2139/ ssrn.1957336.
- <sup>124</sup> Alice Stice, "Student Debt Weighs Down Millennials' Future," *Coloradoan*, December 2, 2016, http://www. coloradoan.com/story/news/2016/12/02/student-debt-weighs-down-millennials-future/94046772/.
- <sup>125</sup> "Household Debt and Credit Report." *Federal Reserve Bank of New York*, 2017. https://www.newyorkfed.org/ microeconomics/hhdc.
- <sup>126</sup> Aimee Picchi, "Congrats, Class of 2016: You're the Most Indebted Yet." CBS News. CBS Interactive, May 4, 2016. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/congrats-class-of-2016-youre-the-most-indebted-yet/.
- <sup>127</sup> Ben Miller, New Federal Data Show a Student Loan Crisis for African American Borrowers, Center for American Progress, October 16, 2017. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/news/2017/10/16/440711/ new-federal-data-show-student-loan-crisis-african-american-borrowers/.
- <sup>128</sup> Miller, "New Federal Data."
- <sup>129</sup> "Income-Driven Plans," *Federal Student Aid*, https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/repay-loans/understand/plans/ income-driven.
- <sup>130</sup> "New Data: More Than 1.1 Million Federal Student Loan Defaults in 2016 · Consumer Federation of America." Consumer Federation of America, March 14, 2017. https://consumerfed.org/press\_release/newdata-1-1-million-federal-student-loan-defaults-2016/.
- <sup>131</sup> Jessica Silver-Greenberg, Stacy Cowley, and Natalie Kitroeff, "When Unpaid Student Loans Mean You Can No Longer Work," New York Times, November 18, 2017. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/18/business/studentloans-licenses.html.
- <sup>132</sup> Office of the Student Loan Ombudsman. Annual Report of the CFPB Student Loan Ombudsman, 2016. http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/102016\_cfpb\_Transmittal\_DFA\_1035\_Student\_Loan\_ Ombudsman\_Report.pdf.
- <sup>133</sup> The Gallup-Purdue Index 2015 Report. Gallup, 2015, http://www.gallup.com/services/185924/gallup-purdueindex-2015-report.aspx.
- <sup>134</sup> Mark Huelsman, No Recourse: Putting an End to Bankruptcy's Student Loan Exception, Demos, November 24, 2015. http://www.demos.org/publication/no-recourse-putting-end-bankruptcy%E2%80%99s-student-loan-exception.
- <sup>135</sup> Jillian Berman, "When Your Social Security Check Disappears Because of an Old Student Loan." MarketWatch, June 25, 2015, https://www.marketwatch.com/story/when-your-social-security-check-disappears-because-ofan-old-student-loan-2015-06-25.

<sup>136</sup> Ibid.

<sup>137</sup> "New Poll Reveals Overwhelming Bipartisan Support for Permitting Borrowers to Refinance their Existing Student Loans at a Lower Rate," *Lake Research Partners*, September 14, 2017. http://www.responsiblelending. org/sites/default/files/nodes/files/research-publication/Irp-poll-studentloan-debt-sep2017.pdf.

- <sup>138</sup> Mark Huelsman and Vijay Das, "How the Trump Administration is Undermining Students of Color" The Guardian, July 15, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2017/jul/15/trump-administrationstudents-color-debt.
- <sup>139</sup> Zachary Bleemer, Meta Brown, Donghoon Lee, Katherine Strair, and Wilbert van der Klaauw, Echoes of Rising Tuition in Students' Borrowing, Educational Attainment, and Homeownership in Post-Recession America, Federal Reserve Bank of New York, July 2017. https://www.newyorkfed.org/research/staff\_reports/sr820.
- <sup>140</sup> Huelsman, "No Recourse."
- <sup>141</sup> Louis Tay, Cassondra Batz, Scott Parrigon, and Lauren Kuykendall, "Debt and Subjective Well-Being: The Other Side of the Income-Happiness Coin" *Journal of Happiness Studies* 18, no. 3 (2016): 903–37. doi:10.1007/ s10902-016-9758-5.
- <sup>142</sup> Brent Ambrose, Larry Cordell, and Shuwei Ma, "The Impact of Student Debt on Small Business Formation," Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia, 2015.
- <sup>143</sup> Mark Huelsman, Tamara Draut, Tatjana Meschede, Lars Dietrich, Thomas Shapiro, and Laura Sullivan, Less Debt, More Equity: Lowering Student Debt While Closing The Black-White Wealth Gap, Demos and the Institute on Assets and Social Policy, November 24, 2015. http://www.demos.org/publication/less-debt-more-equitylowering-student-debt-while-closing-black-white-wealth-gap.
- <sup>144</sup> Dirk Perrefort, "Connecticut Looks to Help Low-Income Residents in Civil Cases," *The News Times*, December 3, 2017, http://www.newstimes.com/local/article/Connecticut-looks-to-help-low-income-residentsin-12399248.php.
- <sup>145</sup> The Justice Gap: Measuring the Unmet Civil Legal Needs of Low-income Americans, Legal Services Corporation, June 2017, 14. https://www.lsc.gov/sites/default/files/images/TheJusticeGap-FullReport.pdf.
- <sup>146</sup> Legal Services Corporation, "The Justice Gap," 13.
- <sup>147</sup> Many people who fall outside the definition of a low-income household currently eligible to request civil legal services are likely to face obstacles in affording an attorney when their basic needs are threatened. For example, a family of 3 living at 125% of the FPL will have an annual income of \$25,525; a family of 3 living at 200% of the FPL will have an annual income of \$40,840. In neither circumstance would the costs of legal assistance be insignificant, and in both circumstances legal help may be unaffordable.
- <sup>148</sup> See, e.g., Lee Rawles, "Proposed '18 Budget Would Cut LSC by 24%, Increase Funds for Law Enforcement and Immigration Court," ABA Journal, June 30, 2017, http://www.abajournal.com/news/article/proposed\_budget\_ would\_increase\_funds\_for\_law\_enforcement\_and\_immigration\_bu.
- <sup>149</sup> Kate M. Manuel, "Aliens' Right to Counsel in Removal Proceedings: In Brief," Congressional Research Service (Mar. 17, 2016): Summary, 6, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/homesec/R43613.pdf (noting also that the right to counsel is guaranteed under the Immigration and Nationality Act in one circumstance, when removal proceedings take place before the Alien Terrorist Removal Court, which has not been used in order to obtain right to counsel to date).
- <sup>150</sup> Vera Institute of Justice, Evaluation of the New York Immigrant Family Unity Project: Assessing the Impact of Legal Representation on Family and Community Unity, Nov. 2017, 24. https://www.vera.org/publications/new-yorkimmigrant-family-unity-project-evaluation; see also New York Immigrant Representation Study, Accessing Justice: The Availability of Counsel in Immigration Proceedings, Dec. 2011, http://www.cardozolawreview.com/ content/denovo/NYIRS\_Report.pdf (noting that when a person is detained and unrepresented they will only be able to remain in the U.S. in 3 percent of cases, while represented, non-detained persons are able to remain in the U.S. in 74 percent of cases).

- <sup>151</sup> Sonia Gill and Amanda Werner, "End Forced Arbitration: Big Business Has Been Exploiting Consumers for Too Long. It's Time for Regulators to Crack Down," *Politico*, Apr. 26, 2016, https://www.politico.com/agenda/ story/2016/04/end-forced-arbitration-cfpb-000110; see also Press Release, "Sen. Al Franken and Rep. Hank Johnson Lead Fight to End Unfair Forced Arbitration Agreements," Mar. 7, 2017, https://hankjohnson.house. gov/media-center/press-releases/sen-al-franken-and-rep-hank-johnson-lead-fight-end-unfair-forced.
- <sup>152</sup> Heidi Shierholz, Correcting the Record: Consumers Fare Better under Class Actions Than Arbitration, Economic Policy Institute, August 1, 2017. http://www.epi.org/publication/correcting-the-record-consumers-fare-betterunder-class-actions-than-arbitration/.
- <sup>153</sup> Katherine Stone and Alexander Colvin, Mandatory Arbitration Deprives Workers and Consumers of Their Rights, Economic Policy Institute, December 7, 2015. http://www.epi.org/publication/the-arbitration-epidemic/.
- <sup>154</sup> Lake Research, "Public Opinion Research," 11.
- <sup>155</sup> Mark Noferi, "Deportation Without Representation: Immigrants Who Are Detained Should Have a Right to A Lawyer," Slate, May 15, 2013, http://www.slate.com/articles/news\_and\_politics/jurisprudence/2013/05/ the\_immigration\_bill\_should\_include\_the\_right\_to\_a\_lawyer.html; see also Letter from the New York City Bar Association, 1-2.
- <sup>156</sup> "Poll: Americans Oppose Forced Arbitration, Demand Corporations Be Held Accountable," Fair Arbitration Now, Apr. 29, 2009, http://www.fairarbitrationnow.org/poll-americans-oppose-forced-arbitration-demandcorporations-be-held-accountable/.
- <sup>157</sup> Stave, et al., "Evaluation of the New York Immigrant Family Unity Project."
- <sup>158</sup> Stave, et al., "Evaluation of the New York Immigrant Family Unity Project," 6.
- <sup>159</sup> "Mayor de Blasio Signs Legislation to Provide Low-Income New Yorkers with Access to Counsel for Wrongful Evictions," New York City, Aug. 11, 2017, http://www1.nyc.gov/office-of-the-mayor/news/547-17/mayor-deblasio-signs-legislation-provide-low-income-new-yorkers-access-counsel-for - /0.
- <sup>160</sup> Stout Risius Ross, Inc., "The Financial Cost and Benefits of Establishing a Right to Counsel in Eviction Proceedings Under Intro 214-A," Mar. 16, 2016, 3-5.
- <sup>161</sup> Dalfred Jones, "Louisiana Justice Reinvestment Task Force Talks Criminal Justice Reform in Louisiana," (Lafayette, LA: KLFY.com, October 25, 2017), http://klfy.com/2017/10/25/louisiana-justice-reinvestmenttask-force-talks-criminal-justice-reform-in-louisiana/.
- <sup>162</sup> Council of Economic Advisors, "Economic Perspectives on Incarceration and the Criminal Justice System," 2016. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/documents/ CEA%2BCriminal%2BJustice%2BReport.pdf.
- <sup>163</sup> "Criminal Justice Facts," The Sentencing Project, http://www.sentencingproject.org/criminal-justice-facts/.
- <sup>164</sup> Abigail Geiger, "U.S. Private Prison Population Has Declined in Recent Years," PEW Research Center, Apr. 11, 2017, http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/04/11/u-s-private-prison-population-has-declined-inrecent-years/; see also The Sentencing Project, "Private Prisons in the United States," Aug. 28, 2017, http:// www.sentencingproject.org/publications/private-prisons-united-states/.
- <sup>165</sup> Communities United, et al., "The \$3.4 Trillion Mistake: The Cost of Mass Incarceration, and How Justice Reinvestment Can Build a Better Future for All" (2016), 3, http://www.maketheroad.org/pix\_reports/Justice Reinvestment Final Report.pdf.
- <sup>166</sup> "Criminal Justice Facts," The Sentencing Project.

- <sup>167</sup> "Criminal Justice Facts," The Sentencing Project.
- <sup>168</sup> U.S. Department of Education, Policy and Program Studies Service, "State and Local Expenditures on Corrections and Education" (U.S. Department of Education, July 2016), 1, https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/ other/expenditures-corrections-education/brief.pdf (citing a information produced by the Bureau of Justice Statistics in 2009).
- <sup>169</sup> Jennifer Bronson and Marcus Berzofsky, "Indicators of Mental Health Problems Reported by Prisoners and Jail Inmates, 2011-12," Bureau of Justice Statistics, June 2017, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ imhprpji1112.pdf.
- <sup>170</sup> Jennifer Bronson, et al., "Drug Use, Dependence, and Abuse Among State Prisoners and Jail Inmates, 2007-2009," Bureau of Justice Statistics, June 2017, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudaspji0709.pdf.
- <sup>171</sup> For a database of research on these topics see the Council of State Governments Justice Center, "What Works in Reentry Clearinghouse," https://whatworks.csgjusticecenter.org/.
- <sup>172</sup> Press release, "Report: Increases in Spending on Corrections Far Outpace Education," U.S. Department of Education, July 7, 2016, https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/report-increases-spending-corrections-faroutpace-education. Additionally, "[s]ince 1990, state and local spending on higher education has been largely flat while spending on corrections has increased 89 percent."
- <sup>173</sup> Public Opinion Strategies and The Mellman Group, "Public Opinion on Sentencing and Corrections Policy in America," Mar. 2012, 2, http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2012/03/30/pew\_ nationalsurveyresearchpaper\_final.pdf.
- <sup>174</sup> Public Opinion Strategies, "Public Opinion on Sentencing and Corrections Policy," 5.
- <sup>175</sup> Steve Koczela and Rich Parr, "Public Opinion on Criminal Justice Reform in Massachusetts," MassINC, June 2017, 1, https://massinc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Public-Opinion-on-Criminal-Justice-Reform-in-Massachusetts.pdf.
- <sup>176</sup> Public Opinion Strategies, "Public Opinion on Sentencing and Corrections Policy," 7.
- <sup>177</sup> See, e.g., Danielle Kaeble and Lauren Glaze, "Correctional Populations in the United States, 2015," Bureau of Justice Statistics, Dec. 2016, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/cpus15.pdf.
- <sup>178</sup> See, e.g., Fact Sheet, "33 States Reform Criminal Justice Policies Through Justice Reinvestment," The PEW Charitable Trusts, Nov. 16, 2016, http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/fact-sheets/2016/11/33states-reform-criminal-justice-policies-through-justice-reinvestment.
- <sup>179</sup> Samantha Harvell, et al., "Reforming Sentencing and Corrections Policy: The Experience of Justice Reinvestment Initiative States," Urban Institute, Rev. Mar. 2017, v, https://www.urban.org/research/ publication/reforming-sentencing-and-corrections-policy/view/full\_report.
- <sup>180</sup> See, e.g., Harvell, et al., "Reforming Sentencing and Corrections Policy," vi.
- <sup>181</sup> Erika Parks, et al., Local Justice Reinvestment: Strategies, Outcomes, and Keys to Success, Urban Institute, Aug. 2016), 3, https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/83546/2000903-3-local-justicereinvestment-strategies-outcomes-and-keys-to-success\_1.pdf.
- <sup>182</sup> Congress rejected efforts by the Obama Administration to increase funding for the JRI by more than 3 times this amount and, in fiscal year 2017, cut funding for the JRI down to \$25 million. President Trump's budget sought to reduce funding for the program by another 12 percent in fiscal year 2018. Mike Crowley and Ed Chung, Congress Can Lead on Criminal Justice Reform Through Funding Choices, Center for American Progress, Sept. 7, 2017. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/criminal-justice/reports/2017/09/07/438570/ congress-can-lead-criminal-justice-reform-funding-choices/.

- <sup>183</sup> See, e.g., Harvell, et al., "Reforming Sentencing and Corrections Policy," vi.
- <sup>184</sup> Communities United, et al., "The \$3.4 Trillion Mistake," 17.
- <sup>185</sup> Alison Lawrence and Donna Lyons, "Justice Reinvestment Crime Brief," 1.
- <sup>186</sup> Nurse-Family Partnership, "About Us," https://www.nursefamilypartnership.org/about/.
- <sup>187</sup> The Council of State Governments, "Justice Reinvestment State Brief: Texas," 1; see also Alison Lawrence and Donna Lyons, "Justice Reinvestment Crime Brief," 1 (noting also that, by saving \$443 million over a 2-year period, the state was able to fund programs aimed at reducing crime and recidivism).
- <sup>188</sup> Alison Lawrence and Donna Lyons, "Justice Reinvestment Crime Brief," 1.
- <sup>189</sup> Alison Lawrence and Donna Lyons, "Justice Reinvestment Crime Brief," 1.
- <sup>190</sup> Bronx Freedom Fund recipient, "Poverty Is Not a Crime" (video) (New York: The Bail Project), https://bailproject.org/.
- <sup>191</sup> The Movement for Black Lives, "An End To Money Bail, Mandatory Fines, Fees, Court Surcharges, and 'Defendant Funded' Court Proceedings,", https://policy.m4bl.org/end-war-on-black-people/.
- <sup>192</sup> Peter Wagner, "Jails Matter. But Who is Listening?" Prison Policy Initiative, August 14, 2015, https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2015/08/14/jailsmatter/.
- <sup>193</sup> Nick Pinto, "The Bail Trap," The New York Times, Aug. 13, 2015, https://www.nytimes.com/2015/08/16/ magazine/the-bail-trap.html. Approximately 11 million people cycle through American jails each year. Peter Wagner, "Jails Matter. But Who Is Listening?"
- <sup>194</sup> Paul Heaton, Sandra Matson and Megan Stevenson, "The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pretrial Detention," 69 Stanford Law Review 711, Mar. 2017, https://review.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/ sites/3/2017/02/69-Stan-L-Rev-711.pdf; Wendy Sawyer & Emily Widra, "Findings from Harris County: Money Bail Undermines Criminal Justice Goals," Prison Policy Initiative, Aug. 24, 2017, https://www.prisonpolicy.org/ blog/2017/08/24/bail/.
- <sup>195</sup> The Movement for Black Lives, "An End To Money Bail."
- <sup>196</sup> See the "Reinvest in Justice" policy in this briefing book.
- <sup>197</sup> Counsel of Economic Advisors, "Fines, Fees, and Bail: Payments in the Criminal Justice System that Disproportionately Impact the Poor," Dec. 2015, 1, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/ page/files/1215\_cea\_fine\_fee\_bail\_issue\_brief.pdf.
- <sup>198</sup> Counsel of Economic Advisors, "Fines, Fees, and Bail," 3 see also Monica Llorente, "Criminalizing Poverty Through Fines, Fees, and Costs," American Bar Association, Oct. 3, 2016, https://www.americanbar.org/ groups/litigation/committees/childrens-rights/articles/2016/criminalizing-poverty-fines-fees-costs.html (describing the fines, fees and costs levied in different jurisdictions).
- <sup>199</sup> See, e.g., Counsel of Economic Advisors, "Fines, Fees, and Bail," 3; "Job Loss, Incarceration, More: Cost-Shifting Court Fines, Fees Hurting Poor Americans, Say Panelists," American Bar Association, Aug. 12, 2017, https://www.americanbar.org/news/abanews/aba-news-archives/2017/08/job\_loss\_incarcerat.html.
- <sup>200</sup> Eric Markowitz, "Electronic Monitoring Has Become the New Debtors Prison," Prison Legal News, Mar. 3, 2016, https://www.prisonlegalnews.org/news/2016/mar/3/electronic-monitoring-has-becomenew-debtors-prison/.
- <sup>201</sup> Counsel of Economic Advisors, "Fines, Fees, and Bail," 3.

- <sup>202</sup> "Job Loss, Incarceration, More," American Bar Association.
- <sup>203</sup> Dana Liebelson, "Here's What Happened After Trump's FCC Got to Oversee Inmates' Phone Service," Huffington Post, Aug. 9, 2017, https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/heres-what-happened-after-trumpsfcc-got-to-oversee-inmate-phone-calls\_us\_598b6c83e4b0449ed5079bd4.
- <sup>204</sup> Ramachandra, "Extortionate Phone Fees," see also Victoria Law, "\$15 for 15 Minutes: How Courts Are Letting Prison Phone Companies Gouge Incarcerated People," The Intercept, June 16, 2017, https://theintercept. com/2017/06/16/fcc-prison-phone-call-rates-court-deregulate-trump/.
- <sup>205</sup> Ramachandra, "Extortionate Phone Fees" (noting also that children "benefit socially and educationally from regular contact with a parent in jail"); see also Alex Friedmann, "Lowering Recidivism Through Family Communication," Prison Legal News, Apr. 15, 2014, https://www.prisonlegalnews.org/news/2014/apr/15/ lowering-recidivism-through-family-communication/.
- <sup>206</sup> Benenseon Strategy Group, "ACLU National Survey Fielded October 5-October 11, 2017," https://www.aclu. org/report/smart-justice-campaign-polling-americans-attitudes-criminal-justice.
- <sup>207</sup> Pretrial Justice Institute, "Voters Want 3DaysCount™ Solutions," https://www.pretrial.org/download/advocacy/ Voters-Want-3DaysCount-Solutions.pdf.
- <sup>208</sup> Pretrial Justice Institute, "Voters Want 3DaysCount<sup>™</sup> Solutions"; see also Public Opinion Strategies, "Memorandum: Recent Kentucky Statewide Polling Results," Feb. 2, 2017, https://dpa.ky.gov/News-and-Public-Information/DPAintheNews/Documents/KY%202017%20polling%20memo.pdf (noting that nearly 75 percent of state "voters support forgoing the use of money bail and using evaluations and other tools to help judges").
- <sup>209</sup> Nicole Fortier and Inimai Chettiar, Success-Oriented Funding: Reforming Federal Criminal Justice Grants, Brennan Center for Justice, Aug. 28, 2014, 3, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/ SuccessOrientedFunding\_ReformingFederalCriminalJusticeGrants.pdf.
- <sup>210</sup> Inimai Chettiar, "A Funding Model to Tip the Scales of Justice: Success Oriented Funding," Huffington Post, Mar. 3, 2014, https://www.huffingtonpost.com/inimai-chettiar/a-funding-model-to-tip-th\_b\_4889778.html; Fortier and Chettiar, "Success-Oriented Funding"; Lauren-Brooke Eisen and Danyelle Solomon, "Federal Aid to Local Law Enforcement Should Be Success-Oriented," The Hill, Sept. 11, 2014, http://thehill.com/blogs/ congress-blog/217169-federal-aid-to-local-law-enforcement-should-be-success-oriented.
- <sup>211</sup> Board of Governors of The Federal Reserve, "Report on the Economic Well-Being of U.S. Households in 2016," May 2017, https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/files/2016-report-economic-well-being-ushouseholds-201705.pdf.
- <sup>212</sup> Heaton, et al., "The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pretrial Detention"; Sawyer & Widra, "Findings from Harris County."
- <sup>213</sup> The Movement for Black Lives, "An End To Money Bail."
- <sup>214</sup> Clifford T. Keenan, "We Need More Bail Reform," Pretrial Services Agency for the District of Columbia, Sept. 2013, https://www.psa.gov/?q=node/390; see also Bruce Beaudin, "The D.C. Pretrial Services Agency: Lessons From Five Decades of Innovation and Growth," 2:1 Case Studies, Pretrial Justice Institute, accessed Dec. 1, 2017, https://www.psa.gov/sites/default/files/PJI-DCPSACaseStudy.pdf; Press Release, "Release Rates for Pretrial Defendants Within Washington, D.C.," Pretrial Services Agency for the District of Columbia, accessed Dec. 1, 2017, https://www.psa.gov/sites/default/files/2016%20Release%20Rates%20for%20 DC%20Pretrial%20Defendants.pdf (providing FY2016 release rates); Ann E. Marimow, "When it Comes to Pretrial Release, Few Other Jurisdictions Do It D.C.'s Way," *The Washington Post*, July 4, 2016, https://www. washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/when-it-comes-to-pretrial-release-few-other-jurisdictions-do-it-dcsway/2016/07/04/8eb52134-e7d3-11e5-b0fd-073d5930a7b7\_story.html?utm\_term=.2a446450dbbc.

- <sup>215</sup> Keenan, "We Need More Bail Reform"; The Movement for Black Lives, "An End To Money Bail."
- <sup>216</sup> Press Release, "Release Rates for Pretrial Defendants Within Washington, D.C."
- <sup>217</sup> Unidos US, "Protect and Defend American Families," https://www.unidosus.org/issues/immigration/.
- <sup>218</sup> Katherine Culliton-González and Joanna Cuevas Ingram, Sanctuary, Safety and Community: Tools for Welcoming and Protecting Immigrants Through Local Democracy, Dēmos, 2017. http://www.demos.org/publication/ sanctuary-safety-and-community-tools-welcoming-and-protecting-immigrants-through-local-d.
- <sup>219</sup> Press release, "New NBC/WSJ Poll: Support for Immigration at an All-Time High:, America's Voice, 2017, https://americasvoice.org/press\_releases/new-nbcwsj-poll-support-immigration-time-high/.
- <sup>220</sup> Language derives from National Hispanic Leadership Agenda: Immigration, NHLA, 2016. https://nationalhispanicleadership.org/images/Agenda/Immigration.pdf.
- <sup>221</sup> "DREAM Act 2017,"National Immigration Law Center, https://www.nilc.org/issues/immigration-reform-and-executive-actions/dreamact/dream-act-2017-summary-and-faq/.
- <sup>222</sup> Language derives from Messaging This Moment, Center for Community Change, 2017. https://communitychange.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/C3-Messaging-This-Moment-Handbook.pdf.
- <sup>223</sup> Language derives from Making the Case for Comprehensive Immigration Reform, Frameworks Institute, 2015. http://www.frameworksinstitute.org/toolkits/immigration/.
- <sup>224</sup> Language derives from Rise Above: Countering Fear-Based Messaging, Opportunity Agenda, 2017. https://opportunityagenda.org/explore/resources-publications/rise-above-countering-fear-based-messaging.
- <sup>225</sup> Language derives from Talking Points on Immigration Reform and Our Economy, One America, 2017. http://www.weareoneamerica.org/talking-points-immigration-reform-and-economy.
- <sup>226</sup> Robert Lynch and Patrick Oakford, The Economic Effects of Granting Legal Status and Citizenship to Undocumented Immigrants, Center for American Progress, 2013. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ immigration/reports/2013/03/20/57351/the-economic-effects-of-granting-legal-status-and-citizenship-toundocumented-immigrants/.
- <sup>227</sup> Language derives from DAPA & S. 744 The Economic Benefits of Legalizing Immigrants' Presence, National Immigration Law Center, 2014, https://www.nilc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Economic-Benefitsof-DAPA-and-IR-2014-12-091.pdf (note that we do not endorse S. 744 due to its inclusion of draconian enforcement measures).
- <sup>228</sup> Maurie Backman, "This is the No. 1 Reason People File for Bankruptcy," The Motley Fool, May 5, 2017, https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/personalfinance/2017/05/05/this-is-the-no-1-reason-americansfile-for-bankruptcy/101148136/.
- <sup>229</sup> Liz Hamel, Mira Norton, Karen Pollitz, Larry Levitt, Gary Claxton and Mollyann Brodie, The Burden of Medical Debt: Results from the Kaiser Family Foundation/New York Times Medical Bills Survey, Kaiser Family Foundation, January 5, 2016. https://www.kff.org/report-section/the-burden-of-medical-debt-section-1-who-has-medicalbill-problems-and-what-are-the-contributing-factors/.
- <sup>230</sup> Edward A. Chow, MD, Henry Foster, MD, Victor Gonzalez, MD and LaShawn McIver, MD, MPH, "The Disparate Impact of Diabetes on Racial/Ethnic Minority Populations," Clinical Diabetes 2012 Jul; 30(3): 130-133. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.30.3.130.
- <sup>231</sup> Robin L. Kelly Ph.D., "The 2015 Kelly Report: Health Disparities in America," Congresswoman Robin L. Kelly, September 18, 2017, https://robinkelly.house.gov/sites/robinkelly.house.gov/files/2015%20Kelly%20Report.pdf.

- <sup>232</sup> U.S. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, "Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System," November 9, 2007, https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pmss.html; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Minority Health, "Infant Mortality and African Americans," November 9, 2007, https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=23.
- <sup>233</sup> NBC News, "Early Exit Polls: Health Care Most Important Issue for Virginia Voters," National Broadcasting Network, November 7, 2017, https://www.nbcnews.com/card/early-exit-polls-health-care-most-importantissue-virginia-voters-n818691.
- <sup>234</sup> Joceylin Kiley, "Public Support for 'Single Payer' Health Coverage Grows, Driven by Democrats," Pew Research Center, June 23, 2017, http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/06/23/public-support-forsingle-payer-health-coverage-grows-driven-by-democrats/.
- <sup>235</sup> Steven Shepard, "Plurality Supports Single-Payer Health Care," *Politico*, September 20, 2017, https://www.politico.com/story/2017/09/20/single-payer-health-care-poll-242907.
- <sup>236</sup> Bernie Sanders, "Options to Finance Medicare for All," U.S. Senator Bernie Sanders, September 13, 2017, https://www.sanders.senate.gov/download/options-to-finance-medicare-for-all?inline=file.
- <sup>237</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), CMS Program Statistics.
- <sup>238</sup> Nick Buffie, Overhead Costs for Private Health Insurance Keep Rising, Even as Costs Fall for Other Types of Insurance, Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2017. http://cepr.net/blogs/cepr-blog/overhead-costsfor-private-health-insurance-keep-rising-even-as-costs-fall-for-other-types-of-insurance.
- <sup>239</sup> Gerald Friedman, How We Can Afford a National Single-Payer Health Plan, Physicians for a National Health Plan, 2013. http://www.pnhp.org/sites/default/files/Funding%20HR%20676\_Friedman\_7.31.13\_proofed.pdf.
- <sup>240</sup> Kathryn Vasel, "I Pay More than Half my Income in Rent," CNN Money, July 19, 2016. http://money.cnn.com/2016/07/19/real\_estate/rising-rents/index.html.
- <sup>241</sup> Lisa J. Dettling, et. al., Recent Trends in Wealth-Holding by Race and Ethnicity: Evidence from the Survey of Consumer Finances, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2017. https://www.federalreserve.gov/ econres/notes/feds-notes/recent-trends-in-wealth-holding-by-race-and-ethnicity-evidence-from-the-surveyof-consumer-finances-20170927.htm.
- <sup>242</sup> Will Fischer and Barbara Sard, Chart Book: Federal Housing Spending Is Poorly Matched to Need, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/research/housing/chart-book-federal-housingspending-is-poorly-matched-to-need#One.
- <sup>243</sup> Daniel Aaronson, Daniel Hartley, Bhash Mazumder, The Effects of the 1930s HOLC "Redlining" Maps, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 2017. https://www.chicagofed.org/publications/working-papers/2017/wp2017-12.
- <sup>244</sup> Jonathan Gruber, Amalie Jensen, and Henrik Kleven, Do People Respond to the Mortgage Interest Deduction? National Bureau of Economic Research, 2017. http://www.nber.org/papers/w23600.
- <sup>245</sup> Misdirected Investments, Institute on Assets and Social Policy and National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2017. http://www.unitedforhomes.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/NLIHC-IASP\_MID-Report.pdf.
- <sup>246</sup> Fischer and Sard, Chart Book.
- <sup>247</sup> Out of Reach 2017: The High Cost of Housing, National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2017. http://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/oor/OOR\_2017.pdf.

<sup>248</sup> Out of Reach.

- <sup>249</sup> The 2016 Annual Homeless Assessment Report to Congress, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2016. https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/2016-AHAR-Part-1.pdf.
- <sup>250</sup> Fischer and Sard, Chart Book.
- <sup>251</sup> How Housing Matters, Hart Research Associates, 2016. https://www.macfound.org/media/files/E-How\_Housing\_ Matters\_National\_Full\_Report.pdf.
- <sup>252</sup> "Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing," U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, https://www.huduser.gov/portal/affht\_pt.html.
- <sup>253</sup> Language derives from Expanding Opportunity, Opportunity Agenda and National Fair Housing Alliance, 2013. https://opportunityagenda.org/explore/resources-publications/talking-about-huds-affirmatively-furthering-fair-housing-regulations.
- <sup>254</sup> Language derives from Expanding Opportunity.
- <sup>255</sup> Rental Assistance Reduces Hardship, Promotes Children's Long-Term Success, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/housing/chart-book-rental-assistance-reduces-hardshippromotes-childrens-long-term-success.
- <sup>256</sup> Rental Assistance Reduces Hardship.
- <sup>257</sup> A Place to Call Home: The Case for Increased Federal Investments in Affordable Housing, Campaign for Housing and Community Development Funding, 2016. http://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/A-Place-To-Call-Home.pdf.
- <sup>258</sup> A Place to Call Home.
- <sup>259</sup> Renee Bracey Sherman, "What the War on Reproductive Rights Has to Do with Poverty and Race," Yes! May, 25, 2016, http://www.yesmagazine.org/peace-justice/what-the-war-on-reproductive-rights-has-to-do-withpoverty-and-race-20160525.
- <sup>260</sup> Two Sides of the Same Coin: Integrating Economic & Reproductive Justice, Reproductive Health Technologies, August 2015, p.4, http://rhtp.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/TwoSidesSameCoinReport.pdf.
- <sup>261</sup> Reproductive Health is Part of the Economic Health of Women and Their Families, National Women's Law Center, February 19, 2016, https://nwlc.org/resources/reproductive-health-is-part-of-the-economic-health-ofwomen-and-their-families/.
- <sup>262</sup> Elizabeth Nash et al., "Laws Affecting Reproductive Health and Rights: State Policy Trends at Midyear, 2017," Guttmacher Institute, July 13, 2017, https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2017/07/laws-affecting-reproductivehealth-and-rights-state-policy-trends-midyear-2017.
- <sup>263</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>264</sup> "Trump Administration Allows Employers to Take Birth Control Coverage Away from Women," National Women's Law Center, October 2017, https://nwlc.org/resources/trump-administration-allows-employers-totake-birth-control-coverage-away-from-women/.

<sup>265</sup> Ibid.

<sup>266</sup> "Two Sides of the Same Coin."

<sup>267</sup> "Reproductive Justice Media Reference Guide," Strong Families Network, Forward Together, 2017. http://strongfamiliesmovement.org/assets/files/rj-media-guide.pdf.

- <sup>268</sup> Loretta Ross, "Understanding Reproductive Justice," SisterSong, November 2006 (Updated March 2011), https://www.trustblackwomen.org/our-work/what-is-reproductive-justice/9-what-is-reproductive-justice.
- <sup>269</sup> "New Poll from Center for Reproductive Rights: 6 in 10 Americans Support Federal Law to Protect Abortion Access," Center for Reproductive Rights, August 4, 2017, https://www.reproductiverights.org/press-room/ new-poll-from-the-center-for-reproductive-rights-6-in-10-americans-support-federal-law-to.

<sup>270</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>271</sup> The Trump administration has called for the Hyde Amendment to be codified into law. See e.g., Alina Salganicoff et al., "The Hyde Amendment and Coverage for Abortion Services," Kaiser Family Foundation, October 2017, https://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/perspective/the-hyde-amendment-and-coveragefor-abortion-services/.
- <sup>272</sup> For example, the No Taxpayer Funding for Abortion and Abortion Insurance Full Disclosure Act of 2017
  (H.R. 7) that codifies the Hyde Amendment into law passed the House of Representatives in January 24, 2017.
- <sup>273</sup> Christina Cauterucci, "Oregon Passes Sweeping Law Enshrining Abortion Rights and Funding for All," Slate, July 6, 2017, http://www.slate.com/blogs/xx\_factor/2017/07/06/oregon\_passes\_sweeping\_law\_enshrining\_ abortion\_rights\_and\_funding\_for\_all.html.
- <sup>274</sup> "Two Sides of the Same Coin."
- <sup>275</sup> "Two Sides of the Same Coin."
- <sup>276</sup> "Two Sides of the Same Coin."
- <sup>277</sup> Alina Salganicoff et al., "The Hyde Amendment and Coverage for Abortion Services," Kaiser Family Foundation, October 2017, https://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/perspective/the-hyde-amendmentand-coverage-for-abortion-services/.
- <sup>278</sup> "The Hyde Amendment Creates Unacceptable Barriers to Women Getting Abortions," National Women's Law Center, April 21, 2017, https://nwlc.org/resources/hyde-amendment-creates-unacceptable-barrier-womengetting-abortions/.
- <sup>279</sup> Quoted by MomsRising.org https://www.momsrising.org/issues\_and\_resources/childcare.
- <sup>280</sup> Emily D. Cahan, Past Caring: A History of U.S. Preschool Care and Education for the Poor, 1820–1965, National Center for Children in Poverty, 1989. http://www.researchconnections.org/childcare/resources/2088/pdf.
- <sup>281</sup> Nancy L. Cohen, "Why America Never Had Universal Child Care," New Republic, April 24, 2013, https://newrepublic.com/article/113009/child-care-america-was-very-close-universal-day-care.
- <sup>282</sup> Brigid Schulte and Alieza Durana, The New America Care Report, New America, 2016. https://www.newamerica.org/in-depth/care-report/introduction/.
- <sup>283</sup> Checking In: A Snapshot of the Child Care Landscape, Child Care Aware of America, 2017. https://usa.childcareaware.org/advocacy-public-policy/resources/research/statefactsheets/.
- <sup>284</sup> Red Light Green Light: State Child Care Assistance Policies 2016, National Women's Law Center, 2016. https://nwlc.org/resources/red-light-green-light-state-child-care-assistance-policies-2016/.
- <sup>285</sup> Heather Sandstrom, Why Parents' Nonstandard Work Schedules Matter for Children, Urban Institute, 2015. https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/why-parents-nonstandard-work-schedules-matter-children-it-hoursor-instability.

- <sup>286</sup> Rasheed Malik and Katie Hamm, Mapping America's Child Care Deserts, Center for American Progress, 2017. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/reports/2017/08/30/437988/mapping-americaschild-care-deserts/.
- <sup>287</sup> Rasheed Malik and Jamal Hagler, Black Families Work More, Earn Less, and Face Difficult Child Care Choices, Center for American Progress, 2016. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/ news/2016/08/05/142296/black-families-work-more-earn-less-and-face-difficult-child-care-choices/.
- <sup>288</sup> U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Occupational Outlook Handbook," 2017. https://www.bls.gov/ooh/personal-care-and-service/childcare-workers.htm.
- <sup>289</sup> Marcy Whitebook, Deborah Phillips, and Carollee Howes, Worthy Work, STILL Unlivable Wages, Institute for Research on Labor and Employment, 2014. http://cscce.berkeley.edu/files/2014/ReportFINAL.pdf.
- <sup>290</sup> 2017 National Poll: Research Summary, First Five Years Fund, 2017. https://ffyf.org/resources/2017-national-poll-research-summary/.
- <sup>291</sup> 2017 National Poll.
- <sup>292</sup> The Economics of Early Childhood Investments, President's Council of Economic Advisors, 2015. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/docs/early\_childhood\_report\_update\_ final\_non-embargo.pdf.
- <sup>293</sup> Claudia Olivetti and Barbara Petrongolo, "The Economic Consequences of Family Policies," Journal of Economic Perspectives 31 (2017). http://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jep.31.1.205.
- <sup>294</sup> Kenneth A. Dodge et. al., "Impact of North Carolina's Early Childhood Programs and Policies on Educational Outcomes in Elementary School," Child Development, 2016, doi:10.1111/cdev.12645. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/27859011 W. Steven Barnett, et. al., Abbott Preschool Program Longitudinal Effects Study: Fifth Grade Follow-Up, National Institute for Early Education Research, 2013. http://nieer.org/researchreport/201311apples205th20grade-pdf.
- <sup>295</sup> The Economics of Early Childhood Investments.
- <sup>296</sup> Josh Bivens, et. al., It's Time for an Ambitious National Investment in America's Children, Economic Policy Institute, 2016. http://www.epi.org/publication/its-time-for-an-ambitious-national-investmentin-americas-children/.
- <sup>297</sup> Steven W. Barnett, et. al., *The State of Preschool 2016*, National Institute for Early Education Research, 2017. http://nieer.org/state-preschool-yearbooks/yearbook2016.
- <sup>298</sup> William Neuman, "De Blasio Finds Biggest Win in Pre-K, but Also Lasting Consequences," The New York Times, October 31, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/10/31/nyregion/de-blasio-universal-pre-k.html.
- <sup>299</sup> Emily Tadlock, "New Research Released on Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program," (Bangor, ME: WABI-TV, October 4, 2017), http://www.wabi.tv/content/news/New-Research-Released-on-Supplemental-Nutrition-Assistance-Program-449490913.html.
- <sup>300</sup> Christopher Wimer, Liana Fox, Irwin Garfinkel, Neeraj Kaushal, and Jane Waldfogel, "Progress on Poverty? New Estimates of Historical Trends Using an Anchored Supplemental Poverty Measure," *Demography* 53, no. 4 (2016): 1207-218. doi:10.1007/s13524-016-0485-7.
- <sup>301</sup> Arloc Sherman, Robert Greenstein, and Kathy Ruffing, Contrary to "Entitlement Society" Rhetoric, Over Nine-Tenths of Entitlement Benefits Go to Elderly, Disabled, or Working Households, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, October 10, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/research/contrary-to-entitlement-society-rhetoric-overnine-tenths-of-entitlement-benefits-go-to.

- <sup>302</sup> Sheila Kennedy, "Ideology, Inequality, and the Safety Net," Inequality.org, December 16, 2016. https://inequality.org/research/shredding-social-safety-net/.
- <sup>303</sup> Ian Haney-Lopez, Dog Whistle Politics: How Coded Racial Appeals Have Reinvented Racism and Wrecked the Middle Class. (New York: Oxford University Press, 2015).
- <sup>304</sup> Ronald Brownstein, "Trump's Cuts to SNAP and Social Security Would Hit the Rust Belt Hard," *The Atlantic*, May 23, 2017, https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2017/05/trump-budgetsnap-social-security/527799/.
- <sup>305</sup> Dottie Rosenbaum, "House Budget Targets SNAP for Cuts," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, July 20, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/blog/house-budget-targets-snap-for-cuts.
- <sup>306</sup> LaDonna Pavetti, *How to Improve TANF*, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, July 15, 2015, https://www.cbpp.org/family-income-support/ladonna-pavetti-how-to-improve-tanf.
- <sup>307</sup> LaDonna Pavetti, TANF at 20, Part 1: Providing a Safety Net for Fewer Poor Families, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, August 15, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/blog/tanf-at-20-part-1-providing-a-safety-netfor-fewer-poor-families.
- <sup>308</sup> J.B. Wogan, "What the Unemployment Drug-Testing Bill That Trump Just Signed Means for States," Governing magazine. March 28, 2017, http://www.governing.com/topics/health-human-services/govcongress-drug-testing-unemployment-states-trump.html.
- <sup>309</sup> Rebecca Vallas, and Joe Valenti, Asset Limits Are a Barrier to Economic Security and Mobility, Center for American Progress, September 10, 2014. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/poverty/ reports/2014/09/10/96754/asset-limits-are-a-barrier-to-economic-security-and-mobility/.
- <sup>310</sup> Heather Hahn, Laudan Aron, Cary Lou, Eleanor Pratt, and Adaeze Okoli, "Why Does Cash Welfare Depend on Where You Live? How and Why State TANF Programs Vary," Urban Institute, June 5, 2017. https://www.urban.org/research/publication/why-does-cash-welfare-depend-where-you-live.
- <sup>311</sup> Saki Knafo, "When It Comes To Illegal Drug Use, White America Does The Crime, Black America Gets The Time," *The Huffington Post*, September 17, 2013, https://www.huffingtonpost.com/2013/09/17/racial-disparitydrug-use\_n\_3941346.html.
- <sup>312</sup> Anna Aizer, Shari Eli, Joseph Ferrie, and Adriana Lleras-Muney. "The Long Term Impact of Cash Transfers to Poor Families," National Bureau of Economic Research, May 2014. doi:10.3386/w20103.
- <sup>313</sup> Steven Kull, Americans on SNAP Benefits: A Survey of Voters Nationwide, and in California, Florida, Maryland, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Texas and Virginia, Voice of the People, April 2017. http://vop.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/SNAP\_Report.pdf.
- <sup>314</sup> Scott Clement, "Hard-working Taxpayers Don't Support Big Cuts to Food Stamps, It Turns Out," *The Washington Post*, May 25, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/the-fix/wp/2017/05/25/hardworking-taxpayers-dont-support-big-cuts-to-food-stamps-it-turns-out/?utm\_term=.2d2a409c46e8.
- <sup>315</sup> Shiva Maniam, With Budget Debate Looming, Growing Share of Public Prefers Bigger Government, Pew Research Center for the People and the Press, April 24, 2017. http://www.people-press.org/2017/04/24/with-budgetdebate-looming-growing-share-of-public-prefers-bigger-government/.
- <sup>316</sup> Congressional Progressive Caucus, "The People's Budget: a Roadmap for the Resistance," http://cpcbudget.org/.
- <sup>317</sup> Aizer, "Long Term Impact."

- <sup>318</sup> Kenneth Hanson, The Food Assistance National Input-Output Multiplier (FANIOM) model and stimulus effects of SNAP. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, 2010.
- <sup>319</sup> Jessica Gehr, Eliminating Asset Limits: Creating Savings for Families and State Governments, Center for Law and Social Policy, October, 2016. https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/public/resources-and-publications/ publication-1/Eliminating-Asset-Limits-Creating-Savings-for-Families-and-State-Governments.pdf.
- <sup>320</sup> Kate Santich, "Free Money? Bigger, Better EITC Is As Close As It Gets," Orlando Sentinel, January 18. 2015, http://www.orlandosentinel.com/news/os-eitc-2014-central-florida-20150116-story.html.
- <sup>321</sup> Chuck Marr et al., How Tax Reform Can Raise Working Class Incomes, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, October 13, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/how-tax-reform-canraise-working-class-incomes.
- <sup>322</sup> Chuck Marr et al., Strengthening the EITC for Childless Workers Would Promote and Reduce Poverty, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, April 11, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/strengthening-the-eitcfor-childless-workers-would-promote-work-and-reduce.
- <sup>323</sup> Miriam Zolia Perez, "A Tax Bonus for Black and Latino Men?" *ColorLines*, October 29, 2014, https://www.colorlines.com/articles/tax-bonus-black-and-latino-men.
- <sup>324</sup> "The Earned Income Tax Credit: Often Missed," *IRS.gov*, January 29, 2016, https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/the-earned-income-tax-credit-often-missed.
- <sup>325</sup> Chuck Marr et al., EITC and Child Tax Credit Promote Work, Reduce Poverty, and Support Children's Development Research Finds, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, October 1, 2015. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/eitc-and-child-tax-credit-promote-work-reduce-povertyand-support-childrens?fa=view&id=3793.
- <sup>326</sup> Indivar Dutta-Gupta, "The EITC: Our Strongest Tool for Boosting Single Mothers Employment," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, June 28, 2012, https://www.cbpp.org/blog/the-eitc-our-strongest-tool-forboosting-single-mothers-employment.
- <sup>327</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>328</sup> Elaine Maag, Refundable Credits: The Earned Income Tax Credit and Child Tax Credit, The Urban Institute, March 2017. https://www.urban.org/research/publication/refundable-credits-earned-income-tax-creditand-child-tax-credit.
- <sup>329</sup> Jason Fitchtner and Indivar Dutta-Gupta, "Reforming the Earned Income Tax Credit Could be a Bipartisan Victory for Trump," *The Hill*, April 8, 2017, http://thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/economy-budget/327666reforming-earned-income-tax-credit-could-be-a-bipartisan.
- <sup>330</sup> Erica Williams, States Can Adopt of Expand Earned Income Tax Credits to Build a Stronger Future Economy, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, February 8, 2017. https://www.cbpp.org/research/state-budgetand-tax/states-can-adopt-or-expand-earned-income-tax-credits-to-build-a.
- <sup>331</sup> Jennifer Sykes et al., "Dignity and Dreams: What the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) Means to Low-Income Families," American Sociological Review 80, no.2 (2015): 243-267, https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122414551552.
- <sup>332</sup> Christopher Faricy, "How the U.S. Tax System Disadvantages Racial Minorities," Washingtonpost.com, April 18, 2016, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2016/04/18/how-the-u-s-tax-systemdisadvantages-racial-minorities/?utm\_term=.fbcbe1a841d4.

- <sup>333</sup> Hilary W. Hoynes et al., The EITC: Linking Income to Real Health Outcomes, University of California Davis Center for Poverty Research 1, no.2 (2013), http://poverty.ucdavis.edu/research-paper/policy-brieflinking-eitc-income-real-health-outcomes. See also Greg J. Duncan et al., "Does Money Really Matter? Estimating Impacts of Family Income on Young Children's Achievement with Data from Random-Assignment Experiments," Developmental Psychology 47, no. 5 (2011): 1263-1279.
- <sup>334</sup> Scott Horsley, "Payday Loans—And Endless Cycles Of Debt—Targeted By Federal Watchdog," National Public Radio, March 26, 2015, https://www.npr.org/2015/03/26/395421117/payday-loans-and-endless-cycles-ofdebt-targeted-by-federal-watchdog.
- <sup>335</sup> Payday Lending in America: Who Borrows, Where They Borrow, and Why, Pew Charitable Trusts, July 2012. http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/pcs\_assets/2012/pewpaydaylendingreportpdf.pdf.
- <sup>336</sup> Payday Lending in America.
- <sup>337</sup> Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Payday Lending, March 2014. http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201403\_cfpb\_report\_payday-lending.pdf.
- <sup>338</sup> Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Single-Payment Vehicle Title Lending, May 2016. http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201605\_cfpb\_single-payment-vehicle-title-lending.pdf.
- <sup>339</sup> "10 Ways the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Safeguards Your Money," Americans for Financial Reform, 2015. http://ourfinancialsecurity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/TenWaysCFPBSafeguardsYourMoney-AFR.pdf.
- <sup>340</sup> Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, CFPB Finalizes Rule To Stop Payday Debt Traps, 2017, https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-finalizes-rule-stop-payday-debt-traps/.
- <sup>341</sup> AFR/CRL Polling Memo: Fifth Consecutive Year of Broad Backing of CFPB and Wall Street Reform, Americans for Financial Reform, 2017. http://ourfinancialsecurity.org/2017/07/afrcrl-polling-memo-fifth-consecutive-yearbroad-backing-cfpb-wall-street-reform/.
- <sup>342</sup> National Survey Results: Overwhelming Support for CFPB's Payday Lending Rule, GBA Strategies, 2016. http://stopthedebttrap.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Payday-Lending-Poll-Memo-June-2016.pdf.
- <sup>343</sup> AFR/CRL Polling Memo.
- <sup>344</sup> National Survey Results.
- <sup>345</sup> Delvin Davis and Susan Lupton, States without Payday and Car-title Lending Save Over \$5 Billion in Fees Annually, Center for Responsible Lending, 2017. http://www.responsiblelending.org/sites/default/files/nodes/files/ research-publication/crl\_payday\_fee\_savings\_jun2016.pdf.
- <sup>346</sup> Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, "What Are My Rights under the Military Lending Act?" 2016, https://www.consumerfinance.gov/ask-cfpb/what-are-my-rights-under-the-military-lending-act-en-1783/.
- <sup>347</sup> Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, The Consumer Credit Card Market, December 2015. http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201512\_cfpb\_report-the-consumer-credit-card-market.pdf.
- <sup>348</sup> Carol Polsky, "Many Older Workers Can't Afford to Retire," New York *Newsday*, March 31, 2013, https://www.newsday.com/classifieds/jobs/many-older-workers-can-t-afford-to-retire-1.4960155.
- <sup>349</sup> Robert Hiltonsmith, The Retirement Savings Drain: Hidden & Excessive Costs of 401(K)s, Demos, 2012. http://www.demos.org/publication/retirement-savings-drain-hidden-excessive-costs-401ks.
- <sup>350</sup> Monique Morissey, The State of American Retirement: How 401(k)s Have Failed Most Retirement Workers, Economic Policy Institute, March 2016. http://www.epi.org/files/2016/state-of-american-retirement-final.pdf.

- <sup>352</sup> Robert Hiltonsmith, Twin Threats: How Disappearing Public Pensions Hurt Black Workers, Demos, June 2016. http://www.demos.org/publication/twin-threats-how-disappearing-public-pensions-hurt-black-workers.
- <sup>353</sup> Morissey, The State of American Retirement.
- <sup>354</sup> Elviz Guzman and Madhulika Vulimiri, African American Retirement Security, Center for Global Policy Solutions, August 2015. http://globalpolicysolutions.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/African-American-Retirement-Insecurity.pdf.
- <sup>355</sup> Brad Plumer, "Wonkblog: A Second Look at Social Security's Racist Origins," Washington Post, June 3, 2013, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2013/06/03/a-second-look-at-social-securitys-racistorigins/?utm\_term=.cde2afd335a3.
- <sup>356</sup> "CBO's Long Term Projections for Social Security: Additional Information," Congressional Budget Office, December 2016, https://www.cbo.gov/publication/52298.
- <sup>357</sup> "Polling Memo: Americans' Views on Social Security," *Socialsecurityworks.org*, https://www.socialsecurityworks. org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Updated-polling-memo-10-17.pdf.

<sup>358</sup> Ibid.

<sup>359</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>360</sup> Robert Hiltonsmith, The Failure of 401(k)s: How Individual Retirement Plans are a Costly Gamble for American Workers, Demos, http://www.demos.org/sites/default/files/publications/TheFailureOfThe401%28k%29\_Demos.pdf.
- <sup>361</sup> Press release, "Lowey Introduces Legislation to Provide Social Security Earnings Credit to Caregivers," Lowey. House.Gov., August 27, 2015, https://lowey.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/lowey-introduceslegislation-provide-social-security-earnings-credit.
- <sup>362</sup> "Unpaid Caregivers Would Get Additional Social Security Benefits under the Social Security Caregivers Act," Govtrackinsider.com, https://govtrackinsider.com/unpaid-caregivers-would-get-additional-social-securitybenefits-under-the-social-security-caregiver-ef0d111d45df.
- <sup>363</sup> Kathleen Romig and Arloc Sherman, Social Security Keeps 22 Million Americans Out of Poverty, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/social-security/social-security-keeps-22million-americans-out-of-poverty-a-state-by-state.
- <sup>364</sup> Letter from U.S. Social Security Administration to Sen. Bernie Sanders, Feb. 4, 2016, https://www.ssa.gov/oact/solvency/BSanders\_20160204.pdf.
- <sup>365</sup> Ryan Pearson, "Will Smith Supports Obama's Call for Higher Taxes," Associated Press, May 7, 2012, http://www.newser.com/article/d9uk736g1/will-smith-supports-obamas-call-for-higher-taxes.html.
- <sup>366</sup> Policy Basics: Federal Tax Expenditures, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/policy-basics-federal-tax-expenditures.
- <sup>367</sup> Rebecca Savransky, "Graham: 'Financial Contributions Will Stop' if GOP Doesn't Pass Tax Reform," *The Hill*, November 9, 2017, http://thehill.com/policy/finance/359606-graham-financial-contributions-will-stopif-gop-doesnt-pass-tax-reform. Jim Tankersley, Alan Rappeport and Thomas Kaplan, "Senators Scramble to Advance Tax Bill that Increasingly Rewards Wealthy," *New York Times*, November 27, 2017, https://www. nytimes.com/2017/11/27/us/politics/senate-tax-bills-potential-hurdle-republicans.html?hp&action=click&pg type=Homepage&clickSource=story-heading&module=first-column-region&region=top-news&WT.nav=topnews&\_r=1. Cristina Marcos, "GOP Lawmaker: Donors Are Pushing Me to Get Tax Reform Done," *The Hill*, November 7, 2017, http://thehill.com/homenews/house/359110-gop-lawmaker-donors-are-pushing-me-toget-tax-reform-done.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>368</sup> Chye-Ching Huang, "Doubling Estate Tax Exemption Would Give Windfall to Heirs of Wealthiest Estates," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities: November, 9, 2017, https://www.cbpp.org/blog/doubling-estate-taxexemption-would-give-windfall-to-heirs-of-wealthiest-estates.
- <sup>369</sup> Jeanne Sahadi, "20% of Big Companies Pay Zero Corporate Taxes," CNN Money, April 13, 2016, http://money.cnn.com/2016/04/13/pf/taxes/gao-corporate-taxes/index.html.
- <sup>370</sup> Jeanne Sahadi, "New Crackdown on Corporate Tax," CNN Money, April 4, 2016, http://money.cnn.com/2016/04/04/news/tax-inversion/?iid=EL.
- <sup>371</sup> Robert W. Wood, "10 Things to Know about Taxes on Legal Settlements," Forbes, July 6, 2015, https://www.forbes.com/sites/robertwood/2015/07/06/10-things-to-know-about-taxes-on-legalsettlements/#7ad57ca32f88.
- <sup>372</sup> Patricia Cohen, "When Company Is Fined, Taxpayers Often Share Bill," New York Times, February 3, 2015, https://www.nytimes.com/2015/02/04/business/when-a-company-is-fined-taxpayers-often-share-thepunishment.html.
- <sup>373</sup> Facundo Alvaredo, Lucas Chancel, Thomas Piketty, Emmanuel Saez, and Gabriel Zucman, "Inequality Is Not Inevitable – but the US 'Experiment' Is a Recipe for Divergence," *The Guardian*, December 14, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/inequality/2017/dec/14/inequality-is-not-inevitable-but-the-us-experimentis-a-recipe-for-divergence.
- <sup>374</sup> Jesse Bricker, Lisa J. Dettling, Alice Henriques, Joanne W. Hsu, Lindsay Jacobs, Kevin B. Moore, John Sabelhaus, Sarah Pack, Jeffrey Thompson, and Richard A. Windle, "Median Value of Net Worth for Families with Holdings [Table]," 2016 SCF Chartbook (Washington, D.C.: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2017), p. 55, https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/files/BulletinCharts.pdf.
- <sup>375</sup> Margot Sanger-Katz, "The Tax Bill's Automatic Spending Cuts," *New York Times*, November 29, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/11/29/upshot/paygo-medicare-cuts-tax-bill.html.
- <sup>376</sup> Annual Taxes Poll, Gallup, April 5-9, 2017, http://news.gallup.com/poll/1714/Taxes.aspx. "As I read off some different groups, please tell me if you think they are paying their FAIR share in federal taxes, paying too MUCH or paying to LITTLE?" "Do you regard the income tax you will have to pay this year as fair?"
- <sup>377</sup> Eileen Appelbaum and Rosemary Batt, Private Equity Partners Get Rich at Taxpayer Expense, Center for Economic and Policy Research, July 2017, 3. http://cepr.net/images/stories/reports/private-equitypartners-2017-07.pdf.
- <sup>378</sup> Editorial Board, "The Need for a Tax on Financial Trading," New York Times, January 28, 2016, https://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/28/opinion/the-need-for-a-tax-on-financial-trading.html?\_r=1.
- <sup>379</sup> Keith Hall, "Cost Estimate for the Conference Agreement on H.R. 1, a Bill to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018" (letter), Congressional Budget Office, December 15, 2017, table 1. https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/115thcongress-2017-2018/costestimate/53415-hr1conferenceagreement.pdf.
- <sup>380</sup> Chye-Ching Huang, Three Types of "Repatriation Tax" on Overseas Profits: Understanding the Differences, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, October 7, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/three-types-ofrepatriation-tax-on-overseas-profits-understanding-the.
- <sup>381</sup> Victor Fleischer, "How a Carried Interest Tax Could Raise \$180 Billion," New York Times, June 5, 2015, https://www.nytimes.com/2015/06/06/business/dealbook/how-a-carried-interest-tax-could-raise-180billion.html?\_r=0.

- <sup>382</sup> Liz Moyer, "Tax Deductions Blunt Impact of Large Corporate Settlements, Report Says," New York Times, December 3, 2015, https://www.nytimes.com/2015/12/03/business/dealbook/tax-deductions-blunt-impactof-large-corporate-settlements-report-says.html. This reports on a study of 10 of the largest corporate settlements with regulators in 2012. Therefore, it is presumed to underestimate the total impact of these deductions.
- <sup>383</sup> United States Department of Agriculture, "FY 2018 Budget Summary," 40, https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/USDA-Budget-Summary-2018.pdf.
- <sup>384</sup> Department of Labor, "FY 2018 Budget in Brief," 7 and 25, https://www.dol.gov/sites/default/files/FY2018BIB\_0.pdf.
- <sup>385</sup> Bernstein, "Meeting the Goals" Congressional Budget Office, "Cost Estimate: Reconciliation Recommendations of the Senate Committee on Finance," November 26, 2017, 5, https://www.cbo.gov/ system/files/115th-congress-2017-2018/costestimate/reconciliationrecommendationssfc.pdf.
- <sup>386</sup> Editorial Board, "Congress Refuses to Do Right by Children's Health Care," New York Times, December 20, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/20/opinion/congresschildrens-healthcare.html?rref=collection%2Ftimestopic%2FFederal%20Budget%20 (U.S.)&action=click&contentCollection=timestopics&region=stream&module=stream\_ unit&version=latest&contentPlacement=4&pg.
- <sup>387</sup> Chuck Marr, Chye-Ching Huang, Cecile Murray, and Arloc Sherman, Strengthening the EITC for Childless Workers Would Promote Work and Reduce Poverty: Improvement Targeted at Lone Group Taxed Into Poverty, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, April 11, 2016. https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/strengthening-theeitc-for-childless-workers-would-promote-work-and-reduce - \_ftnref11.
- <sup>388</sup> Aisha Al-Muslim, "Analysis: Private Equity Ownership Common in Retail Bankruptcies," New York Newsday, April 21, 2017, https://www.newsday.com/business/analysis-private-equity-ownership-common-in-retailbankruptcies-1.13503349.
- <sup>389</sup> John Cassidy, "What Good Is Wall Street?" The New Yorker, November 29, 2010, https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2010/11/29/what-good-is-wall-street.
- <sup>390</sup> Wallace C. Turbeville, Financialization & Equal Opportunity, Demos, February 10, 2015, 14. http://www.demos. org/sites/default/files/publications/Financialization%20and%20Equal%20Opportunity.pdf.
- <sup>391</sup> James Lardner, Same Old Song: Wall Street's Repeatedly Discredited but Endlessly Repeated Arguments against Common-Sense Financial Regulation, Americans for Financial Reform, October 2017, 1. http://ourfinancialsecurity.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/Same-Old-Song-Oct-11.pdf.
- <sup>392</sup> Eileen Appelbaum and Rosemary Batt, Private Equity at Work: When Wall Street Manages Main Street, Kindle Edition (New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation, 2014), 1.
- <sup>393</sup> Appelbaum and Batt, Private Equity at Work, 265.
- <sup>394</sup> Appelbaum and Batt, Private Equity at Work, 193, 195.
- <sup>395</sup> Craig Karmin, Robbie Whelan, and Jeannette Neumann, "Rental Market's Big Buyers: Private-Equity Giant Blackstone's \$1 Billion Bet on Foreclosed Family Homes," *Wall Street Journal*, October 3, 2012, https://www. wsj.com/articles/SB10000872396390443768804578034821658901916?mg=prod/accounts-wsj. Matthew Goldstein, "Equity Firms Are Lending to Landlords, Signaling a Shift," *New York Times*, March 3, 2015, https:// www.nytimes.com/2015/03/04/business/equity-firms-are-lending-to-landlords-signaling-a-shift.html?\_r=0.

- <sup>396</sup> Matt Townsend, Jenny Surane, Emma Orr, and Christopher Cannon, "America's 'Retail Apocalypse' Is Really Just Beginning," *Bloomberg*, November 8, 2017. https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2017-retail-debt/.
- <sup>397</sup> James H. Carr, Katrin B. Anacker, and Ines Hernandez (C. Renee Wilson, compiler), "State of Housing in Black America: 2013," National Association of Real Estate Brokers, 2. https://issuu.com/jenningslj/docs/shiba\_report\_ for\_posting.
- <sup>398</sup> Catherine Ruetschlin and Dedrick Asante-Muhammad, The Retail Race Divide: How the Retail Industry Is Perpetuating Racial Inequality in the 21st Century, Demos and NAACP, June 2, 2015), 6-7. http://www.demos. org/sites/default/files/publications/The%20Retail%20Race%20Divide%20Report.pdf.
- <sup>399</sup> Danielle Walker and Billy Nauman, Ethnic and Racial Diversity at Asset Management Firms, (New York: FundFire, Fall 2017), 3. http://www.mminst.org/sites/default/files/file\_attach/MMI-FF%20Diversity\_in\_Asset\_Mgmt\_ Full-Report-FINAL.pdf.
- <sup>400</sup> Celinda Lake, Bob Carpenter, David Mermin, and Zoe Grotophorst, "New Poll Reveals Strong Bipartisan Support for Financial Regulation; Americans Say Wall Street's Influence in Washington is Too High," (memo) Lake Research Partners and Chesapeake Beach Consulting, July 18, 2017, http://ourfinancialsecurity.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/07/4LRPpublicmemo.AFR\_.CRL\_.PollRelease.f.07172017.pdf.
- <sup>401</sup> Applebaum and Batt, Private Equity at Work, 271.
- <sup>402</sup> Applebaum and Batt, *Private Equity at Work*, 277.
- <sup>403</sup> Appelbaum and Batt, Private Equity at Work, 288, 293
- <sup>404</sup> Aditi Sen, Do Hedge Funds Make Good Neighbors? How Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, & HUD Are Selling Off Our Neighborhoods to Wall Street, Center for Popular Democracy, June 2015, 12. http://populardemocracy.org/ sites/default/files/Housing%20Report%20June%202015\_0.pdf.
- <sup>405</sup> Eileen Appelbaum and Rosemary Batt, Private Equity Partners Get Rich at Taxpayer Expense, Center for Economic and Policy Research, July 2017, 3. http://cepr.net/images/stories/reports/private-equitypartners-2017-07.pdf.
- <sup>406</sup> Editorial Board, "The Need for a Tax on Financial Trading," New York Times, January 28, 2016, https://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/28/opinion/the-need-for-a-tax-on-financial-trading.html?\_r=1.
- <sup>407</sup> Leonard E. Burman, William G. Gale, Sarah Gault, Bryan Kim, James R. Nunns, and Steven M. Rosenthal, *Financial Transaction Taxes in Theory and Practice*, Tax Policy Center, October 18, 2016. http://www.taxpolicycenter.org/publications/financial-transaction-taxes-theory-and-practice.
- <sup>408</sup> "Revenues: Tax Carried Interest as Ordinary Income," Options for Reducing the Deficit: 2014 to 2023, Congressional Budget Office, November 13, 2013, https://www.cbo.gov/budget-options/2013/44804.
- <sup>409</sup> Matt Stoller, "The Return of Monopoly," *The New Republic*, July 13, 2017, https://newrepublic.com/ article/143595/return-monopoly-amazon-rise-business-tycoon-white-house-democrats-return-party-trustbusting-roots.
- <sup>410</sup> Stoller, "The Return of Monopoly."
- <sup>411</sup> Jason Furman, Alan B. Krueger, "Why Aren't Americans Getting a Raise?" The Wall Street Journal, November 3, 2016, https://www.wsj.com/articles/why-arent-americans-getting-raises-blame-the-monopsony-1478215983.
- <sup>412</sup> "Influence & Lobbying: Ranked Sectors, 2017," Center for Responsive Politics, http://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/top.php?indexType=c&showYear=2017.

- <sup>413</sup> David Weigel, "Breaking from Tech Giants, Democrats Consider Becoming an Antimonopoly Party," Power Post, September 4, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/breaking-from-tech-giants-democratsconsider-becoming-an-antimonopoly-party/2017/09/04/3edc7e92-8f56-11e7-84c0-02cc069f2c37\_story. html?utm\_term=.41b475bee118.
- <sup>414</sup> "2. Government, Regulation and the Social Safety Net," *The Partisan Divide on Political Values Grows Even Wider*, Pew Research Center, October 5, 2017. http://www.people-press.org/2017/10/05/2-government-regulationand-the-social-safety-net/.
- <sup>415</sup> Stoller, "The Return of Monopoly."
- <sup>416</sup> Stoller, "The Return of Monopoly."
- <sup>417</sup> Stoller, "The Return of Monopoly."
- <sup>418</sup> Brian S. Feldman, "The Decline of Black Business," Washington Monthly, March/April/May 2017, https://washingtonmonthly.com/magazine/marchaprilmay-2017/the-decline-of-black-business/.



**NEW YORK** (HEADQUARTERS) 80 BROAD ST., 4<sup>th</sup> FL • NEW YORK, NY 10004 • 212.633.1405

**BOSTON** 1340 CENTRE STREET, SUITE 209 • NEWTON CENTER, MA 02459 • 617.232.5885

**WASHINGTON, DC** 740 6TH STREET NW, 2<sup>ND</sup> FL • WASHINGTON, DC 20001 • 212.633.1405